
FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2024 COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
7:00 P.M. FIRCREST CITY HALL, 115 RAMSDELL STREET 

        Pg.# 
1. CALL TO ORDER
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
3. ROLL CALL
4. PRESIDING OFFICER'S REPORT

A. Proclamation: Arbor Day 2024 3 
5. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS
6. DEPARTMENT HEAD COMMENTS
7. COUNCILMEMBER COMMENTS
8. PUBLIC COMMENTS FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (If you would like to make a public comment, you may

speak at the appropriate time using the raise your hand feature or by pressing *9 on your phone.)

9. COMMITTEE, COMMISSION & LIAISON REPORTS
A. Administration
B. Built Environment, Planning, and Building
C. Finance, Information Technology, and Facilities
D. Other Reports

10. CONSENT CALENDAR
A. Approval of vouchers/payroll checks 4 
B. Approval of Minutes: October 14, 2024, Special Meeting 20 

October 21, 2024, Special Meeting 22 
C.  Setting a public hearing for proposed water rate adjustments at 7:15 PM or shortly thereafter

24 

36 
40 
44 
61 
81 
89 
92 
96 

126 
129 
142 
146 
149 
158 

11. PUBLIC HEARING
A. To receive comments on the 2025 Preliminary Budget

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
13. NEW BUSINESS

A. Motion: Emergency Sewer Repair
B. Ordinance: Municipal Court Judge and Chief Examiner Rate of Pay
C. Ordinance: 2025 Ad Valorem Tax Levy
D. Resolution:  Adoption of Whittier Park Master Plan
E. Resolution:  Leavitt Group Insurance Broker Contract
F. Resolution: Olbrechts & Associates, Hearing Examiner Amendment #5
G. Resolution: Summit Law Group Amendment #18
H. Resolution: Pierce County Interlocal Agreement Amendment
I. Resolution: BJA Patrick Leahy Bulletproof Vest Partnership (BVP) Grant Acceptance
J. Resolution:  Tacoma Public Safety Radio System User Agreement
K. Resolution:  KPG Psomas Amendment #10
L. Resolution: NW GIS Consulting Amendment #9
M. Resolution: Water Meter Exchange Contract 
N. Resolution:  Electron Way/Contra Costa Ave Crosswalk Bid Award

14. CALL FOR FINAL COMMENTS



15. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
To Discuss Labor Negotiations pursuant to RCW 42.30.140 (4)(b)  

16. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 
   Join the Zoom Meeting:   Dial-in Information: 1-253-215-8782  Webinar ID: 846 5985 5658 Password: 848037 



 
 

PROCLAMATION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, in 1872, the Nebraska Board of Agriculture established a special day to be set aside for the 
planting of trees; and 
 

WHEREAS, this holiday, called Arbor Day, was first observed with the planting of more than a million 
trees in Nebraska; and 
 

WHEREAS, Arbor Day is now observed throughout the nation and the world; and 
 

WHEREAS, trees can assist with combating climate change by reducing the erosion of our precious 
topsoil by wind and water, cutting heating and cooling costs, moderating the temperature, cleaning the 
air, producing life-giving oxygen, and providing habitat for wildlife; and 
 

WHEREAS, trees are a renewable resource, giving us paper, wood for our homes, fuel for our fires, and 
countless other wood products; and 
 

WHEREAS, trees in our city increase property values, enhance the economic vitality of business areas, 
and beautify our community; and 
 

WHEREAS, while Arbor Day is traditionally celebrated in the spring, research has shown that trees 
planted in the fall have the best opportunity for optimum growth in the Pacific Northwest climate; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest has been recognized for two consecutive years as a Tree City USA by the 
Washington Department of Natural Resources and the National Arbor Day Foundation for our 
commitment to planting and caring for our city’s trees; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest Parks and Recreation Department has partnered with the Tacoma Tree 
Foundation, Pierce County Parks, and the Pierce Conservation District to host the third annual FirFest – 
a tree giveaway and ceremonial tree planting event scheduled for November 23, 2024; and 
 

WHEREAS, trees, wherever they are planted, are a source of joy and spiritual renewal. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, WE, MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS, of the City of Fircrest, do hereby proclaim 
the fourth Saturday of November as Arbor Day in the City of Fircrest and encourage all residents to 
celebrate Arbor Day by attending FirFest on November 23, 2024, to support efforts to protect and 
preserve our trees and woodlands; and 
 

FURTHER, we urge all citizens to plant trees to gladden the heart and to contribute to the well-being of 
our community, environment, and future generations. 
 

Passed this 23rd day of November 2024 
 

________________________________ 
Shannon Reynolds, Mayor 

3



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 1
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33633 11/06/202411/12/202410588 AHBL, Inc. 78.42 P#78 Whittier Park Master Plan - Professional 
Services - 03/26/24-07/25/24

594 76 63 01 Other Improvements - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 78.42 P#78 Whittier Park Master Plan - Professional Services
- 03/26/24-07/25/24

33568 11/01/202411/12/202410861 ATS Automation, Inc. 1,981.80 HVAC Repair & Maintenance - Community Center

518 30 48 01 Rep & Maint - Rec Bldg 001 000 518 General Fund 1,981.80 HVAC Repair & Maintenance - Community Center

33604 11/05/202411/12/2024218 Baldwin, Deborah 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33522 10/29/202411/12/20248796 Bennett, Elaine 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year (Elaine)

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year (Elaine)

33526 10/29/202411/12/20241906 Burgess, Anneke 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33591 11/04/202411/12/20243572 CED 213.00 Holiday Lights for Tree at Alice Peers Park

576 80 31 02 Oper Supplies - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 213.00 Holiday Lights for Tree at Alice Peers Park

33505 10/28/202411/12/20246018 Canon Financial Services Inc 194.54 Police Copier/Fax Rental - October 2024

521 22 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Polic 001 000 521 General Fund 17.85 Police Copier/Fax Tax - October 2024
591 21 70 22 Lease Payments - Police 001 000 591 General Fund 176.69 Police Copier/Fax Rental - October 2024

33582 11/04/202411/12/20244325 City Treasurer-Tacoma-SEWER 323,151.22 3rd Qtr 2024 - Sewer Treatment

535 60 44 02 Sewage Treatment 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 323,151.22 3rd Qtr 2024 - Sewer Treatment

33632 11/06/202411/12/202410934 City of Pacific 422.40 Body Armor - J Castaneda

521 22 49 01 Uniforms/Clothing/Laundry 001 000 521 General Fund 422.40 Body Armor - J Castaneda

33537 10/29/202411/12/20246203 Code Mechanical Inc 1,012.92 HVAC Bi-Annual Maintenance Agreement - March 
2024

518 30 48 02 Rep & Maint - City Hall 001 000 518 General Fund 337.64 HVAC Bi-Annual Maintenance Agreement - March 
2024

518 30 48 03 Rep & Maint - PW 001 000 518 General Fund 337.64 HVAC Bi-Annual Maintenance Agreement - March 
2024

518 30 48 04 Rep & Maint - PSB 001 000 518 General Fund 337.64 HVAC Bi-Annual Maintenance Agreement - March 
2024 4



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 2
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33538 10/29/202411/12/20246203 Code Mechanical Inc 1,436.81 HVAC Bi-Annual Maintenance Agreement - 
September 2024

518 30 48 02 Rep & Maint - City Hall 001 000 518 General Fund 478.93 HVAC Bi-Annual Maintenance Agreement - 
September 2024

518 30 48 03 Rep & Maint - PW 001 000 518 General Fund 478.94 HVAC Bi-Annual Maintenance Agreement - 
September 2024

518 30 48 04 Rep & Maint - PSB 001 000 518 General Fund 478.94 HVAC Bi-Annual Maintenance Agreement - 
September 2024

Total Code Mechanical Inc 2,449.73

33508 10/28/202411/12/20246268 Cole-Parmer Instrument Company 151.32 Testing Reagents Tablets/Chlorine Powder

534 80 41 00 Water Testing 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 151.32 Testing Reagents Tablets/Chlorine Powder

33577 11/04/202411/12/20248188 Comcast Business Communications LLC 455.17 Internet Access Fee - November 2024

518 81 42 00 Communication/Internet - I/ 001 000 518 General Fund 455.17 Internet Access Fee - November 2024

33542 10/29/202411/12/20247918 Contreras, Alejandra 170.00 Spanish Interpreting (2 hrs) 24IN75768, 
24CR75767, 24CR75397

512 51 41 03 Prof Srvs - Interpreter - FMC 001 000 512 General Fund 170.00 Spanish Interpreting (2 hrs) 24IN75768, 24CR75767, 
24CR75397

33567 11/01/202411/12/202415 Crippen, Kathy 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33493 10/21/202411/12/20248734 Cucco, Olivia 39.35 07-00045.2 - 1525 EDWARDS AVE

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Revenues 415 000 340 Storm Drain -10.39
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -11.89
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -17.07

33576 11/01/202411/12/20247053 Culver, Rebecca 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33509 10/28/202411/12/20243588 Daily Journal Of Commerce, Inc 622.20 P#82A Advertisement for Electron Way & Contra 
Costa Intersection Improvement Project

595 32 63 01 Street Improvements 101 000 542 City Street Fund 622.20 P#82A Advertisement for Electron Way & Contra 
Costa Intersection Improvement Project

5



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 3
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33639 11/07/202411/12/20243589 Databar Inc 2,646.14 Town Topics with Special Thank You Insert - 
October 2024

518 10 49 01 Town Topics/Citizen Commu 001 000 518 General Fund 2,646.14 Town Topics with Special Thank You Insert - October 
2024

33640 11/07/202411/12/20243589 Databar Inc 577.44 Town Topics Newsletter - October 2024

518 10 49 01 Town Topics/Citizen Commu 001 000 518 General Fund 577.44 Town Topics Newsletter - October 2024

Total Databar Inc 3,223.58

33644 11/07/202411/12/20243590 Datec Inc. 1,062.47  SAA #2031, 2032, 2033 - Police Dept Printer & 
Barcode Scanners (2)

521 22 35 00 Small Tools & Equip - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 1,062.47  SAA #2031, 2032, 2033 - Police Dept Printer & 
Barcode Scanners (2)

33631 11/06/202411/12/202410933 Decatur Electronics LLC 1,605.00  SAA #2030 Radar Gun with Antennas

521 22 35 00 Small Tools & Equip - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 1,605.00  SAA #2030 Radar Gun with Antennas

33541 10/29/202411/12/20243594 Dept Of Ecology 2,867.50 Municipal Stormwater Permit Fee - 2nd Half FY25 
7/1/2024-6/30/2025

531 50 49 01 NPDES Permit 415 000 531 Storm Drain 2,867.50 Municipal Stormwater Permit Fee - 2nd Half FY25 
7/1/2024-6/30/2025

33521 10/29/202411/12/20242639 Diaz, Robert 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year (Julie)

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year (Julie)

33564 11/01/202411/12/202410263 Dunbar, Julieanna R 302.92 2024 WFOA 69TH Conference - Mileage & Meals

514 23 43 00 Travel - Finance 001 000 514 General Fund 302.92 2024 WFOA 69TH Conference - Mileage & Meals

33573 11/01/202411/12/202410263 Dunbar, Julieanna R 57.75 Gym Fees Reimbursement - Aug - Oct 2024

514 23 20 00 Personnel Benefits - Finance 001 000 514 General Fund 57.75 Gym Fees Reimbursement - Aug - Oct 2024

Total Dunbar, Julieanna R 360.67

33581 11/04/202411/12/2024366 Employment Security Dept, UI Tax Admin 1,769.66 Benefit Charge - Q3/2024

517 78 20 00 Unemployment Compensatio 001 000 517 General Fund 1,769.66 Benefit Charge - Q3/2024

33519 10/29/202411/12/20247717 Fay, Fred 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year 6



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 4
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year (Fred)

33584 11/04/202411/12/20243638 Fircrest Golf Club 1,387.31 Land Rental for Water Tank on Golf Course 
Property - November 2024

591 34 70 00 Lease Payments - Water Adm 425 000 591 Water Fund (dep 1,387.31 Land Rental for Water Tank on Golf Course Property - 
November 2024

33571 11/01/202411/12/202410618 First Responder Outfitters, Inc. 46.31 Double Magazine Pouch - S. Towe

521 22 49 01 Uniforms/Clothing/Laundry 001 000 521 General Fund 46.31 Double Magazine Pouch - S. Towe

33572 11/01/202411/12/202410618 First Responder Outfitters, Inc. 281.27 Uniform Alterations - M Bugarin

521 22 49 01 Uniforms/Clothing/Laundry 001 000 521 General Fund 281.27 Uniform Alterations - M Bugarin

33601 11/04/202411/12/202410618 First Responder Outfitters, Inc. 547.09 Uniform Alterations - S Towe

521 22 49 01 Uniforms/Clothing/Laundry 001 000 521 General Fund 547.09 Uniform Alterations - S Towe

Total First Responder Outfitters, Inc. 874.67

33557 10/31/202411/12/202410683 Frey, Kyle 193.28 04-01900.9 - 630 MONTEREY LANE

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Revenues 415 000 340 Storm Drain -42.38
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -48.44
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -102.46

33583 11/04/202411/12/20246774 Greenleaf Landscaping 1 Inc 7,642.79 Monthly Landscape Service - October 2024

518 30 41 01 Contract Maintenance 001 000 518 General Fund 3,442.18 Monthly Landscape Service - October 2024
542 80 48 00 Street Tree Maintenance (con 101 000 542 City Street Fund 1,359.74 Monthly Landscape Service - October 2024
542 80 49 03 Beautification Services (contr 101 000 542 City Street Fund 2,840.87 Monthly Landscape Service - October 2024

33574 11/01/202411/12/2024107 Grolbert, Elizabeth 78.00 Library Reimbursement 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement 1 Year

33621 11/06/202411/12/202410305 Gunderson Law Office PLLC 12,000.00 City of Fircrest - October 2024

515 41 41 03 City Prosecutor 001 000 515 General Fund 12,000.00 City of Fircrest - October 2024

33494 10/21/202411/12/20241378 Hahn, Peter 119.06 02-00920.3 - 101 CONTRA COSTA AVE

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Revenues 415 000 340 Storm Drain -29.00
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -32.63
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -57.43

7



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 5
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33597 11/04/202411/12/202410499 Hemley's Septic Tank Cleaning, Inc. 235.00 Portable Restrooms for Haunted Trails

573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 235.00 Portable Restrooms for Haunted Trails

33575 11/01/202411/12/202410866 Hinton, M. Pete 65.00 Spanish Interpreting (1 hrs) 
24IN48554,24IN53884,24IN53883

512 51 41 03 Prof Srvs - Interpreter - FMC 001 000 512 General Fund 65.00 Spanish Interpreting (1 hrs) 
24IN48554,24IN53884,24IN53883

33533 10/29/202411/12/20243692 Home Depot Credit Services 32.89 Light Bulbs for Public Works Building

518 30 31 03 Oper Supplies - PWF 001 000 518 General Fund 32.89 Light Bulbs for Public Works Building

33534 10/29/202411/12/20243692 Home Depot Credit Services 35.13 Spider Glue Traps (4); Bug Spray (1)

518 30 31 04 Oper Supplies - CH 001 000 518 General Fund 35.13 Spider Glue Traps (4); Bug Spray (1)

33570 11/01/202411/12/20243692 Home Depot Credit Services 97.34 White Rags (8 - 200ct)

535 50 31 01 Oper Supplies - Sewer Maint 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 97.34 White Rags (8 - 200ct)

33589 11/04/202411/12/20243692 Home Depot Credit Services 49.56 Materials For Floor Drain Repairs -  Pex pipe; 
Tectite 90-Deg Elbow; Tectite Female Adapter

518 30 31 02 Oper Supplies - PSB Bldg 001 000 518 General Fund 49.56 Materials For Floor Drain Repairs -  Pex pipe; Tectite 
90-Deg Elbow; Tectite Female Adapter

33590 11/04/202411/12/20243692 Home Depot Credit Services 49.02 Floor Drain Repair Supplies

518 30 31 02 Oper Supplies - PSB Bldg 001 000 518 General Fund 49.02 Floor Drain Repair Supplies

33642 11/07/202411/12/20243692 Home Depot Credit Services 35.26 Floor Drain Repair Supplies

518 30 31 02 Oper Supplies - PSB Bldg 001 000 518 General Fund 35.26 Floor Drain Repair Supplies

Total Home Depot Credit Services 299.20

33566 11/01/202411/12/20244131 Humane Society - Tacoma 781.36 November 2024 Boarding Contract

554 30 41 00 Animal Control 001 000 554 General Fund 781.36 November 2024 Boarding Contract

33630 11/06/202411/12/202410264 Larson, Shari 1,134.70  Gentle Yoga & Chair Yoga Classes 
(10/01/24-10/31/24)

571 10 49 04 Instructor Fees 001 000 571 General Fund 1,134.70  Gentle Yoga & Chair Yoga Classes 
(10/01/24-10/31/24)

8



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 6
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33598 11/04/202411/12/20243776 Lemay Mobile Shredding 48.00 Shredding 09/2024

531 50 49 00 Miscellaneous - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 16.00 Shredding 09/2024 - PW Storm
534 10 49 00 Miscellaneous - Water Admi 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 16.00 Shredding 09/2024 - PW Water
535 10 49 00 Miscellaneous - Sewer Admi 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 16.00 Shredding 09/2024 - PW Sewer

33607 11/05/202411/12/20243776 Lemay Mobile Shredding 108.00 Shredding 10/2024 - CH & Court

512 51 49 00 Miscellaneous - Court 001 000 512 General Fund 54.00 Shredding 10/2024 - Court
514 23 49 00 Miscellaneous - Finance 001 000 514 General Fund 54.00 Shredding 10/2024 - CH

33637 11/07/202411/12/20243776 Lemay Mobile Shredding 49.00 Shredding 10/2024

531 50 49 00 Miscellaneous - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 16.35 Shredding 10/2024 - PW Storm
534 10 49 00 Miscellaneous - Water Admi 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 16.35 Shredding 10/2024 - PW Water
535 10 49 00 Miscellaneous - Sewer Admi 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 16.30 Shredding 10/2024 - PW Sewer

Total Lemay Mobile Shredding 205.00

33527 10/29/202411/12/20249704 Lindstrom, Lisa 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33593 11/04/202411/12/202410459 Locke Systems Inc. 25.00 SSL Certificate for Remote cityoffircrest.net - 1 
year

518 81 41 01 Prof Svcs - I/S 001 000 518 General Fund 25.00 SSL Certificate for Remote cityoffircrest.net - 1 year

33594 11/04/202411/12/202410459 Locke Systems Inc. 4,954.50 IT Managed Services - November 2024 (for 
October Services)

518 81 41 01 Prof Svcs - I/S 001 000 518 General Fund 4,954.50 IT Managed Services - November 2024 (for October 
Services)

Total Locke Systems Inc. 4,979.50

33618 11/06/202411/12/20243791 Lowe's Company-#338954 29.25 Paint for Beautification Brackets for Plants/Flags

542 80 31 01 Oper Supplies - St Beaut 101 000 542 City Street Fund 29.25 Paint for Beautification Brackets for Plants/Flags

33624 11/06/202411/12/202410447 Masko, Dawn 235.52 AWC Member Expo - Lodging & Meal 
Reimbursement - 10/09/24-10/10/24

518 11 43 00 Travel - Personnel 001 000 518 General Fund 235.52 AWC Member Expo - Lodging & Meal Reimbursement
- 10/09/24-10/10/24 9



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 7
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33518 10/29/202411/12/20246877 McColm, Susan 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33629 11/06/202411/12/20243841 Metropolitan Ballet of Tacoma 2,038.40 Ballet Instruction 09/12/24-12/05/24

571 10 49 04 Instructor Fees 001 000 571 General Fund 2,038.40 Ballet Instruction 09/12/24-12/05/24

33636 11/06/202411/12/20249415 Miles Resources LLC 145,421.17 P#77 Orchard St Overlay Construction Progress 
Payment #2

595 32 63 01 Street Improvements 101 000 542 City Street Fund 145,421.17 P#77 Orchard St Overlay Construction Progress 
Payment #2

33500 10/25/202411/12/20242845 Moline, Margaret 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33523 10/29/202411/12/20242491 Neufeld, Brian 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year (Kristin)

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year (Kristin)

33507 10/28/202411/12/20243898 Northwest  Aerial Services 859.28 #59083D (2Ton Dump Truck) Engine Will Not 
Crank-over; Checked Battery, Found To Be Good; 
Determined Starter Is Faulty, Replaced Starter

548 65 48 12 O & M - Street 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 859.28 #59083D (2Ton Dump Truck) Engine Will Not 
Crank-over; Checked Battery, Found To Be Good; 
Determined Starter Is Faulty, Replaced Starter

33614 11/05/202411/12/20243898 Northwest  Aerial Services 286.96 #60915D (2015 Sweeper) Repairs - Replaced Fuse

548 65 48 13 O & M - Storm 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 286.96 #60915D (2015 Sweeper) Repairs - Replaced Fuse

Total Northwest  Aerial Services 1,146.24

33492 10/18/202411/12/202410912 O'Laughlin, Frank 260.00 Refund Utility Deposit Paid in Error. - Mr. 
O'Loughlin Purchased the Home

582 10 04 11 Trust Fund - Utility Deposits 411 000 580 Trust Fund 260.00 Refund Utility Deposit Paid in Error. - Mr. O'Loughlin 
Purchased the Home

33565 11/01/202411/12/20243929 Owen Equipment Company 7,502.39 60915D Cross-wind Sweeper Repairs - Suction 
Hood Rebuilt

548 65 48 13 O & M - Storm 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 7,502.39 60915D Cross-wind Sweeper Repairs - Suction Hood 
Rebuilt 10



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 8
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33602 11/05/202411/12/20243957 PC Budget & Finance 532.62 3rd Qtr 2024 Liquor Tax

566 66 49 00 Substance Abuse Fee 001 000 566 General Fund 532.62 3rd Qtr 2024 Liquor Tax

33622 11/06/202411/12/202410850 PROCOM LLC 72.00 Pre-Employment Drug Screening - J Castaneda

518 11 41 02 Drug & Alcohol - Personnel 001 000 518 General Fund 72.00 Pre-Employment Drug Screening - J Castaneda

33502 10/25/202411/12/20248993 Pacific Office Automation - A/R 549.59 Copier Usage - 09/01/24-10/01/24

512 51 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Cour 001 000 512 General Fund 9.58 Court 09/01/24-10/01/24
518 10 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Non 001 000 518 General Fund 18.66 City Hall 09/01/24-10/01/24
531 50 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 2.93 Storm 09/01/24-10/01/24
534 10 45 02 Oper Rentals - Copier - Wate 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 2.93 Water 09/01/24-10/01/24
535 10 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Sewe 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 2.92 Sewer 09/01/24-10/01/24
542 30 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Stree 101 000 542 City Street Fund 2.92 Street 09/01/24-10/01/24
571 10 45 01 Oper Rentals - Copier - Rec 001 000 571 General Fund 9.42 Rec 09/01/24-10/01/24
576 80 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 1.05 Parks 09/01/24-10/01/24
591 12 70 00 Lease Payments - Court 001 000 591 General Fund 94.84 Court 09/01/24-10/01/24
591 18 70 10 Lease Payments - Non-Dept 001 000 591 General Fund 184.78 City Hall 09/01/24-10/01/24
591 31 70 00 Lease Payments - Storm 415 000 591 Storm Drain 28.99 Storm 09/01/24-10/01/24
591 34 70 00 Lease Payments - Water Adm 425 000 591 Water Fund (dep 28.99 Water 09/01/24-10/01/24
591 35 70 00 Lease Payments - Sewer 430 000 591 Sewer Fund (dep 28.99 Sewer 09/01/24-10/01/24
591 71 70 00 Lease Payments - Recreation 001 000 591 General Fund 93.23 Rec 09/01/24-10/01/24
591 76 70 80 Lease Payments - Parks 001 000 591 General Fund 10.36 Parks 09/01/24-10/01/24
591 95 70 00 Lease Payments - Street 101 000 591 City Street Fund 29.00 Street 09/01/24-10/01/24

33643 11/07/202411/12/20248993 Pacific Office Automation - A/R 556.96 Copier Usage 09/01/24-10/01/24

512 51 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Cour 001 000 512 General Fund 28.89 Court 09/01/24-10/01/24
518 10 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Non 001 000 518 General Fund 447.58 City Hall 09/01/24-10/01/24
531 50 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 5.94 Storm  09/01/24-10/01/24
534 10 45 02 Oper Rentals - Copier - Wate 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 5.93 Water 09/01/24-10/01/24
535 10 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Sewe 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 5.94 Sewer 09/01/24-10/01/24
542 30 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Stree 101 000 542 City Street Fund 5.94 Street 09/01/24-10/01/24
571 10 45 01 Oper Rentals - Copier - Rec 001 000 571 General Fund 51.05 Rec  09/01/24-10/01/24
576 80 45 00 Oper Rentals - Copier - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 5.69 Parks 09/01/24-10/01/24

Total Pacific Office Automation - A/R 1,106.55

33524 10/29/202411/12/20242830 Pasquale, Alfred 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year 11



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 9
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33495 10/21/202411/12/20242131 Paulson, Gerald 101.18 04-01800.0 - 517 MONTEREY LANE

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Revenues 415 000 340 Storm Drain -40.74
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -35.71
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -24.73

33612 11/05/202411/12/20248182 Peterson, Darwin 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33520 10/29/202411/12/20243954 Peterson, Kristin 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33615 11/05/202411/12/20243955 Petrocard Systems Inc 472.96 Gas/Fuel - 10/2024

548 65 31 13 Gas - Storm 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 472.96 Storm - 10/2024

33592 11/04/202411/12/20244828 Protect Youth Sports 339.45 Personnel Background Checks - Job Applicants & 
Youth Basketball Volunteers

518 11 41 00 Prof Svcs - Personnel 001 000 518 General Fund 339.45 Personnel Background Checks - Job Applicants & 
Youth Basketball Volunteers

33511 10/28/202411/12/20243751 Psomas, DBA KPG Psomas 9,594.50 P#81 Claremont St Grind & Overlay - 
8/23/24-9/26/24

595 10 63 06 Project Engineering - Street 101 000 594 City Street Fund 9,594.50 P#81 Claremont St Grind & Overlay - 8/23/24-9/26/24

33512 10/28/202411/12/20243751 Psomas, DBA KPG Psomas 22,577.60 P#82A&B Electron Way & Contra Costa 
8/23/24-9/26/24

595 10 63 06 Project Engineering - Street 101 000 594 City Street Fund 22,577.60 P#82 Electron Way & Contra Costa 8/23/24-9/26/24

Total Psomas, DBA KPG Psomas 32,172.10

33578 11/04/202411/12/20243986 Puget Sound Energy, BOT-01H 3,095.72 Natural Gas - Pool/Bathhouse - October 2024

576 20 47 00 Public Utility Services - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 3,095.72 Natural Gas - Pool/Bathhouse - October 2024

33517 10/29/202411/12/20244754 Reitz, Sheila 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33504 10/28/202411/12/2024337 Roberts, Christopher 25.00 Oct 2024 Gym Reimbursement Fees

521 22 20 00 Personnel Benefits - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 25.00 Oct 2024 Gym Reimbursement Fees
12



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 10
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33627 11/06/202411/12/202410398 Rubke, Patricia 504.00 Barre Classes (Beginning Barre, Barre HIIT, Barre) 
10/02/24-10/30/24

571 10 49 04 Instructor Fees 001 000 571 General Fund 504.00 Barre Classes (Beginning Barre, Barre HIIT, Barre) 
10/02/24-10/30/24

33510 10/28/202411/12/20244026 S & B Inc 2,075.39 Almeda Sewer Liftstation-Software Troubles with 
Drive; Reprogram and Recommission Liftstation 
Drive

535 50 48 00 Rep & Maint - Sewer Maint 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 2,075.39 Alameda Sewer Liftstation-Software Troubles with 
Drive; Reprogram and Recommission Liftstation Drive

33595 11/04/202411/12/20244035 Sarco Supply 293.49 Janitorial Supplies - Rec Bldg

571 10 31 04 Janitorial Supplies - Rec Bldg 001 000 571 General Fund 293.49 Janitorial Supplies - Rec Bldg

33599 11/04/202411/12/20246088 Sentinel Pest Control Inc 126.24 Pest Control - City Hall - 09/2024

518 30 48 02 Rep & Maint - City Hall 001 000 518 General Fund 126.24 Pest Control - City Hall - 09/2024

33600 11/04/202411/12/20246088 Sentinel Pest Control Inc 126.24 Pest Control - City Hall - 10/2024

518 30 48 02 Rep & Maint - City Hall 001 000 518 General Fund 126.24 Pest Control - City Hall - 10/2024

Total Sentinel Pest Control Inc 252.48

33525 10/29/202411/12/202410914 Simone, Leonie 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33513 10/28/202411/12/20244084 Staples Business Advantage 46.87 Mini Binder Clips (1Pk); Metal Incline Sorter (4)

514 23 35 00 Small Tools & Equip - Financ 001 000 514 General Fund 45.90 Metal Incline Sorter (4)
518 10 34 01 Office Supplies - Central 001 000 518 General Fund 0.97 Mini Binder Clips (1Pk)

33528 10/29/202411/12/20244084 Staples Business Advantage 7.89 Replacement Ink Pad

512 51 31 00 Office & Oper Sup - Court 001 000 512 General Fund 7.89 Replacement Ink Pad

33529 10/29/202411/12/20244084 Staples Business Advantage 24.65 Verbatim DV+R Liefseries (50pk)

521 22 31 00 Office & Oper Sup - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 24.65 Verbatim DV+R Liefseries (50pk)

33530 10/29/202411/12/20244084 Staples Business Advantage 50.26 Scotch Magic Tape (1pk); A-Z Tab Paper Dividers 
(1 set)

13



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 11
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

521 22 31 00 Office & Oper Sup - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 50.26 Scotch Magic Tape (1pk); A-Z Tab Paper Dividers (1 
set)

33531 10/29/202411/12/20244084 Staples Business Advantage 44.80 Ringed Binders for Council (12/pk)

513 10 31 00 Office & Oper Sup - Admin 001 000 513 General Fund 44.80 Ringed Binders for Council (12/pk)

33532 10/29/202411/12/20244084 Staples Business Advantage 130.74 Retractable Gel Pens Blue Ink (12/dz); Post-it Tabs 
Assorted Colors (100); USB Type A Flash Drive 
(10/pk)

512 51 35 00 Small Tools & Equip - Court 001 000 512 General Fund 1.14  Letter Opener (1)
518 10 34 01 Office Supplies - Central 001 000 518 General Fund 129.60 Retractable Gel Pens Blue Ink (12/dz); Letter Opener 

(1); Post-it Tabs Assorted Colors (100); USB Type A 
Flash Drive (10/pk)

Total Staples Business Advantage 305.21

33535 10/29/202411/12/20244328 Systems for Public Safety Inc 865.42 #71535D - 2021 Ford Interceptor Utility - Mount &
Balance 2 Tires; 15K Service; LOF; Change Wiper 
Blades; Diagnose Engine Lights

548 65 48 08 O & M - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 865.42 #71535D - 2021 Ford Interceptor Utility - Mount & 
Balance 2 Tires; 15K Service; LOF; Change Wiper 
Blades; Diagnose Engine Lights

33536 10/29/202411/12/20244328 Systems for Public Safety Inc 66.48 #68056D - 2019 Ford Interceptor - Program FOB; 
Verify Battery OK

548 65 48 08 O & M - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 66.48 #68056D - 2019 Ford Interceptor - Program FOB; 
Verify Battery OK

33587 11/04/202411/12/20244328 Systems for Public Safety Inc 215.78 #71536D - 2021 Ford Interceptor - Swap out 
Armrest

548 65 48 08 O & M - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 215.78 #71536D - 2021 Ford Interceptor - Swap out Armrest

33606 11/05/202411/12/20244328 Systems for Public Safety Inc 1,992.76 #66368D - 2018 Ford Interceptor Utility - 60k Mile 
Service & Safety Inspection; LOF; Mount & Balance
new Tires; Align Vehicle

548 65 48 08 O & M - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 1,992.76 #66368D - 2018 Ford Interceptor Utility - 60k Mile 
Service & Safety Inspection; LOF; Mount & Balance 
new Tires; Align Vehicle

14



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 12
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33609 11/05/202411/12/20244328 Systems for Public Safety Inc 1,202.80 #BTS6572 - 2020 Ford Interceptor Utility - 30k 
Mile Service & Safety Inspection; LOF; Lubricate & 
Check Chassis; Transmission Filter Service; Inspect 
Tires

548 65 48 08 O & M - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 1,202.80 #BTS6572 - 2020 Ford Interceptor Utility - 30k Mile 
Service & Safety Inspection; LOF; Lubricate & Check 
Chassis; Transmission Filter Service; Inspect Tires

33634 11/06/202411/12/20244328 Systems for Public Safety Inc 132.95 #71536D 2023 Ford Interceptor - Swap Flashlight 
Charger & Program Fob

548 65 48 08 O & M - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 132.95 #71536D 2023 Ford Interceptor - Swap Flashlight 
Charger & Program Fob

Total Systems for Public Safety Inc 4,476.19

33503 10/28/202411/12/20249888 T-Mobile (Cell Phone Bill) 29.95 Courts, PW, City Hall Fax Line (9/21/24-10/20/24)

512 51 42 00 Communication - Court 001 000 512 General Fund 9.98 Court Fax Line (9/21/24-10/20/24)
518 10 42 00 Communication - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 9.99 City Hall Fax Line (9/21/24-10/20/24)
531 50 42 00 Communication - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 2.50 PW Fax Line (9/21/24-10/20/24)
534 10 42 00 Communication - Water Adm 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 2.50 PW Fax Line (9/21/24-10/20/24)
535 10 42 01 Communication - Sewer Adm 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 2.49 PW Fax Line (9/21/24-10/20/24)
542 30 42 00 Communication - Street Reg 101 000 542 City Street Fund 2.49 PW Fax Line (9/21/24-10/20/24)

33641 11/07/202411/12/20249888 T-Mobile (Cell Phone Bill) 1,176.71 Cell Phones & Air Cards - 10/2024

518 30 42 00 Communication - Fac/Equip 001 000 518 General Fund 90.72 Maint. Lead, 2 Workers 10/2024
521 22 42 00 Communication - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 630.57 Police Officers, Chief and Air Cards 10/2024
524 20 42 00 Communication- Building 001 000 524 General Fund 15.12 Community Development Dir. 10/2024
531 50 42 00 Communication - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 75.83 Public Works Crew, Director, PW Office Coord. 

10/2024
534 10 42 00 Communication - Water Adm 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 106.98 Public Works Crew, Director, PW Office Coord., PW 

Water Meter Collector 10/2024
535 10 42 01 Communication - Sewer Adm 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 75.83 Public Works Crew, Director, PW Office Coord. 

10/2024
542 30 42 00 Communication - Street Reg 101 000 542 City Street Fund 75.83 Public Works Crew, Director, PW Office Coord. 

10/2024
558 60 42 00 Communication - Planning 001 000 558 General Fund 15.12 Community Development Dir. 10/2024
576 80 42 00 Communication - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 90.71 P/R Director, Events, Maint. Worker 10/2024

15



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 13
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

Total T-Mobile (Cell Phone Bill) 1,206.66

33539 10/29/202411/12/20244120 Tacoma Daily Index 33.75 Ordinance Passed Notice - Ord. 1715

511 60 41 01 Advertising - Legisl 001 000 511 General Fund 33.75 Ordinance Passed Notice - Ord. 1715

33540 10/29/202411/12/20244120 Tacoma Daily Index 88.12 Ordinance Passed Notices - Ord. 1712, 1713, 1714

511 60 41 01 Advertising - Legisl 001 000 511 General Fund 88.12 Ordinance Passed Notices - Ord. 1712, 1713, 1714

Total Tacoma Daily Index 121.87

33635 11/06/202411/12/20244322 Tacoma, City of - POWER 9,516.34 Power - Various Location - 10/2024

518 30 47 00 Public Utility Services - City H 001 000 518 General Fund 733.17 City Hall Power - 10/2024
531 50 47 02 Public Utility Services - Bldg 415 000 531 Storm Drain 75.41 PW Power - 10/2024
534 10 47 00 Utility Services/Building - Wa 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 75.41 PW Power - 10/2024
534 80 47 01 Utility Services/Pumping 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 4,972.75 PW, Well #6, #7, #9, Golf Course, Weathervane Booser

- 10/2024
535 10 47 00 Utility Services/Building - Sew 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 75.40 PW Power - 10/2024
535 80 47 01 Utility Services/Pumping 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 685.18 Pumps/LS Power - 10/2024
542 30 47 02 Electricity & Gas/Bldg - Stree 101 000 542 City Street Fund 75.41 PW Power - 10/2024
542 30 47 03 Electricity/Traffic Lights 101 000 542 City Street Fund 99.39 Traffic Control -  10/2024
542 63 47 00 Electricity/Street Lights 101 000 542 City Street Fund 1,375.13 Street Lights - 10/2024
548 65 47 00 Utility Services/Building - Sh 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 85.64 F&E Garage Power - 10/2024
576 20 47 00 Public Utility Services - Pool 001 000 576 General Fund 1,113.05 Pool Power - 10/2024
576 80 47 00 Public Utility Services - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 150.40 Parks Power - 10/2024

33501 10/25/202411/12/20246999 Teddy, Blair M 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year (Courtney)

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year (Courtney)

33569 11/01/202411/12/202410250 Thacker, Aimee 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33579 11/04/202411/12/20245259 The Dickens Carolers 958.00 Tree Lighting Ceremony Entertainment

573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 958.00 Tree Lighting Ceremony Entertainment

33628 11/06/202411/12/202410212 Triple Impact Coaching LLC 1,529.50 Wednesday Workout Clinics (K-4th, 5-8th) 
-10/9/24-10/30/24

571 10 49 04 Instructor Fees 001 000 571 General Fund 1,529.50 Wednesday Workout Clinics (K-4th, 5-8th) 
-10/9/24-10/30/24 16



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 14
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

33616 11/05/202411/12/20249399 Tupen, Cody 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33617 11/05/202411/12/202410926 Tupen, Kelcie 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

572 21 49 00 Library Services 001 000 572 General Fund 78.00 Library Reimbursement - 1 Year

33496 10/24/202411/12/20242057 Turner, Michael 65.46 04-01190.1 - 922 ALTADENA AVE

343 10 00 00 Storm Drain Revenues 415 000 340 Storm Drain -18.41
343 40 00 00 Sale Of Water 425 000 340 Water Fund (dep -21.01
343 50 00 00 Sewer Revenues 430 000 340 Sewer Fund (dep -26.04

33585 11/04/202411/12/20249003 U.S. Bank St. Paul 284,875.00 Interest & Principal Payment On Park Bond Thru 
11/30/24

591 75 72 01 Principal Loan Payment - Par 201 000 591 Park Bond Debt 130,000.00 Principal Payment On Park Bond Thru 11/30/24
592 75 82 01 Interest Payment - Park Bond 201 000 591 Park Bond Debt 154,875.00 Interest Payment On Park Bond Thru 11/30/24

33588 11/04/202411/12/20245934 US Bank, City Hall Account 1,589.59 P-Card Charges thru 10/29/24

513 10 31 00 Office & Oper Sup - Admin 001 000 513 General Fund 150.00 Annual Jotform Subscription, USB Drive
517 90 31 01 Oper Supplies - Wellness Pro 001 000 517 General Fund 55.56 Scarecrows of Fircrest Contest, Employee Benefit's Fair

Supplies
518 10 42 01 Postage - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 212.54 Postage - Passports
518 11 49 00 Miscellaneous - Personnel 001 000 518 General Fund 79.63 Finance Director Interview Supplies & Benefit's Fair 

Food for Employees
518 11 49 02 Meals - Other Than Travel/Tr 001 000 518 General Fund 294.28 Finance Director Interview Lunch & Refreshments - 

10/29/24
524 20 31 00 Office & Oper Sup - Building 001 000 524 General Fund 612.38 Bluebeam Subscription Renewal - M Newman, Annual 

Jotform Subscription
548 65 48 08 O & M - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 31.75 Postage for Police - Motorcycle Paperwork to Auction 

House
558 60 31 00 Office & Oper Sup - Planning 001 000 558 General Fund 127.95 Annual Jotform Subscription
594 48 64 08 ERR Capital - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 25.50 Correction Needed to Vehicle License Plate on 

Registration

33586 11/04/202411/12/20248482 US Bank, Police Department Account 468.78 P-Card Charges thru 10/15/24

521 22 35 00 Small Tools & Equip - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 92.59 Officer PPE
521 22 49 00 Miscellaneous - Police 001 000 521 General Fund 5.00 DUI Blood Kit Mailed
521 22 49 07 Community Outreach 001 000 521 General Fund 371.19 Halloween Candy

33605 11/05/202411/12/20248483 US Bank, Public Works Dept Account 678.15 P-Card Charges thru 10/30/24 17



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 15
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

517 90 31 01 Oper Supplies - Wellness Pro 001 000 517 General Fund 189.52 PW Quarterly Wellness Lunch Supplies
518 30 31 04 Oper Supplies - CH 001 000 518 General Fund 39.29 Chair Rail for Offices
531 50 31 01 Office Supplies - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 18.66 Monthly Planner, Batteries
531 50 41 00 Prof Svcs - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 44.04 Arc GIS Online Credits - 10/09/24-10/08/24
534 10 31 00 Office Supplies - Water Adm 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 18.65 Monthly Planner, Batteries
534 10 41 00 Prof Svcs - Water Admin 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 44.04 Arc GIS Online Credits - 10/09/24-10/08/24
535 10 31 00 Office Supplies - Swr Admin 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 18.65 Monthly Planner, Batteries
535 10 41 00 Prof Svcs - Sewer Admin 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 44.04 Arc GIS Online Credits - 10/09/24-10/08/24
542 30 31 01 Office Supplies - Street Reg 101 000 542 City Street Fund 18.67 Monthly Planner, Batteries
542 63 49 00 Miscellaneous - St Light 101 000 542 City Street Fund 175.00 Streetlight Attachment Fees
548 65 48 13 O & M - Storm 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 41.18 #60915D Elgin Sweeper - Circuit Breaker & Battery 

Inverter Cables
576 80 31 02 Oper Supplies - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 26.41 Vehicle Inspection Book

33611 11/05/202411/12/20248484 US Bank, Recreation Dept Account 2,927.24 P-Card Chrages thru 10/30/24

571 10 31 02 Senior Program Supplies 001 000 571 General Fund 1,206.52 Senior Morning Supplies
571 10 41 00 Senior Trips 001 000 571 General Fund 320.50 Senior Trip Supplies
571 10 49 00 Miscellaneous - Rec 001 000 571 General Fund 29.61 Rec Office Supplies
573 90 49 01 Community Events 001 000 573 General Fund 1,370.61 Community Event Supplies

33580 11/04/202411/12/20244178 University Place Refuse Inc 651.05 Dumping Fees - 10/2024

531 50 47 01 Dumping Fees - Storm 415 000 531 Storm Drain 279.01 Dumping Fees - Storm 10/2024
534 80 47 02 Dumping Fees - Water 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 93.01 Dumping Fees - Water 10/2024
535 80 47 02 Dumping Fees - Sewer 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 93.01 Dumping Fees - Sewer 10/2024
542 30 47 01 Dumping Fees - Street 101 000 542 City Street Fund 93.01 Dumping Fees - Street 10/2024
576 80 47 01 Dumping Fees - Parks 001 000 576 General Fund 93.01 Dumping Fees - Parks 10/2024

33596 11/04/202411/12/20244179 Unum Life Insurance Company of America 56.90 Retired Benefits - November 2024

521 22 20 02 LEOFF I Long Term Care Prem 001 000 521 General Fund 56.90 Retired Benefits - November 2024

33638 11/07/202411/12/20244180 Utilities Underground 51.48 Locates 10/2024

534 10 49 00 Miscellaneous - Water Admi 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 25.74 Locates 10/2024
535 10 49 00 Miscellaneous - Sewer Admi 430 000 535 Sewer Fund (dep 25.74 Locates 10/2024

33610 11/05/202411/12/20243645 WEX BANK, Wright Express FSC 3,713.63 Gas/Fuel 10/2024

548 65 31 05 Gas - Non Dept 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 47.64 Non-Dept 10/2024
548 65 31 06 Gas - Facilities 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 206.92 F&E 10/2024
548 65 31 08 Gas - Police 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 2,629.72 Police 10/2024
548 65 31 11 Gas - Parks/Rec 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 314.84 Parks 10/2024 18



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
City Of Fircrest Time: 13:21:39 Date: 11/08/2024

As Of: 11/12/2024 Page: 16
Accts
Pay # Received Date Due Vendor Amount Memo

548 65 31 12 Gas - Street 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 233.01 Street 10/2024
548 65 31 14 Gas - Water/Sewer 501 000 548 Equipment Renta 281.50 W/S 10/2024

33506 10/28/202411/12/20244231 Water Mgmt Labs Inc 360.00 Coliform & Fluoride Testing - 9/18/2024

534 80 41 00 Water Testing 425 000 534 Water Fund (dep 360.00 Coliform & Fluoride Testing - 9/18/2024

33613 11/05/202411/12/20241257 Wilson, Phillip 75.00 Security Deposit Refund, Wilson, 10/13/24

582 10 00 00 Deposit Refunds 001 000 580 General Fund 75.00 Security Deposit Refund, Wilson, 10/13/24

33608 11/05/202411/12/202410035 Zoom Video Communications 1,427.66 Monthly Phone Rental - 10/31/24-11/29/24

513 10 42 00 Communication - Admin 001 000 513 General Fund 84.04 Meeting Webinar & Recording - 10/31/24-11/29/24
518 10 42 00 Communication - Non Dept 001 000 518 General Fund 1,011.17 Monthly Phone Service - 10/31/24-11/29/24
591 18 70 10 Lease Payments - Non-Dept 001 000 591 General Fund 332.45 Monthly Phone Rental - 10/31/24-11/29/24

Report Total: 885,102.52
Fund

001 General Fund 60,400.08
101 City Street Fund 184,398.12
201 Park Bond Debt Service Fund 284,875.00
411 Trust Fund 260.00
415 Storm Drain 3,574.08
425 Water Fund (department) 7,457.59
430 Sewer Fund (department) 326,642.17
501 Equipment Rental Fund 17,495.48

This report has been reviewed by:
         _________________________________  ___________________

REMARKS:                                                    Signature  & Title      Date 

19



OCTOBER 14, 2024                FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SPECIAL MEETING 1 

CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, AND ROLL CALL  

City Clerk Burkhart called the special meeting to order at 6:00 P.M. and led the Pledge of 

Allegiance. Councilmembers David M. Viafore, Brett L. Wittner, Hunter T. George, Nikki 

Bufford, and Jim Andrews were present. Councilmember Karen Mauer-Smith was absent and 

excused. Councilmember Nikki Bufford attended the meeting virtually. Mayor Shannon 

Reynolds joined the meeting virtually at 6:44 P.M.   

 

City Clerk Burkhart stated per Fircrest City Council Rule 5B., an alternate Mayor Pro Tempore 

needed to be selected by members of the Council to act as the Presiding Officer. 

Councilmember Bufford MOVED to appoint Councilmember Wittner as Alternate Mayor 

Pro Tempore; seconded by Councilmember George.  

 

The Motion Carried (5-0). 

 

AGENDA MODIFICATIONS 

There were none. 

 

PRELIMINARY 2025 BUDGET – 2nd BUDGET WORKSHOP 

City Manager Masko presented the 2025 Preliminary Budget for the Street, Storm, and Water 

Funds, remaining American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds, and personnel changes.  

 

Public Works Director Bemis presented the Street, Storm, Water, and Sewer Fund operating 

goals, revenues, and expenses to include Capital Fund revenues and expenditures. Director 

Bemis stated that preliminary design plans for Regents Blvd grind and overlay will be sent to the 

Council for feedback due to changes in roadway configuration to accommodate bicycle lanes.  

 

Councilmember Viafore left the meeting at 6:08 P.M. and returned at 6:13 P.M. 

 

Discussions included street beautification transfer amount, Centennial Celebration enhancement 

budget, AMI water meter exchange funding and completion, proposed water rate increase to 

build operating reserves, Wellhouse #4 repairs, water tower cell site rental advertisement, and 

pass-through sewer rate increase.  

 

City Manager Masko reported ARPA funds must be obligated contractually by December 31, 

2024, and spent by December 31, 2025. Discussions included the City’s well water loop system 

and Fircrest Parks Maintenance Facility electrical specifications.    

 

There was a Council consensus to bring back an amendment to the water meter exchange 

contract.  

 

ARPA discussions included the Whittier Park Master Plan, the Equipment Repair and 

Replacement (ERR) Fund, and the City’s website accessibility update. City Manager Masko 

reported on the court security issue and the request for a metal detector for screening purposes. 

Court Administrator Olivarez stated the municipal court is out of compliance for screening.  

 

Mayor Reynolds left the meeting at 6:53 P.M. and returned in person at 6:59 P.M. 

20



OCTOBER 14, 2024                FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SPECIAL MEETING 2 

There was a Council consensus to continue the court security and the use of bailiffs discussion at 

a study session.  

 

Further ARPA discussions include laptop replacements, City Hall replacement furniture, the 10th 

police officer hire, City Hall columns, and police vehicle purchase.  

 

Councilmember George reported on the Masko Park enhancement project and stated community 

members have raised donations for playground equipment. Discussions included additional funds 

for playground equipment, additional park lighting, ADA compliance, neighborhood outreach, 

security,  the Seabrook Rhododendron garden, and open space.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Reynolds MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 7:49 P.M., seconded by 

Councilmember George.  

 

The Motion Carried (5-0). 

 

 

________________________________ 

 Brett L. Wittner, alternate Mayor Pro Tempore 

 

 

 

 ________________________________ 

                                           Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

21



OCTOBER 21, 2024                FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SPECIAL MEETING 1 

CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, AND ROLL CALL  

Mayor Shannon Reynolds called the special meeting to order at 6:00 P.M. and led the Pledge of 

Allegiance. Councilmembers Brett L. Wittner, Hunter T. George, Nikki Bufford, and Jim 

Andrews were present. Councilmember David M. Viafore and Karen Mauer-Smith were absent 

and excused.   

 

AGENDA MODIFICATIONS 

There were none. 

 

PRELIMINARY 2025 BUDGET – 3rd BUDGET WORKSHOP 

City Manager Masko provided an overview of the ARPA discussion from the October 14, 2024 

budget workshop to include purchasing police handguns, a metal detector, a copier, and a folding 

machine and using partial ARPA funding for the purchase of the police vehicle. Mrs. Masko 

stated that the November 18, 2024 Study Session agenda will include a court security discussion.  

 

City Manager Masko reported on the Masko Park improvement project. Discussions included 

playground equipment, landscape design, and neighbor outreach.  

 

City Manager Masko requested feedback on the City’s website update, including an accessibility 

review and laptop replacements. There was a Council consensus to move forward with the 

website update and purchasing laptop replacements for staff.   

 

Further discussions include the water meter exchange project, water tank cell leases, the sewer 

rate increase, underground electrical for the Fircrest Park Maintenance Facility, the Tacoma 

Public Library card reimbursements, street beautification funding, Wellhouse #4 repairs, and 

Wellhouse #6 and #7 generator.  

 

Parks and Recreation Director Grover presented proposed fees and charge increases to include 

pool fees, program fees, and facility rentals. The Council requested information on the Fircrest 

Soccer Club resident participation numbers.  

 

City Manager Masko presented the community development fees and charges, including plan 

review and permits. The Council requested further information on comparable jurisdiction fees. 

Mrs. Masko presented the proposed animal licensing fees. There was a brief discussion on 

community outreach for animal licensing and providing information to the Council on registered 

animals.  

 

City Manager Masko presented proposed personnel changes to include the promotion of the 

Recreation Coordinator, increasing hours for the IT Support Coordinator position and reviewing 

the Police Records Technician position when the City adopts the photo enforcement program. 

Mrs. Masko provided a salary survey with information on the median market compensation. 

Discussions included cost of living adjustments, annual salary surveys, staff workloads, and staff 

retention. There was a Council consensus to approve the Recreation Coordinator promotion and 

increase the hours for the IT Support Coordinator position.  

 

22



OCTOBER 21, 2024                FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SPECIAL MEETING 2 

City Manager Masko reported that the City will be transferring to the City of Tacoma police 

radio system which will save the City approximately $20,000 in the first year.  

 

Interim Finance Director Dunbar presented the Equipment Repair and Replacement (ERR) Fund 

overview and highlighted several replacement requests, including the City Clerk workstation, 

police MDCs, Bobcat heavy equipment, a generator, and thirteen staff laptops. City Manager 

Masko stated laptop replacements will be based on need and not the ERR replacement schedule. 

There was a brief discussion on the time and temperature sign and its replacement cost.   

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Councilmember George MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 7:48 P.M., seconded by 

Councilmember Wittner.  

 

The Motion Carried (5-0). 

 

 

________________________________ 

 Shannon Reynolds, Mayor  

 

 

 

 ________________________________ 

                                           Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

23



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Public Hearing – 2025 Preliminary Budget Expenditures 

ITEM: 11A 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Dawn Masko, City Manager 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: None.  Public Hearing Only. 

 

PROPOSAL: The purpose of the Public Hearing is to receive public input on the 2025 Preliminary 

Expenditure Budget. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Fund Fund Name Expenditures Ending Fund 

Balance 

Total 

Appropriation 

001 General Fund $8,083,374 $4,123,827 $12,207,201 

101 Street Fund 606,391 312,323 918,714 

105 Police Investigation Fund - 500 500 

150 Cumulative Reserve Fund - 2,750,000 2,750,000 

201 Park Bond Debt Service Fund 460,850 178,028 638,878 

301 Park Bond Capital Fund - 941,763 941,763 

310 Real Estate Excise Tax Fund 100,000 3,014,071 3,114,071 

415 Storm Drain Fund 590,314 610,916 1,201,230 

416 Storm Drain Capital Fund 110,000 506,670 616,670 

425 Water Fund 1,169,795 348,564 1,518,359 

426 Water Capital Fund 158,960 225,298 384,258 

430 Sewer Fund 3,413,874 706,721 4,120,595 

432 Sewer Capital Fund 222,150 732,920 955,070 

501 Equipment Replacement Fund 301,921 2,250,208 2,552,129 

 TOTAL $15,217,629 $16,701,809 $31,919,438 

 

ADVANTAGES: Allows citizens to comment on the 2025 Preliminary Expenditures. 
 

DISADVANTAGES: None.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  None. 
 

BACKGROUND: The 2025 Preliminary Budget was presented to the City Council on September 

24, 2024. Budget workshops have been held on September 30th, October 14th, October 21st, and 

November 4th. An additional budget workshop is scheduled for November 18th. Public hearings 

on the proposed budget are required in connection with the budget process. A public hearing was 

held on October 22nd, and a second public hearing is being held this evening.  Per Washington 

state law, the City Council must adopt the 2025 Budget no later than December 31, 2024. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 2025 Preliminary Budget Summary 

   2025 Expenditure Slides 

24



Beginning Ending
Fund Fund Name Fund Balance Revenues Expenditures Fund Balance

001 General Fund 4,592,310$     7,614,891$     8,083,374$     4,123,827$     

101 City Street Fund 335,553          583,161          606,391          312,323          

105 Police Investigation Fund -                  500                 -                      500                 

150 Cumulative Reserve Fund 2,750,000       -                  -                      2,750,000       

201 Park Bond Debt Service Fund 163,602          475,276          460,850          178,028          

301 Park Bond Capital Fund 661,763          280,000          -                      941,763          

310 REET (Real Estate Excise Tax) Fund 2,708,421       405,650          100,000          3,014,071       

415 Storm Drain Operating Fund 547,915          653,315          590,314          610,916          

416 Storm Capital Improvement Fund 481,470          135,200          110,000          506,670          

425 Water Operating Fund 246,206          1,272,153       1,169,795       348,564          

426 Water Capital Improvement Fund 248,708          135,550          158,960          225,298          

430 Sewer Operating Fund 1,131,245       2,989,350       3,413,874       706,721          

432 Sewer Capital Improvement Fund 721,070          234,000          222,150          732,920          

501 Equipment Replacement Fund 2,095,838       456,291          301,921          2,250,208       

GRAND TOTAL: 16,684,101$   15,235,337$   15,217,629$   16,701,809$   

City of Fircrest
2025 Preliminary Budget Summary

25



2022 2023 2024 2025

Fund Fund Name Actual Actual Budget Proposed

001 General Fund 11,983,350$   12,893,157$   12,859,965$   12,207,201$   

101 Street Fund 972,686          991,498          3,367,391       918,714          

105 Police Investigation Fund 12,701            13,333            13,933            500                

150 Cumulative Reserve Fund 1,743,609       1,979,506       2,750,000       2,750,000       

201 Park Bond Debt Service Fund 552,016          578,011          603,352          638,878          

301 Park Bond Capital Fund 3,521,994       2,505,274       1,694,290       941,763          

310 REET Fund 2,544,526       2,864,957       3,190,272       3,114,071       

411 Utilities Trust Fund 44,692            53,478            -                     -                     

415 Storm Drain Fund 879,729          1,024,638       1,100,203       1,201,230       

416 Storm Drain Capital Fund 695,695          910,503          597,720          616,670          

425 Water Utility Fund 1,506,553       1,490,961       1,461,642       1,518,359       

426 Water Capital Fund 1,074,450       705,312          708,083          384,258          

430 Sewer Utility Fund 4,389,755       4,373,631       4,492,337       4,120,595       

432 Sewer Capital Fund 1,526,460       1,594,377       1,634,335       955,070          

501 Equipment Rental Fund 2,058,133       2,403,018       2,472,993       2,552,129       

CITY TOTAL 33,506,350$   34,381,654$   36,946,516$   31,919,438$   

City of Fircrest

Revenue Summary by Fund

26



2022 2023 2024 2025

Fund Fund Name Actual Actual Budget Proposed

001 General Fund 6,421,603$     7,634,110$     8,267,655$     8,083,374$     

101 Street Fund 547,191          590,670          3,031,838       606,391          

105 Police Investigation Fund -                     -                     13,933            -                     

150 Cumulative Reserve Fund 530,763          -                     -                     -                     

201 Park Bond Debt Service Fund -                     428,200          439,750          460,850          

301 Park Bond Capital Fund 1,834,853       1,119,984       1,032,527       -                     

310 REET Fund 84,470            90,499            481,851          100,000          

411 Utilities Trust Fund -                     10,835            -                     -                     

415 Storm Drain Fund 510,623          577,935          552,288          590,314          

416 Storm Drain Capital Fund 14,620            394,683          116,250          110,000          

425 Water Utility Fund 1,262,402       1,247,773       1,215,436       1,169,795       

426 Water Capital Fund 859,138          354,664          459,375          158,960          

430 Sewer Utility Fund 3,003,544       2,896,079       3,361,092       3,413,874       

432 Sewer Capital Fund 174,462          194,042          913,265          222,150          

501 Equipment Rental Fund 149,277          456,973          377,155          301,921          

CITY TOTAL 15,392,947$   15,996,448$   20,262,415$   15,217,629$   

City of Fircrest

Expenditure Summary by Fund

27



2022 2023 2024 2025
Description Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Beginning Fund Balances 16,029,668$   17,683,474$   18,358,564$   16,684,101$   

Property Tax 2,619,781       2,705,371       2,738,253       2,794,920       

Sales Tax 1,044,770       1,010,372       1,055,000       1,117,715       

Utility Taxes 743,810          775,117          774,699          783,456          

Real Estate Excise Tax 337,431          276,999          300,000          300,000          

Franchise Fees 360,716          527,360          463,000          477,800          

Licenses & Permits 125,901          100,977          131,485          143,085          

Intergovernmental 1,538,017       685,017          2,713,646       518,391          

Charges for Goods & Services 1,039,053       1,136,511       1,206,240       1,189,126       

Utility Collections 4,417,609       4,545,256       4,478,284       4,657,565       

Interfund Charges for Services 755,019          755,612          768,164          824,968          

Fines & Penalties 181,991          155,864          203,300          241,000          

Interest & Miscellaneous 2,091,423       2,023,187       1,532,488       1,324,023       

Capital Contributions 18,800            12,380            8,000              8,000              

Interfund Transfers 1,409,677       1,184,434       1,342,550       855,288          

Other Financing Sources & Non-Revenues 792,683          803,723          872,843          -                      

Total Revenue From All Sources 33,506,350$   34,381,654$   36,946,516$   31,919,438$   

City of Fircrest
Citywide Revenues & Other Sources Summary

28



2022 2023 2024 2025
Description Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Operations Expenditures

Legislative 92,656$          157,914$        105,540$        90,450$          

Court Services 324,091          370,716          429,645          467,870          

Administration 329,986          409,483          405,185          430,870          

Finance 335,267          347,641          442,540          436,020          

Legal Services 293,257          295,573          286,000          284,250          

Employee Benefit Programs 2,573              21,425            2,500              2,500              

Non-Departmental 191,081          134,693          137,314          145,410          

Personnel 35,447            48,882            57,745            64,965            

Facilities 493,965          664,400          755,135          724,041          

Information Technology Services 69,539            161,266          148,753          169,640          

Civil Service 3,939              8,828              9,010              4,840              

Law Enforcement 1,837,063       1,935,523       2,250,496       2,280,246       

Fire & EMS Services 725,926          794,888          830,658          848,784          

Jail Services 26,638            8,138              30,500            30,500            

Building 71,937            130,894          147,460          142,810          

Emergency Management 8,950              7,270              10,765            10,985            

Conservation & Animal Control 13,442            14,455            15,570            15,440            

Planning & Community Development 83,869            214,562          355,806          140,075          

Social Services 2,123              2,118              2,185              1,773              

Culture & Recreation 402,893          543,925          646,475          659,680          

Library Services 10,503            13,061            10,000            12,500            

Community Events 55,241            71,811            62,500            108,100          

Swimming Pool 283,175          335,563          308,035          319,385          

Parks 345,087          332,798          464,798          351,342          

Street Maintenance 446,521          487,311          534,800          504,256          

Total Operations Expenditures 6,485,168       7,513,139       8,449,415       8,246,732       

Proprietary Expenditures

Storm Drain Utility 428,723          494,240          469,999          503,049          

Water Utility 1,108,945       1,026,457       998,488          1,016,165       

Sewer Utility 2,459,737       2,350,903       2,817,748       2,869,274       

Equipment Rental & Replacement 143,014          140,851          202,936          171,456          

Total Proprietary Expenditures 4,140,419       4,012,451       4,489,171       4,559,944       

Total Operating Expenditures 10,625,587     11,525,590     12,938,586     12,806,676     

Other Financing Uses

Capital Expenditures 2,227,161       1,706,648       4,417,938       721,575          

Debt Service 359,104          783,870          792,847          834,090          

Interfund Transfers 1,409,677       1,184,434       1,342,550       855,288          

Other Decreases in Fund Balance 771,418          795,905          770,494          -                      

Total Other Financing Uses 4,767,360       4,470,858       7,323,829       2,410,953       

Total Expenditures & Other Uses 15,392,947     15,996,448     20,262,415     15,217,629     

Ending Fund Balances 18,113,403     18,385,207     16,684,101     16,701,809     

Total Expenditures, Other Uses & 
Fund Balances 33,506,350$   34,381,654$   36,946,516$   31,919,438$   

City of Fircrest
Expenditures & Other Uses Summary

29



2022 2023 2024 2025

Description Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Beginning Fund Balance

Restricted 473,948$        800,393$        335,369$        -$                    

Assigned 1,147,177       1,070,520       1,030,793       955,885          

Reserved for Cash Flow 1,400,000       1,400,000       1,925,000       1,925,000       

Unassigned 1,739,401       2,290,833       1,967,885       1,711,425       

Beginning Fund Balance 4,760,526       5,561,746       5,259,047       4,592,310       

Revenues & Other Sources

Property Tax 2,187,981       2,263,738       2,285,312       2,320,244       

Sales Tax 1,044,770       1,010,372       1,055,000       1,117,715       

Utility Taxes 743,810          775,117          774,699          783,456          

Franchise Fees 360,716          527,360          463,000          477,800          

Licenses & Permits 112,396          92,230            121,485          133,085          

Intergovernmental 794,180          319,526          498,243          252,768          

Charges for Goods & Services 672,070          770,149          772,195          819,660          

Interdepartmental Service Charges 755,019          755,612          768,164          824,968          

Fines & Penalties 181,991          155,864          203,300          241,000          

Interest, Rentals & Miscellaneous 342,581          639,924          659,520          644,195          

Total Operating Revenues 7,195,514       7,309,892       7,600,918       7,614,891       

Other Increases in Fund Resources 17,321            21,519            -                      -                      

Other Financing Sources 9,989              -                      -                      -                      

Total Revenues & Other Sources 7,222,824       7,331,411       7,600,918       7,614,891       

Total Revenues From All Sources 11,983,350$   12,893,157$   12,859,965$   12,207,201$   

City of Fircrest

General Fund
Revenues & Other Sources Summary

30



2022 2023 2024 2025

Description Actual Actual Revised Proposed

Operating Expenditures

Legislative 92,656$          157,914$        105,540$        90,450$          

Court Services 324,091          370,716          429,645          467,870          

Administration 329,986          409,483          405,185          430,870          

Finance 335,267          347,641          442,540          436,020          

Legal Services 293,257          295,573          286,000          284,250          

Employee Benefit Programs 2,573              21,425            2,500              2,500              

Non-Departmental 191,081          134,693          137,314          145,410          

Personnel 35,447            48,882            57,745            64,965            

Facilities 493,965          664,400          755,135          724,041          

Information Services 69,539            161,266          148,753          169,640          

Civil Service 3,939              8,828              9,010              4,840              

Law Enforcement 1,837,063       1,935,523       2,236,563       2,280,246       

Fire & EMS Services 725,926          794,888          830,658          848,784          

Jail Services 26,638            8,138              30,500            30,500            

Building 71,937            130,894          147,460          142,810          

Emergency Management 8,950              7,270              10,765            10,985            

Conservation 4,742              5,278              5,570              5,940              

Animal Control Services 8,700              9,177              10,000            9,500              

Planning 83,869            214,562          355,806          140,075          

Social Services 2,123              2,118              2,185              1,773              

Recreation 402,893          543,925          646,475          659,680          

Library Services 10,503            13,061            10,000            12,500            

Community Events 55,241            71,811            62,500            108,100          

Swimming Pool 283,175          335,563          308,035          319,385          

Parks 345,087          332,798          464,798          351,342          

Total Operating Expenditures 6,038,647       7,025,828       7,900,682       7,742,476       

Other Financing Uses

Lease Payments -                      7,837              18,174            32,360            

Interfund Transfers Out 374,384          582,035          348,799          308,538          

Other Decreases in Fund Balance 8,572              18,410            -                      -                      

Total Other Financing Uses 382,956          608,282          366,973          340,898          

Total Expenditures & Other Uses 6,421,603       7,634,110       8,267,655       8,083,374       

-                      -                      -                      -                      

Ending Fund Balance

Restricted 473,948          800,393          335,369          -                      

Assigned 1,147,177       1,070,520       1,030,793       918,880          

Unassigned 3,940,622       3,388,133       3,226,148       3,204,947       

Ending Fund Balance 5,561,746$     5,259,047$     4,592,310$     4,123,827$     

General Fund
Expenditures & Other Uses Summary

31



Fund 2022 Actual 2023 Actual 2024 Budget
2025 

Preliminary

General Fund 5,561,746$       5,259,047$       4,592,310$       4,123,827$       

City Street Fund 425,495            400,828            335,553            312,323            

Police Investigation Fund 12,701              13,333              -                        500                   

Cumulative Reserve Fund 1,212,846         1,979,506         2,750,000         2,750,000         

Park Bond Debt Service Fund 552,016            149,811            163,602            178,028            

Park Bond Capital Fund 1,687,141         1,385,290         661,763            941,763            

REET Fund 2,460,056         2,774,457         2,708,421         3,014,071         

Utility Trust Fund 44,692              42,643              -                        -                        

Storm Drain Operating Fund 369,106            446,703            547,915            610,916            

Storm Capital Improvement Fund 681,075            515,820            481,470            506,670            

Water Operating Fund 244,152            243,189            246,206            348,564            

Water Capital Improvement Fund 215,312            350,648            248,708            225,298            

Sewer Operating Fund 1,386,211         1,477,553         1,131,245         706,721            

Sewer Capital Improvement Fund 1,351,997         1,400,335         721,070            732,920            

Equipment Rental Fund 1,908,856         1,946,045         2,095,838         2,250,208         

Total 18,113,403$     18,385,207$     16,684,101$     16,701,809$     

General Fund 2022 Actual 2023 Actual 2024 Budget
2025 

Preliminary

Restricted - ARPA Funds 800,393$          335,369$          -$                  -$                  

Assigned - Light 502,126            475,243            424,035            387,030            

Assigned - 44th/Alameda 568,395            555,550            531,850            531,850            

Unassigned - Reserved for Cash Flow 1,925,000         1,925,000         1,925,000         1,925,000         

Unassigned   1,765,833         1,967,884         1,711,425         1,213,171         

Total 5,561,746$       5,259,047$       4,592,310$       4,057,051$       

City of Fircrest

Ending Fund Balances

Ending Fund Balance

General Fund Ending Fund Balances

Ending Fund Balance

32



2025 
Preliminary 

Budget

33



2023 Proposed Total Budget2025 Total Proposed Budget
$15,114,269

General Fund
$8,083,374 

Street 
Fund

$606,391 

Debt 
Service

$460,850 

Capital Projects
$100,000 

Utility Funds
$5,665,093 

ERR Fund
$301,921 

Excludes Ending Fund Balances

General Fund Expenditures
2025 Proposed Uses

Administration
11.3%

Municipal 
Court
6.0%

Support Services
9.4%

Police & Emergency 
Management

30.3%

Fire & EMS
11.0%

Community 
Development

3.9%

Facilities & Equipment
9.4%

Parks, Recreation 
& Culture

18.7%

34



2025 Public Safety Expenditures

$10,985 

$30,500 

$75,750 

$94,710 

$150,500 

$469,010 

$848,784 

$2,190,376 

EMERGENCY MGMT

JAIL SERVICES

PUBLIC DEFENDER

DISPATCH SERVICES

PROSECUTOR

COURT SERVICES

FIRE & EMS

POLICE DEPARTMENT

2025 Public Safety
Budget: 

$3,870,615

2025 Utility Fund Budgets

$1,169,795 

$3,414,345 

$590,314 

$491,110 

WATER M&O

SEWER M&O

STORM DRAIN M&O

CAPITAL

2025 Utility
Budgets: 

$5,665,564

35



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Emergency Sewer Main Repair – Fordham Court & 62nd Avenue W. 

ITEM: 13A 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Tyler Bemis, Public Works Director 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to retroactively approve the emergency sewer repairs 

at Fordham Court and 62nd Avenue West in the amount of $38,535.   

 

PROPOSAL: The Council is being asked to retroactively approve emergency sewer repairs in the 

amount of $38,535 that occurred on October 18, 2024 at Fordham Court and 62nd Avenue West.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  Funding for this emergency repair totaling $38,535 is available in the 2024 

Adopted Sewer Capital Budget. 

 

BACKGROUND: On October 18, 2024, Public Works crews responded to a sewer backup at a 

recently sold home located at 1155 Fordham Court.  Upon investigation, they discovered that a 4-

inch sewer main, which serves the properties at 1151-1155 Fordham Court and 4310-4318 62nd 

Avenue West, had collapsed, impacting four residences.  No property damage occurred.    

 

City staff quickly contacted Pacific Trenchless Inc./Budget Sewer, who were already in the area 

working on the Buena Vista Pipe Bursting Upgrade project under an existing City contract.  City 

staff were able to temporarily open the damaged sewer main to restore minimal flow and prevent 

the risk of further backups.  Pacific Trenchless Inc./Budget Sewer then expeditiously replaced the 

collapsed 4-inch sewer main with a new 6-inch HDPE sewer main, installed necessary cleanouts, 

and used a pneumatically assisted pipe-bursting method to replace 140 linear feet of the sewer 

main line.  After the emergency repair was completed, all services are functionally normally. 
 

Since 2013, the City has consistently used the pipe-bursting method to repair aging sewer mains 

located in backyards throughout Fircrest.  This approach has been employed annually to upgrade 

outdated infrastructure.  This sewer main, however, was initially considered a low priority due to 

its smaller size, its location in a newer area, and the lack of previous issues.  Staff were therefore 

surprised to discover the pipe’s poor condition, leading to the collapse of the sewer main.  Given 

the severity of the situation, replacing the sewer main was the only viable solution to resolve the 

backup and mitigate the ongoing risk and potential liability it posed.  

 

Pacific Trenchless Inc./Budget Sewer is the only contractor that utilizes the pneumatic pipe 

bursting method. Given their proximity and ongoing work in the City, they were the most viable 

option to quickly address the situation.   

 

In accordance with the City’s purchasing policy for emergency situations, staff are notifying the 

Council of the emergency repairs and are requesting retroactive approval for the work, as well as 

authorization to pay the associated invoice from Pacific Trenchless Inc./Budget Sewer.  

36



 

ADVANTAGES: Upgrading the sewer mainline as part of the emergency repairs addressed the 

compromised piping and connections, providing long-term reliability and reducing the risk of 

future sewer backups.  

 

DISADVANTAGES: None identified.   

 

ALTERNATIVES:  None.  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS:  Purchase Order 

   Pacific Trenchless Inc. Invoice 

    

 

    

37



38



39



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Ordinance Amending the Municipal Court Judge and Chief Examiner 

Monthly Rates of Pay and the Municipal Court Judge Pro Tempore 

Hourly Rate of Pay 

ITEM: 13B 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Dawn Masko, City Manager 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Ordinance No. _____, amending Fircrest 

Municipal Code 2.44.070 amending the Municipal Court Judge and Civil Service Chief 

Examiner monthly rates of pay and amending Fircrest Municipal Code 2.44.095 amending 

the Municipal Court Judge Pro Tempore hourly rate of pay, providing for severability, and 

establishing an effective date.   

 

PROPOSAL: The City Council is being asked to adopt an ordinance that increases the monthly 

rate of pay for the Municipal Court Judge from $3,899 to $4,039 and from $5,571 to $5,772 per 

month if contracting for additional court services.  The ordinance also proposes an increase in the 

Civil Service Chief Examiner’s rate of pay from $266 to $276 per month.  These pay increases are 

effective January 1, 2025. 
 

Additionally, the ordinance amends Fircrest Municipal Code (“FMC”) 2.44.095 to reflect the 

current hourly rate for the Municipal Court Judge Pro Tempore.  The hourly pay rate increased in 

2022 from $50 per hour to $75 per hour but was included in FMC 2.44.070 (Monthly Pay) instead 

of being updated in FMC 2.44.095 (Other Hourly Rate of Pay).  
 

FISCAL IMPACT: The proposed pay increases provide for a 3.6% cost-of-living adjustment 

(“COLA”) based on the Consumer Price Index All Urban Consumers (CPI-W) for the year ending 

June 2024. This adjustment is consistent with the COLA increases recommended for other non-

represented employees.  
 

The ordinance raises the monthly salary for the Municipal Court Judge by $201, which includes 

the additional compensation for the Ruston Court contract. The monthly increase for the Chief 

Examiner is $10. The hourly rate for the Municipal Court Judge Pro Tempore remains unchanged. 

 

ADVANTAGES: The proposal provides for the same 3.6% COLA increase proposed for other 

non-represented employees, ensuring equitable compensation adjustments across the board. 
 

DISADVANTAGES: None identified other than increased costs which have been included in the 

2025 Preliminary Budget.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  Not provide a cost-of-living adjustment.  
 

 

 

40



BACKGROUND: Historical pay increases for these positions have been: 

 

2015 – 2.5% 2020 – 1.7% (plus $100/month for Judge) 

2016 – 2.0% 2021 – 1.0% 

2017 – 2.0% 2022 – 6.3% 

2018 – 3.0% 2023 – 9.5% 

2019 – 3.6% (added $1,500/month for the 

Municipal Court Judge for Ruston Court services) 
2024 – 4.5% 

 

A 3.6% increase is now requested for the Municipal Court Judge and Civil Service Chief 

Examiner, effective January 1, 2025. 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Ordinance 

    

    

41



 

Page 1 of 2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AMENDING FIRCREST 

MUNICIPAL CODE (“FMC”) 2.44.070 RELATING TO THE 

MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE’S MONTHLY RATE OF PAY 

AND THE CIVIL SERVICE CHIEF EXAMINER’S MONTHLY 

RATE OF PAY; AMENDING FMC 2.44.095 RELATING TO 

THE MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE PRO TEMPORE’S 

HOURLY RATE OF PAY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 

WHEREAS, the City seeks to adopt a cost of living increase of 3.6% based on the 

Consumer Price Index All Urban Consumers (CPI-W) for the year ending June 2024 for 

the Municipal Court Judge position; and  
 

WHEREAS, the City seeks to adopt a cost of living increase of 3.6% based on the 

Consumer Price Index All Urban Consumers (CPI-W) for the year ending June 2024 for 

the Municipal Court Judge with contract position; and  
 

WHEREAS, the City seeks to adopt a cost of living increase of 3.6% based on the 

Consumer Price Index All Urban Consumers (CPI-W) for the year ending June 2024 for 

the Civil Service Chief Examiner position; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined it is in the best interests of the City to do so.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FIRCREST DO 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  
 

Section 1.  FMC 2.44.070, Amended. Section 1 of Ordinance No. 1713 and FMC 

2.44.070 are hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

2.44.070 Monthly Pay.   From and after January 1, 2025, the monthly rate of pay 

for the following positions is fixed at not to exceed the following sums: 
 

 Municipal Court Judge   $4,039 per month 

 Municipal Court Judge with contract  $5,772 per month 

 Civil Service Chief Examiner   $   276 per month 
  

Section 2.  FMC 2.44.095, Amended. FMC 2.44.095 is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 
 

2.44.095 Other Hourly Rates of Pay.   From and after January 1, 2025, the hourly 

rate of pay for the following position is fixed at not to exceed the following sum: 
 

Municipal Court Judge Pro Tempore  $75 per hour (2 hour minimum) 

42



 

Page 2 of 2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

Section 2. Corrections.  The City Clerk and codifiers of the ordinance are authorized to 

make necessary corrections to this ordinance including, but not limited to, the correction 

of scrivener/clerical errors, references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection numbers 

and any references thereto. 

 

Section 3. Severability.  If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase 

of this ordinance is declared unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such invalidity shall 

not affect the validity or effectiveness of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  

 

Section 4.  Summary, Publication, and Effective Date.  This Ordinance or a summary 

thereof consisting of the title, shall be published in the official newspaper of the City, and 

shall take effect and be in full force five (5) days after its adoption and publication as 

required by law. 
 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FIRCREST, 

WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of November 2024. 

 

 

      APPROVED: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

   Shannon Reynolds, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

   Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

_________________________________ 

   Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

 

43



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: 2025 Property Tax Ordinance  

ITEM: 13C 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Dawn Masko, City Manager 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Ordinance No. _____, fixing the amount of 

the annual ad valorem tax levy necessary for the fiscal year 2025, providing for severability, 

and establishing an effective date. 

 

PROPOSAL: The City Council is being asked to fix the annual ad valorem tax levy necessary for 

the fiscal year 2025. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: The proposed ordinance will allow the City to levy the necessary amount to 

fund City operations in 2025. 

 

Below are the ad valorem taxes being proposed for 2025: 

 

Total Assessed Valuation for Regular and EMS Levy $1,489,362,186 

  

    Regular Levy Rate of $1.16791 per thousand shall yield $1,739,444.45 

    + Administrative Refunds  4,111.15 

    Total Regular Levy $1,743,555.60 

  

    EMS Levy Rate of $0.38629 per thousand shall yield $575,328.12 

    + Administrative Refunds 1,360.26 

    Total EMS Levy $576,688.38 

  

Total Assessed Valuation for Excess (Voter Approved) Levy  $1,471,307,906 

  

    Excess (Park Bonds) Levy Rate of $0.32262 per thousand shall yield $474,676.00 

    + Administrative Refunds 2,715.87 

    Total Excess (Parks Bond) Levy $477,391.87 

  

Total Levy Rate of approximately $1.87682 per thousand shall yield $2,789,448.57 

+ Administrative Refunds 8,187.28 

Total Approximate Levy Amount $2,797,635.85 

 

 

ADVANTAGES: This proposal will provide the necessary funds for 2025 City operations.   
 

DISADVANTAGES: None identified.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  None identified.  

44



BACKGROUND: The Council fixes ad valorem taxes annually by ordinance prior to submitting 

the levy amounts to Pierce County to be certified. 

 

Per RCW 84.52.020, the City of Fircrest must adopt its property tax certification by November 30, 

2024, and file it with Pierce County for property taxes to be collected in 2025.  The City is limited 

to a one percent (1%) increase in property tax revenue over the 2024 base property tax, plus an 

increase from new construction, prior year administrative refunds, and any increases in state-

assessed property. 

 

The attached ordinance sets the regular, EMS, and excess (voter-approved) levies for 2025. 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Ordinance 

   Levy Certification 

   Property Tax Slides  

    

45

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=84.52.020


 

Page 1 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

                                         ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, FIXING THE AMOUNT OF THE ANNUAL 

AD VALOREM TAX LEVY NECESSARY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2025; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND ESTABLISHING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Fircrest has met and considered its budget 

for the calendar year 2025; and 
 

WHEREAS, the population of this district is less than 10,000; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted the public hearing on the 2025 revenue sources 

on October 22, 2025; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest’s actual regular levy amount from the previous year was 

$1,717,206.44; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest’s actual EMS levy amount for the previous year was 

$567,986.73; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Pierce County Assessor-Treasurer has notified the City of Fircrest that 

the preliminary assessed valuation of the property lying within the boundaries of said City 

for the assessment year 2024 is $1,489,362,186, and the taxable value for the excess 

(voter-approved) levy is $1,471,307,906; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council, after reviewing and duly considering all relevant 

evidence, has determined it is in the City’s best interest and necessary to meet its expenses 

and obligations to increase the regular property tax levy and EMS property tax levy as 

described below for 2025; and 
 

WHEREAS, on April 23, 2019, Fircrest Proposition No. 1 (Pool, Community Center, 

and Parks Bonds) for the issuance of unlimited general obligation bonds was approved 

by the voters; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City is required to set and establish the property tax levy rate for excess 

levies for general obligation bond issues approved by the voters, including subsequent 

refunded bond issues, subject to limitations imposed by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, the below is a true and complete listing of property tax levies for the City 

of Fircrest for tax year 2025 and they are within the maximums established by law: 

 

Total Assessed Valuation for Regular and EMS Levy  $1,489,362,186 

  Regular Levy @ $1.16791 per thousand shall yield $ 1,739,444.45 

  EMS Levy @ $0.38629 per thousand shall yield $ 575,328.12 

46



 

Page 2 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

Total Assessed Valuation for Park Bond Levy $1,471,307,906 

  Park Bond Levy @ $0.32262 per thousand shall yield $474,676.00 

 

Total all property tax levies @ $1.87682 per thousand shall yield $ 2,789,448.57 

+ Administrative Refunds 8,187.28 

Total Property Tax Levy Amount $2,797,635.85 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FIRCREST DO 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

  

Section 1.  Regular Property Tax Levy. An increase in the Regular property tax levy is 

hereby authorized for the levy to be collected in the 2025 tax year. 

 

The dollar amount of the increase over the actual regular levy amount from the previous 

year (1,717,206.44) shall be $15,028.49, which is a percentage increase of 0.8752% from 

the previous year. This is exclusive of additional revenue resulting from new construction 

and improvements to property ($7,209.51), any increase in the value of state-assessed 

property ($0), any annexations that have occurred and refunds made ($4,111.15).  

 

Section 2. EMS Property Tax Levy. An increase in the EMS property tax levy is hereby 

authorized for the levy to be collected in the 2025 tax year.  

 

The dollar amount of the increase over the actual EMS levy amount from the previous 

year (567,986.73) shall be $4,956.75, which is a percentage increase of 0.873% from the 

previous year. This is exclusive of additional revenue resulting from new construction 

and improvements to property ($2,384.63), any increase in the value of state-assessed 

property ($0), any annexations that have occurred and refunds made ($1,360.26). 

 

Section 3. Said taxes herein provided for are levied for the purpose of raising revenue 

sufficient to pay the current expense and street expenditures and for carrying on the work 

of the different departments of the municipal government of the City of Fircrest for the 

fiscal year beginning January 1, 2025 and ending December 31, 2025 and the same are 

hereby levied upon all real and personal property within the City of Fircrest subject to 

taxation and as shown by the assessment in the County of Pierce as finally fixed by law. 

 

Section 4. Voter-Approved Excess Tax Levy for Unlimited General Obligation 

Bonds. In addition, a further tax is hereby levied to raise revenue to provide for the 

interest and redemption of the 2019 voter-approved unlimited general obligation bonds 

for the fiscal year of 2025 in the amount of $474,676.00. This tax is applicable to all 

taxable property within the City of Fircrest. This is exclusive of refunds made 

($2,715.87). 

 

Section 5.  Notification.  The City Manager is directed to certify the dollar amount to be 

raised on real and personal property and to transmit the certification of same to the Pierce 

County Council and the Pierce County Assessor-Treasurer’s Office. 

47



 

Page 3 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

 

Section 6. Corrections.  The City Clerk and codifiers of the ordinance are authorized 

to make necessary corrections to this ordinance including, but not limited to, the 

correction of scrivener/clerical errors, references, ordinance numbering, 

section/subsection numbers and any references thereto. 

 

Section 7. Severability.  If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or 

phrase of this ordinance is declared unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such 

invalidity shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the remaining portions of this 

ordinance.  

 

Section 8.  Summary, Publication, and Effective Date.  This Ordinance or a summary 

thereof consisting of the title, shall be published in the official newspaper of the City, 

and shall take effect and be in full force five (5) days after its adoption and publication 

as required by law. 

 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FIRCREST, 

WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of November 2024. 

 

 

      APPROVED: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

   Shannon Reynolds, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 
 

 

_________________________________ 

   Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 

_________________________________ 

   Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

 
   Publication Date:  

   Effective Date:  

 

 (Ordinance No._____) 

48



49

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight



50

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight



51

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight



52

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight

Dawn Masko
Highlight



Form 64 0100 

Levy Certification 
Submit this document, or something similar, to the county legislative 
authority on or before November 30 of the year preceding the year in which

the levy amounts are to be collected. 

Courtesy copy may be provided to the county assessor. 

This form is not designed for the certification of levies under RCW 84.52.070. 

In accordance with RCW 84.52.020, I (Name), 

do hereby certify to the 

that the 

(Title), for (District name), 

(Name of county) County legislative authority 

(Commissioners, Council, Board, etc.) of said district requests 

that the following levy amounts be collected in (Year of collection) as provided in the district's 

budget, which was adopted following a public hearing held on (Date of public hearing). 

Regular levies 

Levy General levy Other levy* 

Total certified levy request 
amount, which includes the

amounts below. 

Administrative refund amount 

Non-voted bond debt amount 

Other* 

Excess levies 

General 
Levy (n/a for school 

districts) 

Total certified levy 
request amount, 
which includes the 

amounts below. 

Administrative refund 

amount 

Other* 

Enrichment 
Bond (school Cap. project 

districts only) --

*Examples of other levy types may include EMS, school district transportation, or construction levies.

Examples of other amounts may include levy error correction or adjudicated refund amount. Please include

a description when using the "other" options.

Signature: ______________ Date: _______ _ 

To request this document in an alternate format, please complete the form dor.wa.gov/A cessibilityRequest 
or call 360-705-6705. Teletype (TTY) users please dial 711. 

REV 64 0100 (8/27/21) Page 1 of 1 

Dawn Masko

City Manager the City of Fircrest

Pierce

Council

2025

10/22/2024

EMS

$1,743,555.60 $576,688.38

$      4,111.15 $    1,360.26

$477,391.87

$    2,715.87

53



2025 Property Tax

City of Fircrest

54



Assessed Valuation
Regular Property 

Tax Levy
Regular 

Levy Rate
Assessed ValuationLevy Year

1,552,2902.14847722,509,3792017

1,571,6351.95338804,570,8652018

1,590,6181.75501906,305,9872019

1,600,0481.62503984,627,8392020

1,607,5491.483731,083,449,8102021

1,628,9931.296161,256,783,0092022

1,699,0771.158141,467,075,5902023

1,717,2061.170821,466,669,2942024

1,743,5561.167911,489,362,1862025

New Construction
Property Tax 

Increase
New Construction 

Assessed Valuation
Levy Year

3,4111,458,8832017

4,2501,978,0532018

3,9132,003,2562019

6,1613,510,6702020

10,0116,160,8002021

21,38114,410,0002022

3,5782,760,7752023

1,140984,1002024

7,2106,157,6602025

55



EMS Levy
EMS Property Tax 

Levy
EMS Levy 

Rate
Assessed ValuationLevy Year

322,2560.44602722,509,3792017

326,0930.40530804,570,8652018

330,2240.36436906,305,9872019

335,1950.34043984,627,8392020

541,6570.499941,083,449,8102021

554,8400.441481,256,783,0092022

561,9290.383031,467,075,5902023

567,9870.387261,477,386,2802024

576,6880.386291,489,362,1862025

Property Tax Calculation

*These calculations are based on Pierce County’s preliminary values.  Final values will be released in early 
December and may result in updated numbers. These numbers may include rounding adjustments.

5

$1,717,206Prior Year’s Actual Levy 

+1% Statutory Limit Increase (Council option)
17,151$1,717,206 x 1% (Inflationary increase)

-2,122- $2,122 (2024 Admin Refunds)

+ New Construction Assessed Valuation x
7,2102024 Property Tax Rate ($6,157,660 x $1.17082)

4,111+ Administrative Refunds

$1,743,556= Total Levy Amount

Total Levy – Admin Refunds ÷ Total Assessed Valuation = Levy Rate

$1.16791(($1,743,556 – $4,111) ÷ $1,489,362,186)) x $1,000 AV = 

56



6

City Property Tax Comparisons

$3.69

$3.39

$2.91

$2.56

$2.52

$2.33

$2.29

$2.24

$1.98

$1.87

$1.87

$1.71

 University Place

 Lakewood

 Gig Harbor

 Sumner

 Milton

 Edgewood

 Puyallup

 Tacoma

 Fife

 Steilacoom

 Fircrest

 Ruston

2024 Property Tax Levy Rate Comparison
(Regular, Fire & EMS City Levies)

7

City Property Tax Comparisons

$11.45

$11.11

$10.49

$10.32

$9.98

$9.52

$9.48

$9.45

$9.36

$9.10

$8.60

$8.47

 University Place

 Tacoma

 Lakewood

 Sumner

 Milton

 Fircrest

 Edgewood

 Fife

 Ruston

 Puyallup

 Steilacoom

 Gig Harbor

2024 Property Tax Levy Rate Comparison
(Total City Tax Rates)

57



8

Where Did Your 2024
Property Tax Dollar Go?

Steilacoom School District
37.1 cents
Steilacoom School District
37.1 cents

Tacoma School 
District

43.8 cents

State of Washington
24.3 cents

Pierce 
County

8.1 cents

Fircrest Parks 
Bond

3.3 cents

Port of 
Tacoma

1.4 cents

City of
Fircrest

12.3 cents

Regional Transit 
Authority
1.7 cents

EMS Levy 
4.1 cents

Flood 
Control
1.0 cent

9

2024 Property Tax Levy
(per $1,000 Assessed Valuation)

Tacoma School District 4.16385$  

State of WA 2.31206 

City of Fircrest 1.17082 

Pierce County 0.77039 

EMS Levy 0.38727 

Fircrest Parks Bond 0.31099 

RTA 0.16483 

Port of Tacoma 0.13687 

Flood Control 0.09934 

TOTAL LEVY 9.51643$  

2024 PROPERTY TAX LEVY

58



10

Where Did Your 2024
Property Tax Dollar Go?

Steilacoom School District
37.1 cents
Steilacoom School District
37.1 cents

University Place 
School District

42.3 cents

State of Washington
24.9 cents

Pierce 
County

8.3 cents

Fircrest Parks 
Bond

3.3 cents

Port of 
Tacoma

1.5 cents

City of
Fircrest

12.6 cents

Regional Transit 
Authority
1.8 cents

EMS Levy 
4.2 cents

Flood 
Control

1.1 cents

11

2024 Property Tax Levy
(per $1,000 Assessed Valuation)

University Place School District 3.93180$  

State of WA 2.31206 

City of Fircrest 1.17082 

Pierce County 0.77039 

EMS Levy 0.38727 

Fircrest Parks Bond 0.31099 

RTA 0.16483 

Port of Tacoma 0.13687 

Flood Control 0.09934 

TOTAL LEVY 9.28438$  

2024 PROPERTY TAX LEVY

59



12

Property Tax Levy

Tax AmountRegular 
Levy Rate

Median 
Assessed 
Valuation

Tax Year

$653.87$1.16791$559,8622025 Proposed

$660.16$1.17082$568,6392024

$659.16$1.15814$569,1542023

$625.52$1.29616$482,5962022

City portion of property taxes, based on average single-family residential assessed 
values provided by Pierce County.  Levy rates are rounded.

13

2025 Proposed Property Tax Levies

Anticipated 
Levy Rate

Proposed 
Levy 

Amount
Levy Type

$1.16791$1,743,556Regular
0.38629576,688EMS
0.32262477,392Parks Bond

$1.87682$2,797,636City Total

Proposed levy amounts include additional revenue from administrative refunds & 
increase in state-assessed property from the prior year.  Levy rates are rounded. 

60



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Whittier Park Master Plan Adoption  

ITEM: 13D 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Jeff Grover, Parks and Recreation Director 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, approving and 
adopting the 2024 Whittier Park Master Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit “A.”   
 
PROPOSAL: The City Council is being asked to approve and adopt the 2024 Whittier Park 
Master Plan as the official Master Plan for Whittier Park. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: There is no fiscal impact to adopt the 2024 Whittier Park Master Plan. 
 
ADVANTAGES: Adopting the Whittier Park Master Plan offers substantial benefits to the 
Fircrest community, addressing both current needs and aspirations while incorporating design 
elements that ensure the park remains functional and inviting for generations.  The plan serves as 
a strategic roadmap for phased improvements, facilitating efficient resource allocation and 
fostering community involvement.  Ultimately, the Whittier Park Master Plan embodies a vibrant, 
enduring space that reflects Fircrest’s identity and meets resident’s needs now and in the future.  
This adoption stands as a testament to Fircrest’s commitment to enhancing its local parks and green 
spaces. 
 
DISADVANTAGES: None.   
 
ALTERNATIVES:  Do not adopt the 2024 Whittier Park Master Plan.  
 
BACKGROUND: The Whittier Park Master Plan project was launched to address the evolving 
needs of the Fircrest community and to create a public space that reflects both current and future 
community values.  Initial discussions highlighted the need for a comprehensive approach to 
enhance recreational opportunities, promote environmental sustainability, and foster community 
engagement.  Throughout 2023 and 2024, a series of community meetings led by AHBL’s 
Landscape Architecture division gathered valuable resident input.  This feedback revealed a strong 
desire for a park design that meets contemporary needs while incorporating timeless elements.  
The community’s insights shaped the vision for Whittier Park, emphasizing inclusivity and 
accessibility for all ages. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 
   Exhibit A – Whittier Park Master Plan 
   Whittier Park Master Plan Presentation 

61



 

Page 1 of 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, ADOPTING THE WHITTIER PARK 

MASTER PLAN.   

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest contracted with AHBL, Inc. in June 2023 to lead the 

City through a master planning process for Whittier Park; and 

 

WHEREAS, AHBL worked with City staff to hold three community engagement 

sessions, and presented draft Master Plan concepts to the City Council at the July 15, 

2024, Council Study Session and October 8, 2024, City Council Meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, based on meetings with City staff, City Council, AHBL’s research and 

exploration, and most importantly, the community engagement sessions and community 

survey results, AHBL has developed a preferred Whittier Park Master Plan concept; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Whittier Park Master Plan captures the needs and desires of today’s 

Fircrest community while incorporating timeless design elements that will last for 

decades to come. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 

 

Section 1. The 2024 Whittier Park Master Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”,  is hereby 

adopted as the official Master Plan for Whittier Park. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of November 

2024. 

 

               APPROVED: 

 

                                         _____________________________ 

               Shannon Reynolds, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________   

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 
 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

____________________________________ 

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

62



WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT

Sport Courts: 1x Tennis, 3x Pickleball, 1x Basketball10Parking, Maintain Existing1

Baseball / Softball Field
Little League: 200’ min
Softball: 250’ - 275’

6

Work Out Stations and Benches2

Revealed Creek and Nature Play7

Soccer Field
Width: 165’ min - 240’ max x Length: 300’ min x 
360’ max

3

Expanded Trails8

Accessible Pathways4

Boardwalk9

Spectator Seating5 Picnic Shelters11

Restroom, Storage and Concessions Area12

LEGEND

PREFERRED CONCEPT

2

3

5

ELM TREE LANE

CO
N

TR
A

 C
O

ST
A

 A
V

EN
U

E

1

12
11

4

6

10

9

7

8

ALTADENA DRIVE

A
N

N
A

P
O

LI
S 

ST
R

EE
T

WHITTIER 
ELEMENTARY 
SCHOOL

85

EXHIBIT A

63



� �m 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST m --

64



Whittier Park Existing Conditions 
Nelghbcxhood 

• 

• 

• 

• 

. 

• 

• 

• 

• 
••• •••••••••••••••••• • 

i Wedand i 

Buffer 

History of Place 
Whittier Park is centrally located within 

the city of Fircrest east of Contra Cost 

Ave. It has long been used as a sports 

recreation center 

Current 
Whittier Park contains environmentals 

significance because of its adjacent 

watershed system, which connecting 

Leach Creek, Flett Creek, Clover Creek, and 

Chambers Creek to the Tacoma Narrows 

Future 
Improving exisitng amenities for equitable 

use, flexibity of programming, safety 

and sustainabilty is being driven by a 

participatory design process 

� mm 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFJRCREST m --

65



Project Overview 

"What guides parks developement?11

* * * * 

* = community input opportunity

� mm 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFJRCREST m --

66



Receiving Feedback 

Programming 
Community Meeting 1 

•What has occurred at Whittier Park.

•What is happening now.

•What changes will make the park experience better.

Online Survey

Site Plan Options 
•Design team will review comments/ feedback to develop

three different concepts.

Community Meeting 2

•Reviewing concepts & selecting amenities/ layout

preferences.

Preferred Plan
•Design team reviews dot exercise, comments, and counts

voting.

Community Meeting 3

•Review two site options and vote for your preferred design

Final Plan 
•Design team will review voting ballots/ comments and

develop a final site plan.

� um 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST mA 

67



68



Answers to ... 

What would you like to see at the park? 
Top Six Results:

Soccer 

Covered 

Areas 

Trails 

Trees 

� um 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST mA 

69



Comments to ... 

What concerns or questions do you have? 

Results: 

Contain Lighting AddBotanica/Signs 
Add Boardwalk CovetvdPicnic'/ab/os Walking Lane 

P/ayground
L 

• ht • 

Do Not Pave 

N°;;''f;,;;r I g Ing 
�IIMa;n,a;ned 

No Pickleba/1 BocceNotaPriority Track DaylightCreek 
All Season walking Path Mural 

Soften Planting Edge Locked Restrooms 
• • 

Parking 
DM

ore Trees. Too Wet 
Add P,cn,c Tables 

ClearViews r;a,nage Noise
No Asphalt Update.Basketba!/Court 

Supervised 
T,med-1,ghts 

No Skate Boarding Natural Field Save MW;t,;
e

�
s

d 

No Dogs Location of Pickleball 
• 

Add Secured Res�room 

EXP.and 71�a'/s
PreserveTra,ls Splash Pad No Field Rented

Timed Field Lights Who's Funding? 
NoCommunityGarden AddMotionDetectors

s 

-

,

··•boutE�i=m•ot Angle of Lights 
T.urf i=,•elds a te¥ U�date_ Tennis Courts 
I I r I Flood,ng Neighbors 

Add LED Lights 
Little Concrete 

� um 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST mA 

70



Public Meeting #1 Summary - Design Exercise 

MAKING A GREAT PARK FOR THE NEIGH 

� um 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST mA 

71



72



Public Meeting #2 Summary - Dot Exercise 

Concept 1: Leach Creek Runs 

Through it 

Riparian Creek Run 
Through 

Expandedlralls ,-- ----

NaturePlarStructure 

Boardwalk 

Natural Field 

Ropes Course 

10 15 20 

Concept 2: Community Anchor 

Natural Grass Field 

Pump Track 

Loop Trail 

Community Hub 

TradlllonalPlay 
Structure 

Synthetic Turf Field 

10 15 20 

Concept 3: Sports Complex 

Tennls,Plckleball, 
Basketball 

Covered Areas 

Accessible Path 

Natural Turf Field 

Expanded Parking 

SynthelicTurfFlelds 

10 15 20 

� �m 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST m --

73



Preferred Amenities Combined - Dot Exercise 

Natural Grass Field 

Tennis, Pickleball, Basketball 

Expanded Trails 

Nature Play Area 

Riparian Creek Run Through 

Community Hub 

Pump Track 

Accessible Path 

Boardwalk 

Expanded Parking 

Ropes Course 

Synthetic Turf Fields 

Traditional Play Structure 

::::J 

::::J 

J 

0 

I 

I 

I 

5 10 

I 

l 

I 

I 

l 

I 

15 20 25 

� um 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST mA 

74



Verbal Feedback 

This includes feedback that was verbally spoken to our team but was not reflected in the comment 

boards or dot activities. 

� um 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST mA 

75



Online Survery Results 

PROJECT MEMO 

TO: Jeff Grover 
Parks & Recreation Director 
City of Fircrest 

FROM: Craig Skipton 
Kiera Eason 
Seattle- (206) 267-2425 

SUBJECT: Community Survey Summary 

Fircrest Community Survey Summary 

DATE: February 28, 2024 

PROJECT NO.: 2230272 
PROJECT NAME: Whittier Park Master Plan 

As a part of the Whittier Park Master Plan Project, the City of Fircrest's consultants, AHBL, developed a 
Community Survey. The survey consisted of three main groups of questions: background, existing Whittier Park 
use, and community impressions. The following is a summary of responses and a compilation of written feedback. 

Respondent Age Range 

Wba_t__age rarige1_epreser1ts y.ou? 
80 or older 17 or younger l 18 • 2S 

l% I% - 2" 26-3SI 

"" 

Capturing the Community 
We understand that voices outside of the public 

meetings deserve to be heard in equal measure. The 

total respondants were: 

219 Survey Responses 
•What do you like to do at Whittier Park?

•What is missing in Whittier Park?

•What can enhance your experience and make

you want to come more? 

The full survey results helped drive our team in 

the design process 

� um 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST mA 

76



77



Final Two Designs 

Option A Option B 

� �m 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST m --

78



Voting Results 

Community Comments 
Alongside the voting processes, our team recorded 

verbal feedback and community trends. The voting 

ballot also asked for the following responses: 

What aspects of the concept you chose did you find 

most appealing? 

We welcome any additional feedback you may have 

regarding specific design elements. 

25 

TOTAL VOTES 

CONCEPT A CONCEPTB NEUTRAL 

� um 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST mA 

79



Preferred Concept 
LEGEND 

G) Parking, Maintain Existing 

@ Work Out Stations and Benches 

® 
Soccer Field, Synthetic Turf 

3 
Width: 165' min - 240' max x Length: 300' minx 360' max 

@ Accessible Pathways 

@) Spectator Seating 

fa\ Baseball/ Softball Field, Natural Grass 
� Little League: 200' min Softball: 250' - 275' 

0 Revealed Creek and Nature Play 

@ Expanded Trails 

® Boardwalk 

@ Sport Courts: 1x Tennis, 3x Pickleball, 1x Basketball 

@ Picnic Shelters 

@ Restroom, Storage and Concessions Area 

� �m 
WHITTIER PARK MASTER PLAN PROJECT 

THECITYOFFIRCREST m --

80



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Insurance Broker Service Agreement 

ITEM: 13E 

DATE: October 22, 2024 

FROM: Dawn Masko, City Manager 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, authorizing the City 

Manager to execute a Broker Service Agreement with Leavitt Group NW for insurance 

broker services. 

 

PROPOSAL: The City of Fircrest is a member of the Cities Insurance Association of Washington 

(CIAW) pool.  The Interlocal Agreement with CIAW requires the City to designate a servicing 

representative to act as the liaison for the needs of Fircrest.  The service representative’s duties 

include but are not limited to, providing local claims assistance, securing underwriting 

information, assisting with applications, updating vehicle and equipment lists, and performing 

other functions as determined by the CIAW Board of Directors.  Leavitt Group NW (previously 

Bannon, Carlson & Kessel, Inc.) has performed broker services for the City since December 2012.  

The attached resolution authorizes the City Manager to execute a Broker Service Agreement with 

Leavitt Group NW for continued insurance broker services.   
 

FISCAL IMPACT: The annual cost of services is $10,000, the same amount as the prior year. 

This item is included in the 2024 budget.   

 

ADVANTAGES: The execution of this agreement complies with the CIAW requirement to have 

a servicing representative.  Leavitt Group NW has provided valuable assistance in working with 

CIAW and with claims and preventative measures for the City. 
 

DISADVANTAGES: None.   
 

ALTERNATIVES: The City has the option to forgo designating a service representative, in which 

case we would be billed 10% of the annual cost for insurance by CIAW per the Interlocal 

Agreement.  Based on the 2024 CIAW assessment, this would amount to $33,719.  Alternatively, 

the City could seek bids from other qualified firms for these services. However, given current 

staffing levels and time constraints, staff believe this approach is not feasible at present.  
 

BACKGROUND: The City Council approved an Interlocal Agreement with CIAW on February 

12, 2008, effective March 1, 2008.  CIAW requires the City to contract with a servicing 

representative or pay a 10% premium based on the annual CIAW assessment.  The City has 

historically contracted with a local brokerage to provide services.  Leavitt Group NW, formerly 

Bannon, Carlson & Kessel, has provided this service to Fircrest since December 2012. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

   Broker Services Agreement 

81



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

MANAGER TO EXECUTE A BROKER SERVICES 

AGREEMENT WITH LEAVITT GROUP NW FOR 

INSURANCE BROKER SERVICES. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest is a member of the Cities Insurance Association of 

Washington (CIAW), and the Interlocal Agreement with CIAW requires the City to 

designate a service representative to act as the liaison for the needs of Fircrest; and 

 

WHEREAS, Leavitt Group NW has the required experience and expertise and has 

provided such services to the City of Fircrest for many years; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest has determined it is in the best interest of the City to 

continue utilizing Leavitt Group NW for insurance broker services. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 
 

Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute a broker services 

agreement with Leavitt Group NW for insurance broker services. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 22nd day of October 

2024.   

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_____________________________                 

                                                                     Shannon Reynolds, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________  

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_____________________________  

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

82



Page 1 of 6 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

BROKER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
THIS BROKER SERVICES AGREEMENT, hereinafter referred to as “Agreement” is entered into this ____ day 

of ___________, 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the City of Fircrest, a political subdivision of 

the State of Washington and hereinafter referred to as the “City” and Whitfield’s United Insurance 

Agencies, Inc., a Washington corporation doing business as Leavitt Group Northwest, hereinafter referred 

to as “Broker” in consideration of the mutual benefits, terms and conditions hereinafter specified. 
 

WHEREAS, the City has determined a need to have certain services performed for its citizens; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Broker is in the business of performing such services, which are described below. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The City of Fircrest is a member of the Cities Insurance Association of Washington (CIAW) through an 

Interlocal Agreement.  The Interlocal Agreement requires the City to designate a servicing 

representative acceptable to CIAW to provide service representative services for the City as defined 

in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, and other such functions as 

the CIAW Board of Directors may establish.   

 
2. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

Notwithstanding the date of execution hereof, this Agreement shall be in full force and effect for a 

period commencing November 12, 2024, and ending August 31, 2025, with automatic annual 

renewals thereafter until canceled per the terms of this Agreement. 
  

3. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

The Broker is an independent contractor and shall not be deemed, by virtue of this Agreement and 

the performance thereof, to have entered into any partnership, joint venture, employment, or other 

relationship with the City.  The Broker shall be responsible in full for payment of its employees, 

including worker’s compensation, insurance, payroll deductions, and all related costs.  In 

consideration of the compensation from the City to the Broker, the Broker is providing service 

representative services to the City. 

 

4. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement may be terminated by either party, with or without cause, upon sixty (60) days written 

notice served to the other party by certified mail.  In such case, the Broker shall be compensated by 

the City for all work performed to the date of termination or release from the Agreement.  

 

5. PAYMENT 

As consideration for the services rendered, the Broker shall be paid an annual fee not to exceed Ten 

thousand dollars ($10,000) without written modification of this Agreement signed by the City.  

Payment of the fee shall be paid within fourteen (14) days after the full signing of this Agreement, or, 

for any renewal periods, within fourteen (14) days after the annual anniversary of the Effective Date 

of this Agreement.  The fee may be adjusted on a negotiated basis in future years.  Should this 

Agreement be terminated prior to the expiration date, the Broker will refund a pro-rated share of the 

fee for the remaining term of this Agreement.  

83



Page 2 of 6 

6. ASSIGNMENT 

Neither the City nor the Broker shall assign, transfer, or encumber any rights, duties, or interest 

accruing from this Agreement nor sublet any of the services covered by this Agreement without the 

express written consent of the other party. 

 
7. BROKER’S REPRESENTATIONS 

The Broker hereby represents that it has all necessary licenses and certifications to perform the 

services provided for herein and is qualified to perform such services. 

 

8. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

The Broker shall be duly licensed and shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, and codes of 

the Federal, State, and local governments. Per Fircrest Municipal Code 5.04.020, the Broker agrees to 

obtain a City of Fircrest business license prior to performing any work pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
9. CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION 

All information and data furnished to the Broker by the City, and all other documents to which the 
Broker’s employees have access during the term of the Agreement, shall be treated as confidential to 
the City.  Any oral or written disclosure to unauthorized individuals is prohibited. 
 

10. LIMITS OF LIABILITY 

The City and the Broker shall indemnify and hold the other harmless from any and all claims for 

damages arising directly or indirectly from the negligence of the indemnitor relative to the work 

performed pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

 
11. NON-DISCRIMINATION 

The Broker agrees not to discriminate against any customer, employee, or applicant for employment, 
subcontractor, supplier, or materialman, because of race, religion, creed, color, national origin or 
ancestry, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, age, marital status, familial status, veteran or 
military status, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability, except for a bona fide 
occupational qualification. The Broker understands that if it violates this provision, this Agreement 
may be terminated by the City and that the Broker may be barred from performing any service for the 
City now or in the future. 
 

12. NON-WAIVER 

The waiver by the City of any provision of this Agreement or any time limitation provided for in this 

Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of any other provisions. 

 
13. RECORDKEEPING 

Broker shall maintain accounts, records, and documents related to the performance of this 

Agreement and shall make them available for the City’s inspection, auditing, or evaluation during 

normal business hours as reasonably needed by City to assess performance, compliance, and quality 

assurance under this Agreement.   
 

Except as otherwise authorized by the City, the Broker shall retain such records for a period of seven 

(7) years after receipt of the final payment under this Agreement or termination of this Agreement.   

 
 
 

84



Page 3 of 6 

14. TAXES 

Broker shall comply with federal, state, and local tax laws, Social Security Acts, Unemployment 
Compensation, and Workers Compensation Acts in so far as applicable to the performance of this 
Agreement.   
 

15. WASHINGTON LAW APPLIES 

This Agreement has been and shall be considered as having been made and executed within the State 

of Washington both as to interpretation and performance and shall be governed by and construed 

and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington, without regard to its conflicts 

of laws principles.  

 

16. VENUE STIPULATION 

Any action in law or equity, or judicial proceeding for the enforcement of this Agreement, or any of 

the provisions contained therein, shall be instituted and maintained in a state or federal court of 

competent jurisdiction only in Pierce County, Washington. 

 

17. SEVERABLE PROVISIONS 

Each provision of this Agreement is intended to be severable.  If any provision hereof is illegal or 
invalid for any reason whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the validity of the 
remainder of this Agreement. 
 

18. NOTICES 

Except for routine, operational communications, which may be delivered personally or transmitted 

by electronic mail, all notices required hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been 

duly given if delivered personally or mailed first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the parties at the 

following addresses, or such other addresses as the City or Broker may designate in the future: 
 

Notice to the City of Fircrest shall be sent to:  Notice to the Broker shall be sent to: 

City Manager 
City of Fircrest 
115 Ramsdell Street 
Fircrest, WA 98466 
 

 Whitfield’s United Insurance Agencies, Inc., a 
Washington corporation doing business as 
Leavitt Group Northwest 

Attn: ___________________________ 

Address: ________________________ 

________________________________ 

City/State/Zip Code:  

________________________________ 

With a copy to: 
 

City Clerk 
City of Fircrest 
115 Ramsdell Street 
Fircrest, WA 98466 

 

 

 

19. INTEGRATED AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, together with attachments or addenda, represents the entire and integrated 

Agreement between the representations or agreements, written or oral. This Agreement may be 

amended only by written instrument signed by both City and Broker. 

 

 

85



Page 4 of 6 

20. RESPONSIBILITIES OF BOTH PARTIES 

In consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 

a) Responsibilities of the Broker.  The Broker will have the responsibilities under this Agreement as 

described in Exhibit A. 
 

b) Responsibilities of the City of Fircrest.  The City shall cooperate fully with the Broker and the 

insurance companies with whom the Broker solicits in the performance of the Broker’s obligations 

in this Agreement.  
 

The City shall timely produce complete and accurate information including, but not limited to, 

current financial information, statements of value, loss information, and any other information 

necessary for the effectuation of insurance coverage at the request of the Broker.  The City further 

agrees to provide the Broker with notice of any material changes in the City’s business operations, 

risk exposures, or any other material information provided under this Agreement. 
 

The City shall pay all premiums and fees in a timely manner. 
 

The City shall review, confirm the accuracy, and recommend any changes to insurance policies 

issued to the City in addition to any review conducted by the Broker. 

 
BY THEIR SIGNATURES BELOW, the parties hereto have accepted and executed this Agreement as of the 

Effective Date stated above, which shall be the Effective Date for bonding purposes as applicable.  The 

undersigned Broker representative, by signature below, represents and warrants they are duly authorized 

to execute this legally binding Agreement for and on behalf of the Broker and further represents and 

warrants that the Broker is not suspended, debarred, or otherwise disqualified under federal, state, or 

local law from participating in this Agreement. 

 
 
CITY OF FIRCREST     WHITFIELD’S UNITED INSURANCE AGENCIES, INC.  

DBA LEAVITT GROUP NORTHWEST 
 

By: _______________________________  By: ________________________________ 

Dawn Masko, City Manager    

Printed Name: _______________________    

      

        Title: _______________________________  

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

     

By: ________________________________   

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney     

 
ATTEST: 

 
By: _______________________________    

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

86



Page 5 of 6 

EXHIBIT A 

 

The Broker agrees to provide representative services including but not limited to the following: 

1. Assist the City with Claims Handling: 

a. All City claims are to be reported to the Broker as soon as possible. 

b. The Broker will complete a claim reporting form for each claim and submit the claim to the 

proper insurance carrier. 

c. On all first-party claims, the Broker will negotiate on behalf of the City with the adjuster 

assigned by the insurance carrier.  In doing so, the Broker will advise the City as to the best 

possible settlement the City should expect to receive from the insurance carrier.  The Broker 

will negotiate based on the settlement plan agreed upon by the City. 

d. If any claim generates any need for a claims review committee, the Broker shall, at the City’s 

request, serve on such a committee as an advisor to the City. 

e. In the event of third-party claims, the Broker will, at the City’s request, advise the City from 

an insurance point of view and serve as a coordinator with claims adjusters, attorneys, and 

insurance carrier claims representatives.  

f. The Broker will notify the City regarding any coverage determinations made by the applicable 

insurance carrier. 

2. Assist the City with a quality Risk Management and Loss Control Program: 

a. Advise the City on Risk Management and Loss Control issues as they arise.  If needed, the 

Broker will work with the insurance carrier on Risk Management issues that need carrier 

input. 

b. Review the City’s Safety Program and provide suggestions. 

c. Serve as a coordinator between insurance carrier risk managers and the City. 

d. Assist with CIAW risk management programs and loss control programs as required. 

3. Market the City’s Insurance needs: 

a. Completion of documents necessary for the procuring of the City’s insurance coverage. 

b. Continue to review the package and pricing of CIAW programs to those offered by other 

insurance companies in the marketplace.  As needed, solicit alternative quotes and programs 

independent of CIAW. 

c. Review available quotes and coverages and advise the City on the options available along with 

the options for short and long-term implications. 

d. Analyze various options in insuring, including deductibles, self-insured retentions, and “no 

insurance.” 

e. As long as CIAW continues to be the City’s choice of insurance carrier, the Broker shall 

complete any necessary documents, applications, and other risk management requests as 

required or requested by CIAW. 

87



Page 6 of 6 

f. Continually advise the City as to the state of the insurance marketplace or risk-sharing groups 

and recommend insurance programs. 

g. Maintain all schedules and values for City properties and assist the City with establishing 

values for each.  These schedules shall include Real and Personal Property, Vehicles, Mobile 

Equipment, and other Inland Marine Schedules as needed. 

4. Miscellaneous Services: 

a. Obtain Certificates of Insurance. 

b. Review contracts and lease agreements regarding insurance requirements. 

c. Review all coverage forms and advise the City on coverage interpretations. 

d. The Broker shall be designated as the City’s service representative to the CIAW.  The Broker 

shall keep the City advised as to the status of all CIAW programs. 

e. Perform any additional reasonable, related services and/or duties as may be needed during 

the term of this contract. 

f. Other functions that the CIAW Board of Directors may, from time to time, establish by 

resolution. 

 

88



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Resolution Amending Contract with Olbrechts & Associates, PLLC for 

Hearing Examiner Services 

ITEM: 13F 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Dawn Masko, City Manager 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, authorizing the City 

Manager to execute Amendment #5 to the Professional Services Agreement with Olbrechts 

& Associates, PLLC, for Hearing Examiner services. 

 

PROPOSAL: The City Council is being asked to authorize the City Manager to execute an 

amendment to the Professional Services Agreement with Olbrechts & Associates, PLLC, to extend 

the date of the agreement to December 31, 2025, and update the fees for services. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: There is a proposed rate increase of $5.00 per hour.  The current rate is $185 

per hour, and the new rate would be $190 per hour.  There would be minimal fiscal impact on the 

City as the cost of the Hearing Examiner is passed along to the applicant.      

 

ADVANTAGES: Mr. Olbrechts brings two decades of hearing examiner experience and has an 

approach that makes the hearing process accessible and understandable to all participants. 
 

DISADVANTAGES: None identified.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  The City could consider another firm with equivalent experience.  
 

BACKGROUND: Olbrechts & Associates has provided Fircrest with hearing examiner services 

since May 2019, conducting quasi-judicial hearings on complex land use and regulatory 

compliance issues.    

 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

   Olbrechts & Associates Contract Amendment #5  

    

89



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN AMENDMENT TO THE 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

OLBRECHTS & ASSOCIATES, PLLC FOR HEARING 

EXAMINER SERVICES. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest has contracted with Olbrechts & Associates, PLLC, to 

provide hearing examiner services; and 

 

WHEREAS, the current contract term will expire on December 31, 2024; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 6 of said Agreement provides for the option to extend the term of 

the Agreement for one year; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 17 of said Agreement provides for the hourly rate of the Hearing 

Examiner; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest desires to maintain these services. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 
 

Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute Amendment #4 

to the Professional Services Agreement with Olbrechts & Associates, PLLC, for Hearing 

Examiner services, extending the term of the agreement through December 31, 2025, and 

increasing the hourly compensation. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of November 

2024.   
 

APPROVED: 
 

 

_____________________________                 

                                                                     Shannon Reynolds, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________  

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_____________________________  

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 90



 

AMENDMENT #5 
TO THE CITY OF FIRCREST 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH OLBRECHTS & ASSOCIATES, PLLC, 
FOR HEARING EXAMINER SERVICES 

 

This amendment is hereby made and entered into this 12th day of November 2024 by and 
between the City of Fircrest, a political subdivision of the State of Washington, hereinafter referred 
to as the “City,” and Olbrechts & Associates, PLLC, hereinafter referred to as “Consultant.” 

WITNESSETH: 

1. Purpose 
The purpose of this second amendment is to amend the May 14, 2019 agreement. This 
amendment is limited to the amendments as set forth herein. All of the remaining terms and 
conditions of the May 14, 2019, agreement shall remain in full force and effect. The amendment 
is as follows:  
 
2. Section 6 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

Term of Agreement: This agreement shall be in effect from January 1, 2025, to December 31, 
2025, and may be renewed yearly thereafter. Either party may terminate this Agreement 
upon thirty (30) days written notice to the other party.  

 
3. Section 17 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

Compensation: The hourly rate for the hearing examiner is $190.00; alternate attorney 
examiners will be billed at 90% of that rate ($171.00); planner examiners will be billed at 75% 
of that rate ($142.50); and decision writers will be billed at up to $70.00 per hour.  Clerks will 
be billed at $30.00 per hour.  In addition to the hourly rate, the IRS rate for mileage will be 
charged from Seattle or the home/office of the presiding examiner, whichever distance is 
shorter, as well as any incidental costs such as transcription fees.  Hearings will be charged at 
a total daily minimum of one hour for both examiners and clerks. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to these presents have executed this contract in duplicate, 
each of which shall be deemed as originals, in the year and day first above mentioned.  
 

CITY OF FIRCREST OLBRECHTS & ASSOCIATES, PLLC 
         
 

 

By                                                                By                                                        
      Dawn Masko, City Manager         Phil Olbrechts         
 

 

Approved as to Form: 
 

 

 

By                                                                                           
      Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

91



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Resolution Amending Contract with Summit Law Group  

ITEM: 13G 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Dawn Masko, City Manager 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, authorizing the City 

Manager to execute Amendment #18 to the Professional Services Agreement with Summit 

Law Group for personnel legal services. 

 

PROPOSAL: The City Council is being asked to authorize the City Manager to execute the 

eighteenth amendment to the Professional Services Agreement with Summit Law Group to extend 

the date of the agreement to December 31, 2025, and amend the hourly rate schedule.  Summit 

Law Group provides personnel legal services to the City during collective bargaining and as other 

needs arise. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: The 2025 rate for the City’s primary counsel, John Lee, will be $400 per 

hour, up from $385 per hour in 2024.  Mr. Lee has extensive labor and employment experience, 

including bargaining.  Funds are available in the Personnel, Police, and each of the Utility Fund 

budgets for personnel or labor legal counsel expenditures. 

 

ADVANTAGES: Extending this agreement will provide continuity of service for any needs in 

2025.  Summit Law Group attorneys have worked with Fircrest for many years and have provided 

excellent service.   
 

DISADVANTAGES: None identified.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  Do not approve the Summit Law Group professional services agreement 

amendment and rely on our City Attorney or other legal professionals for personnel and labor-

related legal services.  
 

BACKGROUND: Summit Law Group has provided Fircrest with legal services since December 

2007.  Their attorneys have worked with Fircrest on personnel matters, labor negotiations, and 

arbitration services.  

 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

   Summit Law Group Contract Amendment #18  

   Exhibit A – 2025 Rate Schedule 

92



 

Page 1 of 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

MANAGER TO EXECUTE AMENDMENT #18 TO THE 

AGREEMENT WITH SUMMIT LAW GROUP TO PROVIDE 

PERSONNEL LEGAL SERVICES. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest has contracted with Summit Law Group for specialized 

personnel legal services; and 

 

WHEREAS, the firm of Summit Law Group has provided such services since December 

2007; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City desires to maintain continuity for personnel legal services.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 

 

Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute Amendment 

#18 to the agreement with Summit Law Group, extending the term of the agreement 

through December 31, 2025, and updating the hourly rates. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of 

November 2024. 

 

               APPROVED: 

 

                                         _____________________________ 

               Shannon Reynolds, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________   

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

____________________________________ 

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

 

93



AMENDMENT #18 

TO THE CITY OF FIRCREST 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH THE LEGAL FIRM OF SUMMIT LAW FOR 

PERSONNEL LEGAL SERVICES. 

 

This amendment is hereby made and entered into this 12th day of November 2024 by and between the City of 

Fircrest, a political subdivision of the State of Washington, hereinafter referred to as the “City” and Summit Law 

Group PLLC, hereinafter referred to as “Consultant’, to be effective January 1, 2025.  

 

WHEREAS:  

A. The City and Consultant entered into a Professional Services Agreement dated December 11, 2007, for 

specialized legal services to be provided by Summit Law Group. 

B. The Parties entered into a first amendment dated March 25, 2008, a second amendment dated November 

25, 2008, a third amendment dated December 8, 2009, a fourth amendment dated December 14, 2010, a 

fifth amendment dated December 13, 2011, a sixth amendment dated December 11, 2012, a seventh 

amendment dated November 26, 2013, a eighth amendment dated December 9, 2014, a ninth amendment 

dated November 24, 2015, a tenth amendment dated December 13, 2016, a eleventh amendment dated 

December 12, 2017, a twelfth amendment dated November 27, 2018, a thirteenth amendment dated 

November 27, 2019, a fourteenth amendment dated November 11, 2021, a fifteenth amendment dated 

November 23, 2021, a sixteenth amendment dated November 22, 2022, and a seventeenth amendment dated 

November 14, 2023. 

C. The Parties now desire to enter into this eighteenth amendment to extend the term and to update the hourly 

rate schedule for specialized legal services effective January 1, 2025. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree to the following terms and conditions: 
 

1. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement is from January 1, 2025, through December 31, 2025.  It may be 

terminated by either party upon 30 days written notice to the other party without any liability therefore, 

save and except that each party shall be required to make payments for work actually accomplished prior 

to the giving of said notice, it being the intent of the parties hereto that each party shall receive any and all 

consideration due under the terms and provisions hereof up to the date of the actual cessation of said 

agreement.  If the City terminates the Agreement, the Consultant shall only be paid for work completed up 

to the time they receive the written notice of termination.  
 

2. Fee Schedule is amended per Exhibit A 2025 Schedule of Current Rates.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to these presents have executed this contract in three counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed as originals, in the year and day first above mentioned.  
 

CITY OF FIRCREST      SUMMIT LAW GROUP PLLC 

 

By: ________________________   By: ________________________ 

Dawn Masko, City Manager  

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

 

By: ________________________  

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney  

 

ATTEST:  

 

By: ________________________  

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

94



95



FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 

NEW BUSINESS: Resolution Authorizing an Amended Interlocal Agreement with Pierce 

County for the Provision of Specialized Law Enforcement Services 

ITEM: 13H 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Dawn Masko, City Manager 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to authorize the City Manager to execute an 

amended Interlocal Agreement with Pierce County for specialized law enforcement services. 

PROPOSAL: The Council is being asked to authorize the City Manager to execute an amended 

Interlocal Agreement (“ILA”) with Pierce County for the provision of specialized law enforcement 

services from the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  The amended ILA does not change the 2025 per capita cost for services. 

BACKGROUND: At the September 10, 2024, City Council meeting, the Council authorized the 

City Manager to execute an ILA with Pierce County for specialized law enforcement services 

provided by the Pierce County Sheriff's Department. Since then, Pierce County has amended the 

ILA to include an additional section.  All other terms of the agreement remain unchanged, and the 

County is now requesting cities to sign the amended version of the ILA.  

The new section is as follows: 

Section 16. Agreement Administration, Communications, and Records.  

A. The County and the City shall each designate a Contract Manager to administer this

Agreement.  Contract Managers shall monitor service levels and budget provisions of

this Agreement.  During the term of this Agreement, the respective Contract Managers

will communicate as needed via telephone, e-mail or in person to relay information,

answer questions, or to raise concerns related to the goals and objectives of this

Agreement.

B. The Parties to this Agreement shall each maintain records which sufficiently and

properly reflect all direct and indirect costs expended by either Party in the performance

of the services described herein.  These records shall be subject to inspection, review

or audit by personnel of either/both Parties, other personnel duly authorized by either

Party, the Office of the State Auditor, and federal officials so authorized by law.  All

records relevant to this Agreement will be retained for six (6) years after expiration and

the State Auditor, federal auditors, and any persons duly authorized by the Parties shall

have full access and the right to examine these materials during this period.

ADVANTAGES: N/A 

DISADVANTAGES: None identified.  

96



ALTERNATIVES:  Not execute the amended Interlocal Agreement to provide specialized 

services and pay per incident if services are needed.  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

   Interlocal Agreement 

    

 

    

97



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

MANAGER TO ENTER INTO AN AMENDED INTERLOCAL 

AGREEMENT WITH PIERCE COUNTY TO PROVIDE 

SPECIALIZED LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES TO THE CITY 

OF FIRCREST. 

 

WHEREAS, both the City of Fircrest and Pierce County have a responsibility to provide 

law enforcement services within their respective boundaries; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department possesses specialized equipment 

and expertise to respond to certain law enforcement situations that exceed the current 

resources of the Fircrest Police Department; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department is willing to provide these 

specialized services by agreement on a per capita basis to the City of Fircrest; and 

 

WHEREAS, such agreements are authorized pursuant to the Interlocal Cooperation Act, 

Chapter 39.34 RCW, and the Washington Mutual Aid Peace Powers Act, Chapter 10.93 

RCW; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the interest of public safety to have these specialized resources 

available to respond to incidents within our city that exceed our current resources and 

capabilities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council authorized the City Manager to enter into an Interlocal 

Agreement (“ILA”) with Pierce County for specialized law enforcement services on 

September 10, 2024, via Resolution No. 1924; and 

 

WHEREAS, Pierce County has since amended the agreement to add Section 16. 

Agreement Administration, Communications, and Records, and has requested the City 

sign this amended ILA to incorporate the addition of this Section; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds it is in the best interest of the City and the County to 

ensure the additional language of new Section 16 is incorporated into the ILA previously 

approved by the Council, to ensure consistency among all ILAs entered into on this 

subject between Pierce County and municipalities. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 
 

Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute an Interlocal 

Agreement with Pierce County to provide specialized law enforcement services to the City 

of Fircrest. 

 

98

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=39.34
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=10.93
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=10.93


 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of November 

2024.   

 

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_____________________________                 

                                                                     Shannon Reynolds, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________  

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_____________________________  

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

99



1 
 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

PIERCE COUNTY AND THE CITY OF FIRCREST 

FOR THE PROVISION OF SPECIALIZED LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES 

 

 

THIS INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between PIERCE COUNTY, a 

political subdivision of the State of Washington (“County”) and THE CITY OF FIRCREST, a municipal 

corporation of the State of Washington (“City”) (together, “Parties”) as follows: 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest on behalf of the Fircrest Police Department has requested the County 

provide certain law enforcement services to the City; and 

WHEREAS, the County has the resources necessary through the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department 

(PCSD) to provide specialized law enforcement services to the City; and  

WHEREAS, the County is willing to provide these services to the City; and 

WHEREAS, the parties previously entered into an agreement for specialized law enforcement services 

on March 16, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, the parties are authorized to enter into such agreements by virtue of RCW Chapter 39.34, 

the Interlocal Cooperation Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions contained herein, it is mutually agreed 

by and between the County and the City as follows: 

 

SECTION 1. PURPOSE. 

The purpose of this agreement is for the County to provide the City with specialized law enforcement 

services by and through the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department.  Both parties to this agreement have 

responsibility to provide police protection within their respective boundaries.  The Pierce County 

Sheriff’s Department has developed an expertise in certain areas of specialized response.  The City 

recognizes that the expertise of the County, and the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department, would be of 

benefit in such matters.  In order to allow towns and cities to take advantage of the expertise of the 

County, the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department is willing to provide certain services on a reimbursable 

basis.  This agreement sets forth the respective rights and duties of each of the parties in the provision 

of these services. 

100



2 
 

SECTION 2.  DUTIES/RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COUNTY. 

A. To provide access to the agreed upon services between the Sheriff’s Department and the City. 

B. To provide a timely response for services requested. 

C. To provide all necessary personnel and command. 

D. To provide all reasonably needed and necessary equipment for the response. 

E. To handle the call to completion, to include all necessary reports, testimony, or other follow-up. 

F. To provide a full and complete invoice on all services, personnel and equipment utilized 

hereunder, only if the per response billing basis option is pre-selected by the City. 

SECTION 3.  DUTIES/RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CITY. 

A. To determine when to request specialized services from the County. 

B. To provide a contact person of command level to act as liaison between the contracting 

agencies. 

C. To provide traffic control or other perimeter security as may be required. 

D. To provide schematics, floor plans, or other items of information which may be required as part 

of a response. 

E. To allow training at sites within the City as may be desired by the County to assure 

knowledgeable response. 

F. To provide reimbursement hereunder for the services rendered. 

SECTION 4.  JOINT DUTIES/RESPONSIBILITIES. 

A. To provide joint law enforcement response as necessary to keep and restore the peace. 

B. To complete and submit all necessary reports, documents, and other needed information in a 

timely manner for any law enforcement or prosecution need. 

C. To mutually cooperate to assure the success of any and all law enforcement missions. 

SECTION 5.  SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS. 

The County will provide the specialized law enforcement services as described in the categories below 

within the City’s service area.  The type of service selected by the City and cost for service provided by 

the County is detailed in “Exhibit A”, which is also attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 

reference.   

A. Major Crimes Investigations:  This service shall consist of criminal investigation carried out by 

detectives often in conjunction with forensic trained individuals when necessary.  Investigations 

will be supported by crime scene analysis, crime laboratory, polygraph, identifications, evidence 

control, Automatic Fingerprint Identification System (AFIS) and any other technology then in the 

possession of the Sheriff and determined by the lead investigator as appropriate for the 

investigation.  Unless otherwise agreed by the County, the crimes to be investigated shall 

typically be homicides, abductions, and aggravated assaults which involve substantial bodily 

harm as set forth by RCW 9A.04.110 or the possibility of death. 

101



3 
 

This service will only be available on a pre-determined hourly basis or on a pre-determined per 

capita basis. 

 

For other felony crimes that are not homicides, abductions, or aggravated assaults, members of 

the Sheriff’s Criminal Investigations Bureau can be requested through the Sheriff’s CDO on a per 

hourly basis. 

 

B. Major Crimes Forensics:  This service shall be for major crimes outlined in Section A and shall 

include a fully trained Forensics Investigator who shall have the ability and training to take 

photographs and measurements, document other important physical evidence, obtain and 

process fingerprints, utilize all technology available to the Forensics Investigator, and perform all 

other services and procedures to assist in the processing of a crime scene or subject.  Forensics 

will respond to incidents after-hours if a Sheriff’s detective will be acting as the lead 

investigator. 

 

This service will be available for major crimes on a pre-determined hourly basis or on a pre-

determined per capita basis.   

 

Forensics services for crimes other than the major crimes outlined in Section A can be requested 

through the Sheriff’s CDO on a pre-determined hourly basis. 

 

If only forensics services – and no detective services – are provided by members of the Sheriff’s 

Department in response to an incident, then all property/evidence collected by forensics will be 

retained by the lead agency in the investigation and not the Sheriff’s Department. 

 

C. Internal Affairs Investigations:  This service shall involve a member of the Sheriff’s Department 

who shall perform any matter involving an Internal Affairs complaint or investigation.  The 

investigator will be trained in investigating such matters and will provide Garrity warnings and 

other aspects of due process, etc. which are required by law, contract, etc.  If needed, polygraph 

services may be included for such services.  Unless otherwise agreed by the County, the matters 

to be investigated shall typically be: complaints of criminal acts; excessive force; complaints of 

racial, sexual or other types of protected status harassment; cases of high public interest. 

 

This service will be included at no additional cost only if the City has a current agreement with 

the County for Major Crimes Investigations on pre-determined per capita billing basis.  This 

service is not available on an hourly basis or a per incident basis. 

 

D. Special Weapons And Tactics (SWAT):  This service shall be in the nature of a team response, 

which may call for a variety of disciplines (negotiators, sharpshooters, snipers, entry, and 

others).  Each SWAT call response is made as a team and each call is staffed as a team.  The 

team, and each member, is responsible to the success of every SWAT Team mission. 

 

This service will be available on a pre-determined per capita billing basis or on a pre-determined 

per incident billing basis. 

102



4 
 

E. Hazardous Devices (Bomb Squad):  This service shall include the Hazardous Devices Unit (HDU) 

and will typically be a multi-officer response for safety reasons.  The team will include an 

explosive specialist, and will provide the necessary and required equipment to address the 

threat. 

 

The Sheriff’s Department Hazardous Devices Unit is considered as a Regional Asset when 

responding to an emergency call for service.  There are no applicable charges or billings 

associated with regional deployment under mutual aid. 

 

F. Marine Services/Dive:  This service shall involve deputies and other personnel who are trained 

in areas of marine rescue or dive techniques, including rescue and recovery.  This may include a 

response with vessels or other watercraft, and will typically include a response with multiple 

personnel for safety and deployment reasons. 

 

The Sheriff’s Department Marine Services Unit and Dive Team are as considered as a Regional 

Asset when responding to an emergency call for service.  There are no applicable charges or 

billings associated with regional deployment under mutual aid. 

 

G. Air Operations:  This service shall involve deputies and other personnel who are trained in flight 

operations, to include pilots and tactical flight observers.  This may include a response with an 

aircraft capable of deployment in search & rescue, natural disaster, and major incidents/crime 

scenes. 

 

The Sheriff’s Department airplane is considered as a Regional Asset when it is in operation.  

There are no applicable charges or billings associated with regional deployment under mutual 

aid. 

SECTION 6.  SELECTION OF BILLING BASIS AND SERVICES. 

The City shall select to be billed on either a per capita or a per incident basis, and select the services to 

be provided by the County.  These mutually agreed up selections are set forth in “Exhibit A”, which is 

attached hereto and made a part hereof.  If a service is not listed, it will not be provided absent a 

separate request and it will be charged in accordance with the Default Costing described in Section 6-D. 

A. Per Capita:  The City shall pay a sum, as outlined in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and made 

a part hereof, which shall be that cost which is multiplied by the population of the City, as 

determined by the most recent estimate by the Office of Financial Management.  This cost shall 

be the cost irrespective of the quantity or duration of the calls for service responded. 

 

B. Per Incident:  The City shall pay a sum based upon the hourly rate or incident rate, as outlined in 

Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, which shall be that cost multiplied 

by the hours expended.  Those items which are indicated as a per incident response will be paid 

irrespective of the time needed to resolve the matter.  If the matter is being charged on an 

hourly basis, then the time shall commence on the time such services are requested by the City 

103



5 
 

and shall end at such time as when the scene is secured or the need for services is terminated.  

The need for services shall include whatever reasonable time is necessary for the completion of 

paperwork, reports, interviews, analysis or other necessary follow-up work.  All accountings of 

time by the County shall be in increments of 30 minutes (half-hours). If the response is cancelled 

while personnel are responding, the City will be billed for those specific personnel at a three-

hour overtime minimum. 

 

C. Mixed Costing:  The City shall have the right to elect to reimburse the County on a per capita 

cost for some specialized services and a per incident cost for other specialized services.  Such 

election must be pre-determined and mutually agreed upon by both parties, and incorporated 

within Exhibit A. 

 

D. Default Costing:  In the event that the City has not selected a payment method for any service 

provided hereunder and the City shall make a request for service from the County, the City shall 

reimburse to the County a sum based upon the Per Incident basis as set forth in Section 6.B. 

SECTION 7.  BILLING. 

If per capita billing is selected, the County will provide the City with an annual invoice for the provision 

of services.  For all other billing methods that include a per incident response, the County will provide 

the City with an invoice for the provision of services to include description of the specialized services, 

dates of service, hours of service, and hourly rate for the service. 

Billings shall be mailed to: 
 

City of Fircrest 

115 Ramsdell Street 

Fircrest, WA 98466 

 

The City shall reimburse the County within 30 days of receipt of invoice by mailing payment to: 
 

Pierce County Sheriff’s Department 

ATTN: Business Unit 

930 Tacoma Ave. S. 

Tacoma, WA 98402 

 
Rates may be adjusted annually by the County, and the new rate schedule will be provided to the City no 

less than thirty (30) days prior to the beginning of each calendar year.  The parties are authorized to 

negotiate annual rate and service adjustments, and execute written agreements that reflect agreed-

upon adjustments. 

SECTION 8.  INDEMNIFICATION AND DEFENSE. 

To the extent permitted by law, each Party agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and save harmless the 

other Party, its elected and appointed officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers, from and 

104



6 
 

against any and all claims, damages, losses, judgements, and expenses, including but not limited to court 

costs, attorney’s fees, and alternative dispute resolution costs, for any injury or damage of any kind 

which are alleged or proven to be caused by an act or omission related to the actions under this 

Agreement, negligent or otherwise, of the Party, its elected and appointed officials, officers, employees, 

agents, and volunteers.  

A Party shall not be required to indemnify, defend, or hold the other Party harmless if the claim, 

damage, loss, judgement, or expense for any injury or damage of any kind is caused by the sole act or 

omission of the other Party or its elected and appointed officials, officers, employees, agents, or 

volunteers.  

In executing this Agreement, neither Party shall assume liability or responsibility for or in any way 

release the other Party from any liability or responsibility which arises in whole or in part from the 

existence or effect of the other Party’s ordinances, rules, regulations, resolutions, customs, polices or 

practices. If any cause, claim, suit, action or administrative proceeding is commenced in which the 

enforceability and/or validity of any such ordinance, rule, regulation, resolution, custom, policy or 

practice is at issue, the appropriate Party shall defend the same at its sole expense, and if judgment 

specifically attributable to such Party’s provisions is entered and damages are awarded against the City, 

the County, or both, the appropriate Party shall satisfy the same, including all reasonable attorney's fees 

and costs. 

The Parties agree that where such claims, suits, or actions result from the concurrent negligence of the 

Parties, the indemnity provisions herein shall be valid and enforceable only to the extent of a Party’s 

own negligence.  

It is further understood that no liability shall attach to either Party by reason of entering into this 

Agreement except as expressly provided herein. 

Obligations under this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

SECTION 9.  NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY. 

Pierce County does not intend by this Agreement to assume any contractual obligations to anyone other 

than the City of Fircrest, and the City does not intend by this Agreement to assume any contractual 

obligations to anyone other than the County. The County and the City do not intend that there be any 

third-party beneficiary to this Agreement. 

SECTION 10.  INSURANCE. 

The County maintains a comprehensive self-insurance program that is funded to pay claims, 

judgements, and settlements for which the County is found to be wholly or partially responsible.  

The City is a member of a self-insured risk management pool formed pursuant to Chapter 48.62 RCW 

which provides its members with insurance coverage and is funded to pay claims, judgements, and 

settlements for which the City is found to be wholly or partially responsible.   

Evidence of coverage shall be delivered to each of the Parties prior to the execution of this Agreement. 

It is the responsibility of each Party to ensure a valid certificate of coverage is in effect at all times 

105



7 
 

throughout the course of this Agreement.   If the insurance programs for either party is modified, the 

party needs to continue to provide proof of coverage in whatever form the coverage takes. 

SECTION 11.  MODIFICATION. 

Any amendments to this agreement must be in writing and signed by all parties. 

SECTION 12.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 

This written agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes any prior 

oral statements, discussions, or understandings between the parties.   

SECTION 13.  TERM OF AGREEMENT. 

This agreement shall become effective November 1, 2024, and remain in effect through December 31, 

2024.  It shall automatically renew on January 1 of each calendar year thereafter, to extend no later than 

December 31, 2029, unless either party chooses to terminate the agreement by providing ninety (90) 

days written notice of termination. 

SECTION 14.  OPERATIONAL ISSUES. 

Both parties recognize that any response may have many serious operational matters, which attend 

each individual call.  These issues are separately covered in the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department 

Specialized Services Protocols which are set forth in “Exhibit B”, which is attached hereto and made a 

part hereof.  The protocols involve issues such as criteria for mobilization of the SWAT Team, authority 

to determine size of response, handling of media, SWAT command, miscellaneous costs due to damage, 

cost of meals, etc.  

SECTION 15.  INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. 

Pierce County, when providing the special services contemplated by the terms of this agreement, is 

acting as an independent contractor of the City.  Pierce County will control the method, means and 

timing of providing the specialized services, and all County employees shall remain under the 

supervisory control of the County. The City may, in a given circumstance, exercise direction and control 

pursuant to RCW 10.93.040.  

SECTION 16.  AGREEMENT ADMINISTRATION, COMMUNICATIONS, AND RECORDS. 

A. The County and the City shall each designate a Contract Manager to administer this Agreement. 

Contract Managers shall monitor service levels and budget provisions of this Agreement.  During 

the term of this Agreement, the respective Contract Managers will communicate as needed via 

telephone, e-mail or in person to relay information, answer questions, or to raise concerns 

related to the goals and objectives of this Agreement. 

 

B. The Parties to this Agreement shall each maintain records which sufficiently and properly reflect 

all direct and indirect costs expended by either Party in the performance of the services 

106



8 
 

described herein.  These records shall be subject to inspection, review or audit by personnel of 

either/both Parties, other personnel duly authorized by either Party, the Office of the State 

Auditor, and federal officials so authorized by law.  All records relevant to this Agreement will be 

retained for six (6) years after expiration and the State Auditor, federal auditors, and any 

persons duly authorized by the Parties shall have full access and the right to examine these 

materials during this period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

END OF AGREEMENT; SIGNATURE PAGE IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING. 

107



9 
 

PIERCE COUNTY 
CONTRACT SIGNATURE PAGE 

 

                                                                Contract #     

                                                               

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement this ____ day of _________, 2024. 

 

CONTRACTOR:  

 

   

Contractor Signature      Date 

 

  

Title of Signatory Authorized by Firm Bylaws 

 

Name:  

  

Address:   

  

Mailing  

Address:   

   

  

Contact Name:   

 

Phone:   

 

Fax:     

 

PIERCE COUNTY: 

 

Approved As to Legal Form Only:  

 

    

Prosecuting Attorney     Date 

 

 

Recommended: 

 

    

Finance     Date 

 

 

Approved: 

 

    

Department Director     Date 

(less than $250,000) 

                    

    

County Executive (over $250,000)     Date 

108



10 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Specialized Law Enforcement Services Costs FY2024 

 

SERVICE HOURLY RATE PER CAPITA RATE PER INCIDENT RATE 

☒ Major Crimes Investigations ☐ $170/hour per 

officer (3 hr. minimum) 

☒ $1.39 per resident 
N/A 

☒ Major Crimes Forensics ☐ $150/hour per 

officer (3 hr. minimum) 

☒ $0.30 per resident 
N/A 

☒ Non-Major Crimes Forensics ☒ $150/hour per 

officer (3 hr. minimum) 

N/A N/A 

☒ Internal Affairs Investigations 
Included at no additional cost if the City has a current agreement with 

the County for Major Crimes Investigations on pre-determined per capita 
billing basis; service is not available on an hourly or per incident basis. 

☒ Special Weapons & Tactics (SWAT) 
N/A ☒ $0.57 per resident ☐ $16,880 per 

response 

☒ Hazardous Devices (Bomb Squad) 
No charge for Regional Asset 

☐ Marine Services/Dive 
No charge for Regional Asset 

☒ Air Operations 
No charge for Regional Asset 

 

 

The City will indicate in the table above which services are to be provided by the County to the City by and 
through this agreement; this selection will be indicated by the City placing a mark in the box next to the service 
title.  In the same manner, the City will indicate for each service selected whether the City will be billed by the 
County for this service on a pre-determined hourly rate, per capita billing basis, or on a per incident billing basis. 

 
 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 

           

Signature      Date 

 

              

Name   Title 

109



11 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

Specialized Law Enforcement Services Protocols 

Air Operations 

 

1. Criteria for Mobilization 
 

The Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee shall have the authority to 

request an Air Operations response through the South Sound 911 Dispatch Center.  The 

Air Unit Supervisor, Command Duty Officer (CDO) or his/her designee will receive and 

approve all Air Operation Request. The Air Operations Supervisor and Pilot in Command 

(PIC) based on information received and other Conditions (e.g. weather), will determine 

if a mission can be safely accomplished.  (See the Air Support Unit Manual for additional 

details) 

 
2. Mobilization 
 

The Sheriff or his/her designee in conjunction with the Air Operations Supervisor and Pilot in 

Command (PIC) shall have the sole authority to determine the nature, size, duration and 

configuration of any mobilization.  (See the Air Support Unit Manual for additional details.) 

 
3. Authority for Stand-down/De-mobilization 
 

The Sheriff, Air Operations Supervisor/PIC shall be the sole authority in determining if a 

deployment is no longer productive or if the deployment has become too dangerous for pilot, 

crew or aircraft. When possible, this decision will be done in consultation with the Chief of 

Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee, who may likewise make a decision to terminate the 

deployment for any reason.  

 
4. Command 
 

The Air Operations Unit will be commanded by a member of the Pierce County Sheriff’s 

Department.  Operational direction for the unit will come from the Air Operations Supervisor.  

Tactical direction will be from the Incident Commander at the scene of the incident in 

conjunction with the Air Operations Supervisor/PIC.  However, the Chief of Police/Agency 

Contact, Sheriff or his/her designee retain the authority to discontinue the deployment at their 

discretion.  

 
5. Information Available to Chief of Police/Agency Contact 
 

The supervisor of the Air Operations Unit/PIC or another person in command shall periodically 

inform the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee of progress in the operation to the 

extent practical in light of communications availability and tactical considerations. 

 
6. Community Liaison 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department and the utilizing agency shall jointly share the 

responsibility to liaison with the community both during and after mobilization. 

110



12 
 
 

Both parties agree to provide necessary personnel for this purpose. 

 
7. Miscellaneous Costs 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall assume responsibility for damage to their 

equipment, which may occur coincident to the mobilization and response provided, however, that 

damage caused by the negligence of any other party shall be the responsibility of that party.  

Damage which shall occur to property as a consequence of the Air Operations Unit shall be the 

responsibility of Pierce County. 

 
8. Media 
 

The Public Information Officer of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall be the contact 

person for handling news media inquiries during the course of the mobilization and while the unit 

is deployed.  This contact will be made, whenever possible, after consultation with the Chief of 

Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee. When the unit is no longer deployed, responsibility 

for news media contact will remain with the Chief of Police/Agency Contact unless the 

Chief/Agency Contact requests and the Sheriff approves that the Sheriff’s Department Public 

Information Officer will continue as liaison. 

 

  

111



13 
 
 

Hazardous Devices Unit 

 
1. Criteria for Mobilization 
 

The Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee shall have the authority to request a 

Hazardous Devices Unit response.  The County shall provide a person or persons to whom the 

request will be made.  Response will be made unless the Command Duty Officer/designee or 

Hazardous Devices Unit supervisor determines, based on information received and other 

conditions (e.g. exceptional character of the device), that mobilization would create undo danger 

or not serve as a bona fide law enforcement purpose related to standard use of the Hazardous 

Devices Unit. 

 
2. Mobilization 
 

The Hazardous Devices Unit supervisor shall have the sole authority to determine the nature, size, 

duration and configuration of any mobilization. 

 
3. Authority for Stand-down/De-mobilization 
 

The Hazardous Devices Supervisor shall have the sole authority to determine the nature, size, and 

duration of any Hazardous Devices Unit mobilization.  This will be done in consultation with the 

Chief of Police or his/her designee. 

 
4. Command 

 

The Hazardous Devices Unit will be commanded by a member of the Pierce County Sheriff’s 

Department.  Operational direction for the unit will come from the person in command at the 

scene of the incident.  However, the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his designee will have 

authority to discontinue the deployment.  

 
5.    Information Available to Chief/Agency Contact 

 

The supervisor of the Hazardous Devices Unit or another person in command shall be expected to 

periodically inform the Chief of Police/Agency Contract or his/her designee of progress in the 

operation to the extent practical in light of communications availability and tactical 

considerations. 

 
6.   Community Liaison 

 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department and the City Police Department/Agency shall jointly 

share the response of liaison with the community both during and after mobilization.  Both parties 

agree to provide necessary personnel to be available for contacts with the community. 

 

7.   Miscellaneous Costs 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall assume responsibility for damage to their 

equipment, which may occur coincident to the mobilization and response provided, however, that 

damage caused by the negligence of any other party shall be the responsibility of that party.  

Damage which shall occur to property as a consequence of the Hazardous Devices Unit (e.g. 

damage to suspicious packages, damage due to primary or secondary devices) shall not be the 

responsibility of Pierce County. 

112



14 
 
 

 
8. Media 

 

The Public Information Officer of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall be the contact 

person for handling news media inquiries during the course of the mobilization while the Unit is 

deployed.  This contact will be made, whenever possible, after consultation with the Chief of 

Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee.  When the unit is no longer deployed, responsibility 

for news media contact will rest with the Chief of Police/Agency Contact unless the Chief 

requests and the Sheriff approves that the Sheriff Department Public Information Officer will 

continue as liaison. 

 

  

113



15 
 
 

SWAT 

 
1. Command 

 

The SWAT Team will be commanded by a member of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department.  No 

other person shall provide command regardless of their rank or position. Provided, however, that the 

Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her or designee shall have the authority to require the 

discontinuance of the deployment of the SWAT Team. 

 
2. Command Post 

 

The configuration of the Command Post will be determined by the SWAT Commander. 

Consideration will be made to include the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee. 

 

3. Criteria for Mobilization  
 

The Chief of Police or his/her designee shall have the authority to request a SWAT response.  The 

County shall provide a person or persons to whom the request may be made.  Response shall be made 

unless the SWAT Commander determines, based upon the information received, that mobilization of 

the SWAT Team would create undo danger and would not serve any bona fide law enforcement 

purpose related to standard use of SWAT. 

 

4. Mobilization 
 

The SWAT commander shall have the sole authority to determine the nature, size, duration and 

configuration of any mobilization. 

 

5. Authority for Stand down/De-mobilization 
 

The SWAT Commander shall have the sole authority to determine issues of Stand down or de-

mobilization; provided however that the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee shall 

have the authority to require the discontinuance of the SWAT response. 

 

 6. Community Liaison 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department and the City/Agency police department shall jointly share 

the response of liaison with the community both during and after a SWAT mobilization.  Both parties 

agree to provide all necessary personnel to be available for community meetings or other necessary 

contacts with the community. 

 

 7. Miscellaneous Costs 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall assume responsibility for damage to their equipment 

firearms and gear which shall occur coincident to the SWAT call, mobilization and response; 

provided, however, that damage caused by the negligence of any other party shall be the 

responsibility of that party.  Damage which shall occur to property as a consequence of the SWAT 

call (e.g. damage to doors in entry, damage due to discharge of weapons, flash devices, or other 

explosives, etc.)  Shall be the responsibility of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department.  The 

City/Agency shall be responsible for any cost involved in providing meals, lodging or the 

mobilization of the SWAT Team. 

 

114



16 
 
 

       8. Media 

 
The Public Information Officer of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall be the contact 

person for handling all media inquiries during the course of mobilization and shall coordinate all 

response to the media relative to the SWAT call.  This contact will be made, whenever possible, 

after consultation with the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee. 

 

When the unit is no longer deployed, responsibility for news media contact will rest with the 

Chief of Police/Agency Contact unless the Chief requests that the Sheriff Department Public 

Information Officer will continue as liaison.  

 

  

115



17 
 
 

CANINE (K-9) 

 
1. Criteria for Mobilization 

 

The Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee shall have the authority to request a K-9 

Unit response.  The County shall provide a person or persons to whom the request will be made.  

Response will be made unless the Command Duty Officer/designee or K-9 Unit deputy 

determines, based on information received and other conditions (e.g. inordinate danger to the 

dog), that mobilization would create undo danger or not serve as a bona fide law enforcement 

purpose related to standard use of the K-9 Unit. 

 

2. Mobilization 
 

The K-9 Unit deputy shall have the sole authority to determine the nature, size, duration and 

configuration of any mobilization. 

 

3. Authority for Stand-down/De-mobilization 
 

The K-9 Unit deputy shall have the sole authority to determine the nature, size, duration of any K-

9 Unit de-mobilization.  This will be done in consultation with the Chief of Police/Agency 

Contact or his/her designee. 

 

4. Command 
 

The K-9 Unit deployment will be commanded by a member of the Pierce County Sheriff’s 

Department.  Operational direction for the unit will come from the person in command at the 

scene of the incident.  However, the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his designee will have 

authority to discontinue the deployment. 

 

5. Information Available to Chief 
 

The K-9 Unit will be deployed in conjunction with units of the requesting agency.  The report 

generated by the K-9 Unit deployed will be available to the requesting agency. 

 

6. Community Liaison 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department and the City Police Department/Agency shall jointly 

share the response of liaison with the community both during and after mobilization.  Both parties 

agree to provide necessary personnel to be available for contacts with the community.  

 

7. Miscellaneous Costs 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall assume responsibility for damage to equipment and 

any injury to dog which occurs co-incident to the mobilization and deployment; provided, 

however, that damage caused by the negligence of any other party shall be the responsibility of 

that party.  
 

Damage which shall occur to property as a consequence of the K-9 deployment (e.g. broken 

fences) shall be the responsibility of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department. 

 

116



18 
 
 

Liability arising from deployment of the K-9 unit including dog bites will be shared by Pierce 

County and the requesting agency. 

 

8. Media 
 

The Public Information Officer of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall be the contact 

person for handling news media inquiries during the course of the mobilization while the Unit is 

deployed.  This contact will be made, whenever possible, after consultation with the Chief of 

Police /Agency Contact or his/her designee.  When the unit is no longer deployed, responsibility 

for news media contact will rest with the Chief of Police/Agency Contact unless the Chief 

requests and the Sheriff approves that the Sheriff Department Public Information Officer will 

continue as liaison. 

  

117



19 
 
 

Marine Services Unit 

 

1. Criteria for Mobilization 
 

The Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee shall have the authority to request a 

Marine Services Unit response.  The County shall provide a person or persons to whom the 

request will be made.  Response will be made unless the Command Duty Officer or his/her 

designee determines, based on information received and other conditions (e.g. weather), that 

mobilization would create undue danger or would not serve a bona fide law enforcement purpose 

related to standard use of the Marine Services Unit. 

 

2. Mobilization 
 

The Marine Services Unit supervisor or his/her designee shall have the sole authority to 

determine the nature, size, duration and configuration of any mobilization.  

 

3. Authority for Stand Down/Demobilization 
 

The Marine Services Unit supervisor shall have the sole authority to determine the nature, size 

and duration of any Marine Services Unit de-mobilization.  This will be done in consultation with 

the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee. 

 

4. Command 
 

The Marine Services Unit will be commanded by a member of the Pierce County Sheriff’s 

Department.  Operational direction for the unit will come from the person in command at the 

scene of the incident.  However, the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee will have 

authority to discontinue the deployment. 

 

5. Information Available to Chief or Agency Contact 
 

The supervisor of the Marine Services Unit shall be expected to periodically inform the Chief of 

Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee of progress in the operation to the extent practical in 

light of communications availability and tactical considerations. 

 

6. Community Liaison 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department and the City Police Department/Agency shall jointly 

share the response of liaison with the community both during and after mobilization.  Both parties 

agree to provide necessary personnel to be available for contacts with the community.  

 

7. Miscellaneous Costs 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall assume responsibility for damage to its equipment, 

which may occur coincident to the mobilization and response provided.  However, that damage 

caused by the negligence of any other party shall be the responsibility of that party.  Damage 

which shall occur to property as a consequence of the Marine Services Unit shall be the 

responsibility of Pierce County. 

 

8. Media 
 

118



20 
 
 

The Public Information Officer of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall be the contact 

person for handling news media inquiries during the course of the mobilization while the Marine 

Services Unit is deployed.  This contact will be made, whenever possible, after consultation with 

the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee.  When the unit is no longer deployed, 

responsibility for news media contact will rest with the Chief of Police/Agency Contact unless the 

Chief/Contact requests and the Sheriff approves that the Sheriff Department Public Information 

Officer will continue as liaison. 

  

119



21 
 
 

Dive Team 

 
1. Criteria for Mobilization 

 

The Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee shall have the authority to request a Dive 

Team Response.  The County shall provide a person or persons to whom the request will be 

made.  Response will be made unless the Command Duty Officer/designee or determines, based 

on information received and other conditions, that mobilization would create undo danger or not 

serve as a bona fide law enforcement purpose related to standard use of the Dive Team. 

 

2. Mobilization 
 

The Dive Team Commander or his/her designee, shall have the sole authority to determine the 

nature, size, duration and configuration of any mobilization.  

 

3. Authority for Stand-down/De-mobilization 
 

The Dive Team Commander, or his/her designee shall have the sole authority to determine if a 

deployment is no longer productive or if the deployments’ risks outweigh the benefit of the 

operation.  When possible, this decision will be done in consultation with the Chief of 

Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee.  The Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her 

designee may likewise make the decision to terminate the deployment of the Dive Team and may 

do so irrespective of reason. 

 

4. Command 
 

The Dive Team will be commanded by a member of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department.  

Operational direction for the unit will come from the person in command at the scene of the 

incident.  However, the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his designee will have authority to 

discontinue the deployment. 

 

5. Information Available to Chief or Agency Contact 
 

The Dive Team Commander, or his/her designee, shall be expected to periodically inform the 

Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee of the progress of the operation to the extent 

it is practical in light of communications available and tactical considerations. 

 

6. Community Liaison 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff's Department and the City Police Department/Agency shall jointly 

share the response of liaison with the community both during and after mobilization.  Both parties 

agree to provide necessary personnel to be available for contacts with the community.  

 
7. Miscellaneous Costs 

 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall assume responsibility for damage to their 

Equipment which may occur coincident to the mobilization and response provided, however, that 

damage caused by the negligence of any other party shall be the responsibility of that party.  

Damage which shall occur to property as a consequence of the Dive Team shall be the 

responsibility of Pierce County. 

 

120



22 
 
 

The jurisdiction requesting Dive Team response shall be responsible for any cost involved in 

providing meals, lodging, or the mobilization of the Dive Team. 

 

8. Media 
 

The Public Information Officer of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall be the contact 

person for handling news media inquiries during the course of the mobilization while the Dive 

Team is deployed.  This contact will be made, whenever possible, after consultation with the Dive 

Team Commander and/or the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee.  
  
When the unit is no longer deployed, responsibility for news media contact will rest with the 

Chief of Police/Agency Contact unless the Chief/Agency Contact requests and the Sheriff 

approves that the Sheriff Department Public Information Officer will continue as liaison. 

 
  

121



23 
 
 

Major Crime Investigations 

 

Jurisdictions which choose the "hourly" costing model will be able to request major crimes investigations 

at the hourly rate noted on the basis of resources available. 

 

Jurisdictions which choose the "per capita" costing model in this area will be accessing response to 

homicides or aggravated assaults likely to become homicides. 

 

1. Criteria for Mobilization 
 

The Chief of Police/Agency contact or his/her designee shall have the authority to request a major 

crime investigation.  The County shall provide a person or persons to whom the request will be 

made. 

 

2. Mobilization 
 

The commander of Criminal Investigations or his/her designee shall have the sole authority to 

determine the nature, size, duration and configuration of any mobilization. 

 

3. Authority for Stand-down/De-mobilization 
 

The Commander of Criminal Investigations or his/her designee shall have the sole authority to 

determine the nature, size, duration of any major crime investigation.  This will be done in 

consultation with the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee. 

 

4. Command 
 

The major crime investigation will be commanded by a member of the Pierce County Sheriff’s 

Department.  Operational direction for the unit will come from the person in command at the 

scene of the incident.  However, the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his designee will have 

authority to discontinue the deployment. 

 

5. Information Available to Chief  
 

The commander of Criminal Investigations or lead detective shall be expected to periodically 

inform the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee of progress in the operation to the 

extent practical in light of communications availability and tactical considerations. 

 

6. Community Liaison 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff's Department and the City Police Department/Agency shall jointly 

share the response of liaison with the community both during and after the investigation.  Both 

parties agree to provide necessary personnel to be ·available for contacts with the community. 

 

7. Miscellaneous Costs 
 

The Pierce County Sheriff's Department shall assume responsibility for damage to their 

equipment, which may occur coincident to the mobilization and response provided, however, that 

damage caused by the negligence of any other party shall be the responsibility of that party.  

Damage which shall occur to property as a consequence of the unit shall be the responsibility of 

Pierce County.  Costs associated with extra-ordinary forensic analysis will be negotiated with the 

Chief of Police/Agency Contact. 

122



24 
 
 

 

8. Media 
 

Media relations on major criminal investigations will be jointly handled by the Chief/Agency 

Contact and the Sheriff’s Department Public Information Officer with agreement between parties 

as to primary contact.  Contact with the media by the Sheriff’s Department Public Information 

Officer, when such contact is made will be made, whenever possible, after consultation with the 

Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee. 

 

  

123



25 
 
 

Internal Affairs 

 

1. Criteria for Requesting an Internal Affair’s Investigation or Assistance in conducting an 

Internal Investigation 
 

The Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee shall have the authority to 

request an Internal Affairs investigation by contacting the IA Supervising Lieutenant, or 

designated Detective Sergeant in the absence of the Lieutenant, to make a formal written 

request documenting the justification and reason for the request. 

 
2. Mobilization 
 

The Sheriff or his/her designee in conjunction with the IA Investigations Supervisor shall have 

the sole authority to determine the nature, size, duration and configuration of any investigation.  

(See the Sheriff’s Department Lexipol Policy regarding Internal Investigations Procedures.) 

 
3. Authority for Completion of an Investigation 
 

The Sheriff or his/her designee shall be the sole authority in determining if an investigation is no 

longer productive or is completed to meet the standards accepted by the Sheriff’s Department. 

When possible, this decision will be done in consultation with the Chief of Police/Agency 

Contact or his/her designee, who may likewise make a decision to accept the investigatory files as 

presented by the Internal Affairs Unit.  

 
4. Conclusion of Investigation 
 

The Internal Investigations Unit will provide documentation of their investigation in a timely 

manner to the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or his/her designee to include all data and 

investigative summaries. Internal Affairs does not provide a recommendation based on the data.  

That responsibility is the sole responsibility of the agency requesting the investigation.  

 

5. Information Available to Chief of Police/Agency Contact 
 

The supervisor of the Internal Affairs Unit shall periodically inform the Chief of Police/Agency 

Contact or his/her designee of progress in the investigation and timeline for conclusion. 

 
6. Miscellaneous Costs 

 

The Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall assume responsibility for costs arising from the 

investigation for normally incurring actions such as transcriptions, recordings and investigative 

field work. 

 
7. Media 
 

The Public Information Officer of the Pierce County Sheriff’s Department shall be the contact 

person for handling news media inquiries during the course of the investigation. This contact will 

be made, whenever possible, after consultation with the Chief of Police/Agency Contact or 

his/her designee. When the IA unit is no longer involved, responsibility for news media contact 

will remain with the Chief of Police/Agency Contact unless the Chief/Agency Contact requests 

124



26 
 
 

and the Sheriff approves that the Sheriff’s Department Public Information Officer will continue 

as liaison. 

 

125



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: BJA Bulletproof Vest Partnership Grant Award 

ITEM: 13I 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Ronald Schaub, Chief of Police 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, accepting a $1,461.70 

grant award from the U.S. Department of Justice Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program.   

 

PROPOSAL: The U.S. Department of Justice has awarded $1,461.70 to the Fircrest Police 

Department for the Patrick Leahy Bulletproof Vest Partnership grant program.  The City Council 

is being asked to adopt a resolution to accept these grant funds. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: The grant funding will pay for 50% of the cost of bulletproof vests for police 

officers.  Matching funds will be funded from the Police budget. This is a reimbursement program, 

with grant funds required to be spent by August 31, 2026. 

 

ADVANTAGES: The grant award will assist the Police department in purchasing or replacing 

ballistic vests. 
 

DISADVANTAGES: None.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  Not accept the grant funds.  

 

BACKGROUND: The Bulletproof Vest Partnership Grant Act was established in 1999 to assist 

agencies with the purchase of life-saving ballistic vests.  The Bulletproof Vest Partnership 

(“BVA”) is a program of the U.S. Department of Justice administered by the Bureau of Justice 

Assistance (“BJA”).  The program is designed to pay up to 50% of the cost of bulletproof vests for 

law enforcement officers.  The BJA announces BVP funding opportunities on an annual basis. 

There is no formal award document to sign to accept the grant funds.   

 

The Fircrest Police Department participated in the program from 2000 to 2005.  This grant award 

is the first award to our department in nearly 20 years. 

 

The department purchases ballistic vests for new employees.  Every five years, we are required to 

replace existing ballistic vests.  This grant award will help with these department purchases.   

 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

Award Announcement 

    

    

126



 

Page 1 of 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, ACCEPTING FUNDS FROM THE U.S. 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE FOR THE BULLETPROOF VEST 

PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM.   

 

WHEREAS, the Bulletproof Vest Partnership is a program of the United States 

Department of Justice administered by the Bureau of Justice Assistance designed to pay 

up to 50 percent of the cost of bulletproof vests for law enforcement officers; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest Police Department was awarded $1,461.70 from the 

Bulletproof Vest Partnership program for the purchase of bulletproof vests; and 

 

WHEREAS, the grant requires a 50 percent local match, which has been identified in 

the Police Department budget. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 

 

Section 1. The City hereby accepts $1,461.70 from the U.S. Department of Justice 

Bulletproof Vest Partnership program for the purchase of bulletproof vests. 

 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of November 

2024. 

 

               APPROVED: 

 

                                         _____________________________ 

               Shannon Reynolds, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________   

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 
 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

____________________________________ 

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

127



We only use cookies that are necessary for this site to function to provide you with the best experience. The controller of this site may choose to place supplementary cookies 
�support additional functionality such as support analytics, and has an obligation to disclose these cookies. Learn m�um�iu�-lfrom OJP Communicati 

Email Address 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
J Subscribe I 

OFFICE OF JUSTICE PROG�AM� 

0008 
BJA Patrick Leahy Bulletproof Vest Partnership (BVP)- FY 2024 Award Announcement 

OJP Communications sent this bulletin at 09/26/2024 12:25 PM EDT 

View as a webJ;!age / Share 

Dear BVP Applicant: 

The Bureau of Justice Assistance (BJA) is pleased to inform you that your jurisdiction will 
receive an award under the Fiscal Year (FY) 2024 Patrick Leahy Bulletproof Vest 
Partnership (BVP) solicitation. These funds have been posted to your account in the BVP 
�Y.Stem. A complete list of FY 2024 BVP awards is now available at the following link: 
2024 BVP awards. 

Important: Jurisdictions must be registered and include updated banking 
information in the System for Award Management (SAM) 
(httP-s://www.sam.gov/SAMl) to receive reimbursement. For more information about 
renewing and updating your existing SAM registration. or registering in SAM as a 
new entity, please visit: httP-s://sam.gov/content/helP-, The SAM Helpdesk can be 
reached at 866-606-8220. 

The FY 2024 award may be used for National Institute of Justice (NIJ) compliant armored 
vests that were ordered after April 1, 2024. The deadline to request payments from the FY 
2024 award is August 31, 2026, or until all available funds have been requested. Awards 
will not be extended past that date, and any unused funds will be forfeited. 

As a reminder, body armor vests purchased with BVP funds must have been tested 
through the NIJ Comgliance Testing Program and found to comply with the most current 
NIJ body armor standards, appear on the NIJ Comgliant Products List as of the date the 
body armor was ordered, be uniquely fitted, and be made in the United States. In addition, 
applicants must have a written mandatory wear policy for uniformed patrol officers in place 
at the time of application. 

In addition, the federal portion of the costs for body armor vests purchased under the BVP 
Program may not exceed 50 percent. However, jurisdictions may request a financial or 
natural disaster hardship waiver during the payment request process and receive up to 
100 percent of the cost of each body armor vest submitted for reimbursement. Additional 
information regarding match waivers can be found in the BVP FAQs, and detailed 
instructions on the process for requesting a waiver and the documentation required can be 
found in the Submitting PaY.ment Reguests in BVP User Guide. 

Please contact the BVP Helpdesk at 1-877-758-3787 or email vests@usdoj.gov if you 
have any questions regarding the above information. Please also visit the BVP website for 
additional information regarding the BVP Program. 

In addition, please visit BJA's Officer Robert Wilson Ill Preventing Violence Against Law 
Enforcement Officers and Ensuring Officer Resilience and Survivability_(VALOR) Initiative 
website to obtain other information regarding officer safety. The VALOR Initiative is a 
comprehensive set of programs that deliver no-cost officer safety, wellness, resilience 
training, resources, and technical assistance to law enforcement throughout the country. 
VALOR brings together the latest research and practices to address current and emerging 
officer safety and wellness issues and threats. Please see the VALOR Initiative Overview 
booklet for additional details about this initiative. 

Sincerely, 

e.g. name@exarr 

BVP Program Team 

Bureau of Justice Assistance 

h!!gs://www.ojg,gov/grogram/bulletgroof-vest-gartnershig 
128



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Tacoma Public Safety Radio System Agreement 

ITEM: 13J 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Ron Schaub, Chief of Police 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, authorizing the City 

Manager to execute a User Agreement with the City of Tacoma  to utilize the Tacoma Public 

Safety Radio System. 

 

PROPOSAL: The Police Department is requesting to move from Pierce County’s Combined 

Communication Network (CCN) 700 MHz system to Tacoma Public Safety’s 800 MHz Radio 

System.  In order to facilitate the transition, the Council is being asked to authorize the City 

Manager to execute a User Agreement with the City of Tacoma to utilize the Tacoma Public Safety 

Radio System.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  The Tacoma radio system access fee will be $10,584 for 2025.  This is nearly 

one-third less than the cost of remaining with the CCN for police radio service and represents a 

potential annual savings of $17,504.  We have not yet received the 2025 CCN radio system access 

fee invoice, but the rate will be higher than the 2024 fee of $28,088.  

 

BACKGROUND: In late 2023, the City began exploring the possibility of transitioning to 

Tacoma’s 800 MHz radio system after receiving an unexpected high invoice from Pierce County.  

The invoice reflected a dramatic increase in radio subscriber fees, rising from  $44.53 per radio 

per month to over $120 per radio per month. 
 

In December 2023, Police Chief Schaub formally notified Pierce County Department of 

Emergency Management (DEM) of the City’s intent to explore the transition from the CCN 700 

MHz system to the Tacoma 800 MHz radio system.   

In January 2024, the City received an invoice totaling $11,755.92 for the 2023 annual radio system 

access fee.  Shortly thereafter, an email from the DEM Director informed all CCN subscribers that 

the South Sound 911 Public Safety Communications Operations Committee (PSCOC) had denied 

their funding request to offset the rates, a decision that would result in substantial increases in the 

annual radio access fees.  The DEM Director’s email specifically addressed agencies that were 

considering a shift to the Tacoma Radio system: 

“JUMPING SHIP.  We have heard rumblings from our customers considering moving 

from the County’s system to the City of Tacoma’s system in order to reduce costs.  At this 

time, the radio system owners agree that it does not make business sense to move customers 

around when we are in the middle of pursuing a single system which will change the 

playing field for all customers.  It is also more technically complicated than simply 

obtaining SS911 support.  Additionally, we recently audited usage levels by customers on 

both systems and discovered that in several instances, customers were utilizing the County 

129



system more than the system to which they subscribe.  To ensure that our customers are 

not subsidizing non-customers, agencies that are utilizing the County system for more than 

occasional mutual aid will be invoiced at our current customer rates.”     

Nevertheless, on March 25, 2024, Pierce County sent the City an invoice of $28,087.92 for our 

2024 annual radio access fee.  In response, on June 25, 2024, the City sent a second letter to the 

radio system owners, formally requesting permission to fully explore transitioning our police 

operations from the 700 MHz to 800 MHz radio system.  On July 22, 2024, the City received 

confirmation that approval had been granted to move to the 800 MHz system in 2025. 
 

To further assess the transition, Police Chief Schaub met with Tacoma Deputy City Manager Kim 

to discuss the City’s request to join their radio system.  As part of this process, Deputy City 

Manager Kim facilitated contact with Tacoma’s radio system administrator, who provided the City 

with the attached Tacoma Public Safety Radio System User Agreement.   
 

ADVANTAGES: The primary advantage of transitioning to the Tacoma 800 MHz system is 

financial.  The cost structure is stable and predictable, offering better control over future expenses.  

In contrast, the CCN subscriber fees have nearly tripled in three years, making the Tacoma system 

a more reliable and cost-effective option. 

 

DISADVANTAGES: A potential disadvantage is the impact on our mutual aid partnership with 

the University Place Police Department, which is contracted with the Pierce County Sheriff’s 

Department and utilizes the CCN 700 MHz radio system.  However, South Sound 911 will work 

with the Tacoma Radio shop to establish our new frequency build that will include common 

channels, ensuring the ability to continue to partner with University Place. 

 

ALTERNATIVES:  Remain on the 700 MHz radio system.  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

   Radio System User Agreement 

   Attachment 2 – Radio Inventory 

   Attachment 3 – P25 TDMA Coverage Area 

   Letter #1 – CCN Notice dated 12-27-2023 

   Letter #2 - CCN Notice dated 6-27-2024 

 

    

 

    

130



 

Page 1 of 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

MANAGER TO EXECUTE A TACOMA PUBLIC SAFETY RADIO 

SYSTEM USER AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF TACOMA. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest currently contracts with Pierce County for police radio 

coverage and communication infrastructure; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest now believes it to be in the best interest of the health, 

welfare, and safety of our citizens to contract with the City of Tacoma for police radio 

coverage and communication infrastructure for public safety, first responder, and public 

service communications. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 

 

Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute the Tacoma 

Public Safety Radio System User Agreement with the City of Tacoma to allow the City 

to transition to the Tacoma 800 MHz Radio System.  

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of November 

2024. 

 

               APPROVED: 

 

                                         _____________________________ 

               Shannon Reynolds, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________   

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 
 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

____________________________________ 

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

131



Page 1 of 4 

 

TACOMA PUBLIC SAFETY RADIO SYSTEM USER AGREEMENT 

City of Tacoma/City of Fircrest 

TACOMA PUBLIC SAFETY RADIO SYSTEM 

USER AGREEMENT 
 

This User Agreement ("Agreement") is effective on the date of the last signature by and between City of 

Tacoma, a municipal corporation of the State of Washington (hereinafter referred to as “City”), and City 

of Fircrest. (hereinafter referred to as "User") and collectively as “Party” or “Parties”. 

DESCRIPTION 

The Tacoma Public Safety Radio System (PSRS) is a wide area 800 MHz trunked land mobile radio 

(LMR) network providing digital P25 TDMA coverage. Features include encryption, individually 

identifiable emergency alarm and push-to-talk identification.  

DEFINITIONS 

A. Alias – a unique identifier that is assigned by the RSC to each Subscriber using the PSRS.  

B. Coverage – The PSRS is designed to provide portable radio on-street DAQ 3.4 audio quality 

(receive on hip, transmit head level) 800 MHz LMR (land mobile radio) coverage at a reliability 

of 97% in the shaded areas of Attachment 3. LMR Coverage is not guaranteed by the City but has 

been tested and met this specification at the time of testing. Planned or unplanned site outages 

may affect audio quality during any outage periods. 

C. Encryption – DES encryption on all system transmitters is offered for P25 TDMA operations. 

D. Interoperability Subscriber – A Subscriber operated by an agency that uses a different radio 

system for its primary communications, operating on the PSRS only when necessary to 

communicate with a User on specifically defined talkgroups. 

E. Primary Subscriber – A Subscriber operated by an agency that uses the PSRS as its primary 

radio communications system through a User Agreement. 

F. Radio Service Center (RSC) – the City organization operating the PSRS on behalf of Users. The 

RSC provides assignment of Radio Alias numbers and talkgroups, encryption keys, database 

maintenance, system programming, radio programming, and other radio system technical 

services. 

G. Radio ID – a unique identifier assigned to each individual Subscriber within the system 

H. Subscriber – a Customer end user device such as a mobile radio, portable radio, desktop radio, or 

dispatch console that is assigned a unique Radio ID that communicates on the PSRS. The term 

“end user device” is used interchangeably with “Subscriber” 

I. Talkgroup – a single talking channel, allowing a unique group of radio users to communicate 

with one another on that channel. 

J. Template – User specific configuration information used to develop Subscriber programming for 

Subscriber functions, capabilities and talkgroups. 

K. User – a user agency providing first responder fire or law enforcement services within Pierce 

County; a hospital or medical organization within Pierce County; approved ambulance 

companies; and security departments of approved educational institutions. 

L. User Agreement – this Agreement entered into between the City and the User setting forth the 

PSRS services provided to the User and the terms and conditions under which the services are 

provided.  

III. ATTACHMENTS 

The following exhibits and attachments are made part of this Agreement: 

Attachment 1– Talkgroup Allocation assigned to the User – to be completed following execution of Agreement 

Attachment 2 – Radio Inventory 

Attachment 3 – P25 TDMA coverage area 

132



Page 2 of 4 

 

TACOMA PUBLIC SAFETY RADIO SYSTEM USER AGREEMENT 

City of Tacoma/City of Fircrest 

IV. USER FEES 

A. Subscriber Fees 

 Subscriber Fees for this Agreement are assessed quarterly in the amount of $42.00 per month for 

each Radio Alias shown on Attachment 2.  

 Invoices for the upcoming quarter will be sent by the RSC at the end of each quarter and are due 

within 30 days of the invoice date. Upon 90 days’ notice, at the beginning of each calendar year, 

the City may modify Subscriber Fees to reflect changes in the City operations expenses. 

B. Additional Fees  

Radio template development and system setup services will be provided at a flat rate of $350.00. 

This flat rate includes template creation plus one (1) mobile and one (1) portable code plug. 

Additional code plugs will be billed as regular subscriber programming services. Subscriber 

programming services will be provided in 15-minute increments at an hourly rate of $125. 

Payments are due within thirty (30)-days from date of billing to the address as indicated on the 

invoice. 

V. SUBSCRIBER PROBLEMS 

If the User experiences subscriber problems, the User will first contact its subscriber maintenance 

provider for an evaluation of the problem.  If the maintenance provider determines the problem is not an 

equipment installation or maintenance problem with the subscriber, the User will notify the RSC by email 

to 800help@cityoftacoma.org.  If the RSC determines the problem originates from the User’s subscriber, 

charges for RSC time will be billed to User at the rate(s) specified in §IV, User Fees.  If the problem is 

due to PSRS malfunction, the RSC will take appropriate corrective action at its own expense and report 

such corrective action to the User. 

VI. APPROVED SUBSCRIBERS 

The User will operate only subscribers capable of P25 TDMA on the PSRS.  

VII. SUBSCRIBER MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR 

The User is responsible for maintenance and repair of its subscriber equipment. User will assure the 

subscriber equipment is operating within the manufacturers specifications to assure optimal operation that 

will have no adverse impact on other PSRS Users.   

VIII. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

A.  No Personal Business – No personal business may be conducted on the PSRS by User, its 

employees, or authorized agents, including volunteers and the User's service provider. 

B.  Compliance with Federal, State and Local Laws – User will comply with all current and future 

Federal Communications Commission laws, rules, and regulations as well as with all applicable 

state and local laws. 

C. Corrective Action – In order to protect the integrity, security, safety, and efficient operation of 

PSRS for all its Users, User will take appropriate corrective action against any of its employees 

who violate PSRS guidelines set out in this User Agreement. 

D. Abuse of User Privileges – At the sole discretion of the City, Users repeated violation of PSRS 

guidelines provided in this Agreement will result in termination of the Agreement by the City. 

133



Page 3 of 4 

 

TACOMA PUBLIC SAFETY RADIO SYSTEM USER AGREEMENT 

City of Tacoma/City of Fircrest 

IX. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

If either Party fails to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Parties agree to resolve the issue 

at the lowest management level of each Party.  The City and the User will consider the details of the non-

performance issue, assess if there are past issues of non-performance, determine duration of 

non-performance, determine the level of non-performance, and negotiate in good faith a mutually 

agreeable solution. If the parties cannot agree on a solution, this agreement may be mutually terminated 

upon thirty (30) days written notice by either Party. 

X. DURATION, CANCELLATION & TERMINATION OF USER 

Participation in the PSRS will remain in effect until December 31, 2025, and will automatically renew 

annually unless terminated by either Party upon ninety (90) days written notice to either Party or upon 

thirty (30) days written notice per the Dispute Resolution process. 

XI. NOTICES 

All notices given under this Agreement, except for emergency service requests, will be made in writing.  

All notices will be sent to the parties as follows: 

PSRS: Aaron Taylor 

 3639 S Pine St, Rm F125B 

Tacoma, WA  98409 

ataylor@cityoftacoma.org 

 (253) 591-5478 

User: Dawn Masko, City Manager 

City of Fircrest 

115 Ramsdell Street 

Fircrest, WA 98466 

dmasko@cityoffircrest.net 

253-564-8901 
 

 

User Contact Person - User will appoint an employee to serve as its Contact Person with the RSC.  The 

Contact Person will be responsible for authorizing template modifications, coordinating new subscribers 

onto the PSRS, providing template data to the RSC and providing after hour emergency telephone 

numbers. The contact information for Olympic Ambulance Service, Inc. is as follows:  

Ronald Schaub, Chief of Police 

City of Fircrest 

302 Regents Blvd. 

Fircrest, WA 98466 

rschaub@cityoffircrest.net 

253-565-1198 

 

RSC Contact Person 

Rob Totten 

3639 S Pine St, Rm F125B 

Tacoma, WA 98409 

(253) 591-5487 

800help@cityoftacoma.org 

134

mailto:dmasko@cityoffircrest.net
mailto:rschaub@cityoffircrest.net


Page 4 of 4 

 

TACOMA PUBLIC SAFETY RADIO SYSTEM USER AGREEMENT 

City of Tacoma/City of Fircrest 

XII. MISCELLANEOUS 

A. Waiver – The failure of a Party to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this Agreement will 

not be considered a waiver or deprive the Party of the right thereafter to insist upon the strict 

adherence to that term of the Agreement. 

B. Modification – This Agreement may be modified, amended, extended, or augmented, only by 

written amendment signed by both the parties. 

C. Governing Law – This Agreement will be governed by, and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Washington. Venue for any legal action shall be Pierce County Superior 

Court.  

D. Hold Harmless – To the extent permitted by law, the City and User agree to hold each other 

harmless against claims arising from the alleged negligent acts or omissions of their respective 

public employees or agents, which occurred or are alleged to have occurred during the 

performance of PSRS use.   

E. Force Majeure – Parties to this agreement will not be responsible for any failure to perform 

hereunder due to unforeseen circumstances or due to causes beyond the non-performing Party’s 

reasonable control, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, acts of God, war, 

riot, embargoes, acts of government, civil or military authorities, catastrophe, fire, floods, 

accidents, strikes, shortages of transportation, facilities, fuel, energy, labor or material acts of a 

public enemy. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement to take effect as of 

the day and year first written above. 

 

CITY OF TACOMA CITY OF FIRCREST 

 

             

Steve Taylor Date Dawn Masko Date 

Information Technology Senior Manager City Manager 

135



firpd-03v 656CNM4532 FIRPD-06 655CNF1733
firpd-11v. 656CTZ0690 FIRPD-01 655CPT4395

firpd-60943Dpv 656CPP2060 FIRPD-02 655CPT4396
firpd-11v 656CPP2063 LOST FIRPD 5 655CPT4397
firpd-08v 656CPP2069 FIRPD-08 655CPT4398
firpd-06v 656CPP2070 FIRPD-03 655CPT4399
firpd-07v 656CPP2072 FIRPD-10 655CPT4400

firpd-Motorcycle 656CPP1705 FIRPD-11 655CPT4401
firpd-01v 656CPP2071 FIRPD-05 655CPT4402
firpd-02v 656CTH0454 FIRPD-07 655CPT4403
firpd-05v 656CPP1961 FIRPD-31 837CXH1063

MOBILE (IN-VEHICLE) RADIOS PORTABLE RADIO 

136



#I
#I

#I

#I

#I

#I

#I

#I

#I

#I

#I

#I

#I
EOC

Graham

Edgewood

Allen York

Bonnie Lake TankWSP

LESA

Pearl

Tyler

Dupont

Indian Hill

Fire Training

McNeil Island

1 inch = 7.1 miles

0 2 41 Miles

Mar 16, 2012 Hydra 4.4.2186.0 Portion(s) of GIS Source Data Copyright:© 2009 ESRI, AND, TANA, ESRI Japan, UNEP-WCMC. 1773228738.8.000.2.55

CBurdett

Run_55

Purple = McNeil Site
Green = Tacoma Simulcast
Orange = Puyallup Simulcast

For Informational Use Only
Coverage not Guaranteed

City of Tacoma Simulcast, McNeil Site and City of Puyallup Simulcast
800 MHz P25 Phase 2 TDMA

97% Covered Area Reliability
DAQ 3.4

Inbound from APX7000 portable radio, worn at hip-level using a 
Motorola-provided swivel case, standard speaker mic, and flex whip antenna

Attachment 3 - P25 TDMA Coverage Area

137



Ronald Schaub 
Chief of Police 

THE  CITY OF FIRCREST POLICE DEPARTMENT 

302 Regents Blvd. • Fircrest, WA 98466 • Phone: (253) 565-1198 • Fax: (253) 564-2538 

December 27, 2023 

Jody Ferguson, Executive Director 
Combined Communications Network (CCN) 
C/O Pierce County Department of Emergency Management 
2501 S. 35th St. #D 
Tacoma, WA 98409 

Re: CCN 700 MHz System

Executive Director Ferguson, 

In 2022, our annual radio subscriber fee was $11,955.02. This year, the fee went up to 
$23,712.09. On 11-20-2023, there was an email exchange with Ms. Lenk about the possibility of 
our 700 MHz system subscriber fees increasing from $44.53 per month to potentially $120 per 
unit.  This would effectively triple our radio access fees within one year after doubling our 
current subscriber rate. 

In November 2011, Pierce County residents voted for Proposition 1, with the sole purpose of 
creating a reliable radio system being built out to provide better protection for first responders.  It 
seems that the original purpose has been lost.  Pierce County and South Sound 911 are 
currently engaged in a revenue battle over E-911 monies.   As a small public safety agency, we 
are caught between two monoliths and will be ground to powder in the process of fighting over 
revenue sharing.   

I must echo EPFR Chief Baker’s subscriber rate concerns in his correspondence with Executive 
Director Porter dated September 25, 2017: 

“In addition, the potential for unsustainable access fees to be charged by the CCN is of 

grave concern. If South Sound 911 were to not subsidize the cost of the access fees, EPFR 

would see over a 400% increase above what we currently pay. Prior to moving to the 700 MHz, 

EPFR paid no access fees because radio costs were incorporated into our overall dispatch 

system. 

Today, the annual fee is $82,404. This would increase by over $200,000 annually without 

the subsidy provided by South Sound 911 (based on $109/month/radio). I'm certain that had 

Fire Commissioners understood that we would incur a new cost of $282,404 annually, they 

would have not approved, and we would not have the new radios we have today.” 138



Given our location between two large 800 MHz users (Tacoma and Lakewood), this letter 
informs you that the City of Fircrest will explore moving our operations to the 800 MHz 
system.  South Sound 911 has assured us that they can support this move organizationally.  

Our next step is to reach out to the City of Tacoma and fully vet the 800 MHz radio option.  
Once we have completed our due diligence, I will contact you with our final decision. 

Respectfully, 

Ronald D. Schaub 
Chief of Police

139



Ronald D. Schaub 
Chief of Police 

 

 

THE C I T Y  OF FIRCREST POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 

302 Regents Blvd. • Fircrest, WA 98466 • Phone: (253) 565-1198 • Fax: (253) 564-2538 
 
June 27, 2024 
 
Jody Ferguson, Executive Director 
CCN 
C/O Pierce County DEM 
2501 S. 35th St #D 
Tacoma, WA 98409  

Daniel Key, Information Technology Director 
City of Tacoma IT Department 
733 Market Street, Fifth Floor 
Tacoma, WA 98402 

 
 
Re: CCN 700 MHz System 
 
Director Ferguson & Director Key, 
 
In December 2023, the City of Fircrest officially requested the option of exploring moving from the CCN 700 
MHz system to the City of Tacoma's 800 MHz system.   
 
During the initial stages of exploration, South Sound 911 assured me that they could support this move 
organizationally. Given our proximity to the City of Tacoma system, our radio coverage would be at least as 
strong as the 700 MHz system. ED Ferguson sent an email on January 18, 2024, regarding 2024 Radio rates. 
In that correspondence, there was a section titled "Jumping Ship": 
 
"We have heard rumblings from our customers considering moving from the County's system to the City of 
Tacoma's system in order to reduce costs. At this time, the radio system owners agree that it does not 
make business sense to move customers around when we are in the middle of pursuing a single system 
which will change the playing field for all customers. It is also more technically complicated than simply 
obtaining SS911 support. Additionally, we recently audited usage levels by customers on both systems and 
discovered that in several instances, customers were utilizing the County system more than the system to 
which they subscribe. To ensure that our customers are not subsidizing non-customers, agencies that are 
utilizing the County system for more than occasional mutual aid will be invoiced at our current customer 
rates." 
 
Our annual radio subscriber fee was $11,955.02 in 2022. In 2023, it increased to $23,712.09. We received 
our 2024 invoice on March 25, 2024, for $28,097.92. In the last three years, our rates have nearly tripled. As 
a small public safety agency, we have budget constraints.  
 
Budget containment concerns were previously brought forward to the CCN first by EPFR Chief Baker in 
September 2017. The Pierce County Fire Chief's Association raised this issue again on February 2, 2024. 
The Fire Districts on the 700 MHz system choose to not pay the 2024 increase and maintained their 
remittance at the 2023 rate. 
 
 
 

140



 
The citizens of Pierce County passed Proposition #1 to create a reliable radio system to protect first 
responders. While the Pierce County Police and Fire Chief's Associations support a single radio system, 
my fiduciary responsibility is to the citizens of Fircrest. The interagency debate about a single radio system 
has ebbed and flowed since the inception of South Sound 911 in 2011. The issue is still unresolved thirteen 
years later. Even if Pierce County and the City of Tacoma resolve the problem tomorrow, implementing a 
single radio system is likely two years away.  
 
As a "consumer" of public safety radio communication services, the arbitrary decision by the system 
owners to limit my ability to make the best financial and operational decisions for my police department 
and City is unacceptable. Again, I request the ability to fully explore moving our police operations to the 
City of Tacoma's 800 MHz system. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 

Ronald D. Schaub 
Chief of Police 
City of Fircrest 
 
 
 
 
CC: Dawn Masko, City Manager 

141



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: KPG Psomas, P.S. On-Call Engineering Services Contract Amendment 

ITEM: 13K 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Tyler Bemis, Public Works Director 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, authorizing the City 

Manager to execute Amendment #10 to the Professional Services Agreement with KPG 

Psomas for on-call engineering services.   

 

PROPOSAL: The City Council is being asked to authorize the City Manager to execute 

Amendment #10 to the Professional Services Agreement with KPG Psomas, P.S., to provide on-

call engineering services. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: This agreement does not have a contract amount attached, as the work will 

be performed by task order for each request.  Total costs are to be within the budgeted amount for 

professional services for each respective department and project budget.   

 

ADVANTAGES: Utilization of an on-call engineer helps to expedite approval and design of 

projects.  KPG Psomas provides a wide variety of engineering services that meet the potential 

needs of Public Works. 
 

DISADVANTAGES: None identified.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  Do not have an on-call engineer for services and provide professional service 

agreements for each task, potentially delaying project work during the engineer selection process.  

 

BACKGROUND: KPG Psomas has provided the City with on-call engineering services since 

2016.  KPG is currently working on multiple projects for the City, including the Claremont Street 

Grind and Overlay project.  The City has been successful in the past years in utilizing the services 

of KPG.  The City and KPG Psomas wish to continue this on-call engineering contract. 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

   Amendment #10 to the Professional Services Agreement 

   Exhibit B – 2025 Professional Services Fee Schedule 

    

    

142



 

Page 1 of 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

MANAGER TO EXECUTE A TENTH AMENDMENT TO THE 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH KPG PSOMAS, 

P.S. FOR ON-CALL ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR SERVICES. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest has contracted with KPG Psomas, P.S. to provide 

on-call engineering services for transportation-related projects and additional services 

as needed since 2016; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest has identified funds for these services in the annual 

budget; and 

 

WHEREAS, the term of said Agreement will expire on December 31, 2024; and 

 

WHEREAS, KPG Psomas, P.S. has provided the 2025 schedule of charges identified 

in “Exhibit B” to the Amendment; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest wishes to continue utilizing KPG Psomas, P.S. for 

these services.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 

 

Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute a Tenth 

Amendment to the Professional Service Agreement with KPG Psomas, P.S., extending 

the term of the said agreement through December 31, 2025, and updating the fees. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of 

November 2024.   
 

APPROVED: 

 

_____________________________                 

                                                                     Shannon Reynolds, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 
 

_____________________________  

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

_____________________________  

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

143



 1 

 

 

AMENDMENT #10 

TO THE CITY OF FIRCREST 

 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

WITH KPG PSOMAS, P.S. FOR ON-CALL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
 

This Tenth Amendment is hereby made and entered into this 12th day of November 2024 by and 

between the City of Fircrest, a political subdivision of the State of Washington, hereinafter 

referred to as the “City,” and KPG Psomas, P.S., hereinafter referred to as “Consultant’, to be 

effective January 1, 2025. 

WITNESSETH: 

1.  Purpose 

The purpose of this Tenth Amendment is to amend the March 22, 2016 agreement.  This 

amendment is limited to the amendments as set forth herein.  All of the remaining terms and 

conditions of the March 22, 2016, agreement shall remain in full force and effect. The 

amendments are as follows:  
 

2.  Exhibit B is hereby replaced with a new Exhibit B to reflect the 2025 schedule of charges. 

 

3.  The Term of Agreement shall be extended through December 31, 2025. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to these presents have executed this contract in three 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed as originals, in the year and day first above 

mentioned.   
 

 

CITY OF FIRCREST     KPG Psomas, P.S.  

         

         
 

By                                          ___              By                                                      

       Dawn Masko, City Manager     
 

 

 

Approved as to Form: 
 

 

By                                             ___                                                            

       Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

144



2025 Inclusive Rate

Classification (Rounded to $1)

Principal 302

Engineering Manager I 236

Engineering Manager II 273

Asst. Engineering Manager 224

Senior Engineer I 202

Senior Engineer II 214

Project Engineer I 173

Project Engineer II 195

Design Engineer I 139

Design Engineer II 145

Design Engineer III 157

Engineering Technician 119

Technician 106

Engineering Assistant 95

Senior Project Manager Survey 260

Survey Crew I (w/Equip) 221

Survey Crew II (w/Equip) 282

Field Surveyor I 107

Field Surveyor II 140

Field Surveyor III 157

Project Surveyor I 161

Project Surveyor II 179

Surveyor I 98

Surveyor II 134

Surveyor III 150

Urban Design Manager 230

Senior Landscape Architect I 189

Senior Landscape Architect II 209

Project Landscape Architect I 162

Project Landscape Architect II 173

Landscape Designer I 109

Landscape Designer II 121

Landscape Designer III 139

Landscape Assistant 94

Senior Transportation Planner 213

Transportation Planner 127

Environmental Manager 236

Senior Environmental Planner I 189

Senior Environmental Planner II 255

Managing Biologist I 189

Managing Biologist II 211

Managing Biologist III 239

Senior Archaeologist 175

GIS Manager 167

Senior Biologist I 142

Senior Biologist II 164

Word Processor 123

Biologist I 82

Biologist II 110

Biologist III 132

Environmental Planner 164

Editor 94

GIS Tech 91

Cultural Resource Specialist 85

Senior Construction Manager 254

Construction Manager 205

Senior Resident Engineer 196

Resident Engineer 161

Assistant Resident Engineer 142

Senior Construction Observer 198

Construction Observer I 110

Construction Observer II 135

Construction Observer III 148

Construction Technician 101

Document Control Specialist I 120

Document Control Specialist II 141

Document Control Specialist III 152

Document Control Admin 108

Construction Assistant 94

CAD Manager 187

Senior CAD Technician 145

CAD Technician 129

Business Manager 184

Senior Admin 145

Office Admin 115

Office Assistant 102

Subs billed at cost plus 5%.

Reimbursables billed at actual costs.

  Mileage billed at the current approved IRS mileage rate.

Psomas Inc./Fircrest On-call

Summary of Negotiated Costs

Effective January 1, 2025 through December 31, 2025

File: NEG 2025 on-call Rates Fircrest  174.xlsx145



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: NW GIS Consulting, LLC On-Call GIS Services Contract Amendment 

ITEM: 13L 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Tyler Bemis, Public Works Director 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, authorizing the City 

Manager to execute Amendment #9 to the Professional Services Agreement with NW GIS 

Consulting for on-call GIS services.   

 

PROPOSAL: The City Council is being asked to authorize the City Manager to execute 

Amendment #9 to the Professional Services Agreement with NW GIS Consulting, LLC., to 

provide on-call GIS services. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: This agreement does not have a contracted amount. Public Works has 

identified a budget number that will not be exceeded.  There is no rate increase for 2025.  

 

ADVANTAGES: The City needs a qualified professional for on-call GIS services.  NW GIS 

Consulting has extensive experience in the area and has been instrumental in updating and 

maintaining our GIS program.   
 

DISADVANTAGES: None identified.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  The City could consider another firm with equivalent experience, though an 

alternative firm would lack valuable historical knowledge of the functionality of our systems and 

the direction the City wishes to propel its GIS program.  

 

BACKGROUND: The City first contracted with NW GIS Consulting in 2015 to update and 

maintain our GIS data and provide on-call GIS support services.  NW GIS Consulting has provided 

the necessary subject matter expertise to advance the City’s GIS program.  The City and NW GIS 

Consulting wish to continue this on-call GIS contract. 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

   Amendment #9 to the Professional Services Agreement 

    

    

    

146



 

Page 1 of 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

MANAGER TO EXECUTE A NINTH AMENDMENT TO THE 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH NW GIS 

CONSULTING, LLC FOR ON-CALL GIS SERVICES. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest has contracted with NW GIS Consulting, LLC. to 

provide on-call GIS services since 2015; and 

 

WHEREAS, the term of said Agreement will expire on December 31, 2024; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 3 of said Agreement provides for the option to extend the term 

of the Agreement for one year; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest desires to continue utilizing NW GIS Consulting, 

LLC. for these services.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 

 

Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute a Ninth 

Amendment to the Professional Service Agreement with NW GIS Consulting, LLC, 

extending the term of the said agreement through December 31, 2025. 

 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of 

November 2024.   
 

APPROVED: 

 

_____________________________                 

                                                                     Shannon Reynolds, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 
 

_____________________________  

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

_____________________________  

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

147



 1 

 

 

AMENDMENT #9 

TO THE CITY OF FIRCREST 

 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

WITH NW GIS CONSULTING, LLC FOR ON-CALL GIS SERVICES 
 

This Ninth Amendment is hereby made and entered into this 12th day of November 2024 by and 

between the City of Fircrest, a political subdivision of the State of Washington, hereinafter 

referred to as the “City,” and NW GIS Consulting, LLC, hereinafter referred to as “Consultant’, 

to be effective January 1, 2025. 

WITNESSETH: 

1.  Purpose 

The purpose of this Ninth Amendment is to amend the May 26, 2015 agreement.  This 

amendment is limited to the amendments as set forth herein.  All of the remaining terms and 

conditions of the May 26, 2015, agreement shall remain in full force and effect. The amendment 

is as follows:  
 

2.  Section 3 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

 Term:  The term of this agreement shall be from January 1, 2025 until December 31, 

2025, and may be extended or modified by the mutual consent of the parties. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to these presents have executed this contract in three 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed as originals, in the year and day first above 

mentioned.   
 

 

CITY OF FIRCREST     NW GIS Consulting, LLC 

         

         
 

By                                          ___              By                                                      

       Dawn Masko, City Manager     
 

 

 

Approved as to Form: 
 

 

By                                             ___                                                            

       Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

148



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Water Meter Exchange Contract  

ITEM: 13M 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Tyler Bemis, Public Works Director 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, authorizing the City 

Manager to execute a Contract for Services with Pape & Sons Construction, Inc. to provide 

additional support to the Water Meter Exchange Project.   

 

PROPOSAL: The City Council is being asked to authorize the City Manager to execute a Contract 

for Services with Pape & Sons Construction, Inc. to provide additional support for the Water Meter 

Exchange Project.   
 

FISCAL IMPACT: The additional services for water meter installation will be funded using 

$43,376.10 from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds. The current budget appropriation 

in the Water Capital Fund is sufficient to cover this contract amendment.   
 

ADVANTAGES: The utilization of an outside service provider will help accelerate the 

completion of the water meter exchange project, particularly given the current vacancy of a Utility 

Service Worker. 
 

DISADVANTAGES: None.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  Continue the project with internal staff and potentially not complete the 

residential portion of the project in 2024.  
 

BACKGROUND: In early 2019, the City identified Kamstrup AMR/AMI water meters as the 

best fit for the City of Fircrest water system.  The system has a total of 2,402 metered connections.  

The initial meter replacement began in spring 2020, with 143 meters being replaced that year.  

Since then, 444 meters were replaced in 2021, 238 in 2022, and 296 in 2023.   
 

The City Council allocated $30,000 in American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds in the 2024 Water 

Capital budget to be used to provide water meter installation support to the Public Works staff.  At 

the time of the contract execution in June 2024, the project was 58% complete, with approximately 

1,000 meters remaining to be exchanged. 856 meters have been exchanged year-to-date in 2024.   
 

Currently, 339 meters remain to be exchanged, including both residential and commercial meters. 

By continuing to utilize  Pape & Sons Construction, the City anticipates completing the residential 

meter exchanges by the end of 2024.   As Pape & Son’s original contract expired on October 31, 

2024, a new contract is needed with a completion date of June 1, 2025, which will allow sufficient 

time to address the complexities of exchanging commercial and multi-family meters. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

   Contract for Services 

   Cost Estimate 

149



 

Page 1 of 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 

TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT FOR SERVICES WITH PAPE & SONS 

CONSTRUCTION, INC. FOR WATER METER EXCHANGE 

PROJECT SERVICES. 

 

WHEREAS, in 2019, the City of Fircrest identified the need to exchange old inefficient 

manual read water meters with new Advanced Metering Infrastructure meters; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City entered into a Contract for Services with Pape & Sons 

Construction, Inc. in June 2024 to provide support for the Water Meter Exchange 

Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, the current Agreement term expired on October 31, 2024; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest wishes to continue utilizing Pape & Sons Construction 

Inc. to complete the Water Meter Exchange Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 

 

Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute a Contract for 

Services with Pape & Sons Construction, Inc., to complete the Water Meter Exchange 

Project. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of November 

2024.   
 

APPROVED: 
 

 

_____________________________                 

                                                                     Shannon Reynolds, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

_____________________________  

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_____________________________  

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

  

150



CITY OF FIRCREST  
CONTRACT FOR SERVICES 

THIS CONTRACT, hereinafter referred to as the “Contract,” is entered into this ____ day of ___________, 

2024, by and between the City of Fircrest, a political subdivision of the State of Washington and 

hereinafter referred to as the “City,” and Pape & Sons Construction, Inc., hereinafter referred to as the 

“Contractor,” collectively “Parties.” 

 

In consideration of the terms and conditions contained herein, and attached and made a part of this 

agreement, the parties hereto covenant and agree as follows: 

1. PROJECT DESIGNATION.  The Contractor is retained by the City to perform water meter installation 
services in connection with the project designated as the Water Meter Exchange Project (“Project”). 

2. SCOPE OF SERVICES.  The Contractor agrees to perform the services, including the provision of all 
labor, materials, equipment, and supplies, as identified in Exhibit A. 

3. TIME OF COMPLETION/RENEWAL.  The Parties agree that time is of the essence.  The Contractor 
agrees that the Work described in this Contract shall be completed by June 1, 2025. 

This Contract will not automatically renew.  If a Party wishes to extend the time of completion, the 
Party must notify the other Party in writing at least 30 calendar days prior to the expiration of this 
Contract.  All extensions must be mutually agreed to in writing. 

4. PAYMENT.  Upon receipt of an invoice from the Contractor, the City may make monthly progress 
payments for work completed. Each invoice shall itemize by site and date the work performed and 
include a signed statement that prevailing wages have been paid by the Contractor and all 
subcontractors. Final payment will be withheld until the City receives certification from the State of 
Washington Department of Labor and Industries that the “Affidavit of Wages Paid” has been filed. 
The total cost for the Water Meter Exchange Project shall not exceed $46,376.10, including tax.   

5. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not sublet or assign any of the work covered by this Contract 
without the express written consent of the City. 

6. COMPLIANCE WITH CITY POLICY. The Contractor shall comply with approved City policies concerning 
the administration of City-owned property, and the provisions of the policy shall have the same force 
and effect as the provisions of this Contract to the extent not inconsistent herewith. 

7. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. The Contractor agrees that all persons employed in it and by any of its 
subcontractors in work done pursuant to this Contract shall be in accordance with all Federal, State, 
and local laws. Per Fircrest Municipal Code 5.04.020, the Contractor must possess a City of Fircrest 
business license prior to performing any work pursuant to this Contract.  

8. CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 
The Contractor hereby represents that it has all necessary licenses and certifications to perform the 
services provided for herein and is qualified to perform such services. 
 

9. DEBARMENT. The Contractor must certify that it and its subcontractors have not been and are not 
currently on the Federal or Washington State Debarment List.  If the Contractor or its subcontractors 
become listed on the Federal or State Debarment List, the City must be notified immediately. 
 

151



10. EXTRA WORK AND CHANGE ORDERS.  Work in addition to, or different from, that provided for in the 
Scope of Work shall only be allowed by prior authorization in writing and signed by the City Manager 
as a modification to this Contract. Such change order or modification shall be attached hereto and 
made a part hereof. 

11. HAZARDOUS CONDITIONS. The Contractor shall maintain all work sites free of hazards to persons 
and/or property resulting from its operation. 

12. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS.  To the fullest extent allowed by law, the Contractor must 
defend, indemnify, and hold the City, its employees, officials, directors, officers, agents, and 
volunteers harmless from and against any and all claims, injuries, damages, liabilities, liens, losses or 
lawsuits, including all legal costs and attorney fees, for any or all injuries to persons or damage to 
property arising out of or resulting from the acts, errors, or omissions of the Contractor, its officers, 
employees, agents or subcontractors, in connection with Contractor’s performance of this Contract, 
except for injuries and damages caused by the sole negligence of the City. 

The City’s inspection or acceptance of any of the Contractor’s work when completed is not grounds 
to avoid any of these covenants of indemnification. 

The Contractor and City agree that for any concurrent negligence between the Contractor and City, 
as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, the Contractor is only liable to the extent of the 
Contractor's negligence. If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the Contractor’s work is 
covered under RCW 4.24.115, the Contractor’s obligation to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless is 
only to the extent of the Contractor's negligence. 

The Contractor specifically assumes potential liability for actions brought by the Contractor’s own 
employees against the City and, solely for the purpose of this indemnification and defense, waives 
any immunity under the state industrial insurance law, Title 51 RCW.  The Contractor recognizes that 
this waiver was the subject of mutual negotiation.   

This indemnification and provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 

13. INSURANCE.  The Contractor will obtain and maintain, for the duration of this Contract, insurance 
against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property that may arise from or in connection with 
the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, or employees.  
The Contractor’s maintenance of insurance as required by this Contract shall not be construed to limit 
the Contractor’s liability to the coverage provided by such insurance or otherwise limit the City’s 
recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity.  The Contractor shall maintain at least the 
following minimum insurance coverage covering all activity under this Contract, and as to which the 
City shall be named as primary non-contributory additional insured on the liability insurance: 

a. Workers’ Compensation Coverage  Statutory 

b. Commercial General Liability   $1,000,000/$2,000,000 aggregate 

c. Comprehensive Automobile Liability  $1,000,000 per accident 

d. $100,000 Employee Fidelity coverage that extends to the City and City employee property. 
 

A Certificate of Insurance showing the foregoing will be submitted to the City for approval before 
work commences. 

152



The Contractor must include all subcontractors as insured under its policies or furnish separate 
certifications and endorsements for each subcontractor.  All coverage for subcontractors is subject to 
the same insurance requirements as the Contractor. 

The minimum limits above do not limit the Contractor’s liability to the City or the public. 

14. INTEGRATED AGREEMENT. This Contract, together with attachments or addenda, represents the 
entire and integrated Contract between the parties. This Contract may be amended only by written 
instrument signed by both the City and the Contractor. 

15. NON-DISCRIMINATION.  The Contractor shall not discriminate against any person, customer, 
employee, an applicant for employment, subcontractor, supplier, materialman, firm, partnership, or 
organization because of race, religion, creed, color, national origin or ancestry, sex, gender identity, 
sexual orientation, age, marital status, familial status, veteran or military status, or the presence of 
any sensory, mental, or physical disability, except for a bona fide occupational qualification. Any 
person, firm, partnership, or organization contracting with, or doing business with, the City shall be in 
conformity with the City’s policy on non-discrimination.  The Contractor understands that if it violates 
this provision, this Contract may be terminated by the City and that the Contractor may be barred 
from performing any service for the City now or in the future. 

16. NON-WAIVER.  A waiver by the City of any provision of this Contract or any time limitation provided 
for in this Contract shall not constitute a waiver of any other provisions. 
 

17. PERFORMANCE.  The Contractor for itself, and for its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 
assigns, does hereby agree to the full performance of all the covenants herein upon the part of the 
Contractor. The City reserves the right to withhold a part or all the monthly payments if, in the 
judgment of the City, the Contractor has not performed or has unsatisfactorily performed any of the 
work set forth in this Contract, provided that the City shall promptly notify the Contractor in writing 
of the specific items of non-performance or unsatisfactory performance. Any such payments withheld 
shall reasonably relate to the estimated value of the work not performed. 

18. PREVAILING WAGES. The Contractor agrees that all laborers, workers, or mechanics employed by it 
or by any subcontractor in the work of this Contract will be paid not less than the prevailing rate of 
wage for an hour’s work in accordance with the provisions of the Revised Code of Washington, 
Chapter 39.12, and all rules and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.  Prior to making any 
payment under this Contract, the Contractor must submit to the City an approved copy of the 
“Statement of Intent to Pay Prevailing Wages” from the Department of Labor and Industries.  It is the 
Contractor's responsibility to obtain and file the Statement and pay all filing fees. 

Current prevailing wage rates may be obtained from the Washington State Department of Labor and 
Industries website:  https://fortress.wa.gov/lni/wagelookup/prvWagelookup.aspx.   The applicable 
effective date for prevailing wages for this project located in Pierce County is November 12, 2024. 

Notice from the Contractor and all subcontractors of intent to pay prevailing wages and prevailing 
wage rates for the Project must be posted for the benefit of the workers.  Each invoice must include 
a signed statement that prevailing wages have been paid by the Contractor and all subcontractors.  
Following the final acceptance of services rendered, the Contractor must submit a “Minimum Wage 
Affidavit” for themselves and any subcontractors.  Final payment on the Contract will be withheld 
until the City receives certification from the Department of Labor and Industries that prevailing wage 
requirements have been satisfied. 

153



In case any dispute arises as to what the prevailing rates of wages for work of similar nature are and 
such dispute cannot be adjusted by the parties involved, the matter shall be referred to the Director 
of the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries for arbitration, and the Director's 
decision therein shall be final and conclusive and binding on all parties involved in the dispute. 

19. RECORDS. The Contractor acknowledges that all records created or used by the Contractor in the 
performance of this Contract may be subject to the Public Records Act, RCW 42.46; therefore, the 
Contractor should not destroy any record without first notifying the City’s Records Officer (City Clerk).  
“Record” includes but is not limited to all written and electronic documents, photographs, drawings, 
and maps.  
 

20. SAFETY REQUIREMENT. All work performed under the terms of this Contract shall be performed in a 
manner that provides maximum safety to the public and City employees. 

21. SEVERABILITY. Each provision of this Contract is intended to be severable.  If any provision hereof is 
illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the validity of 
the remainder of this Contract, which remains in full force and effect. 

22. STATUS OF CONTRACTOR. Neither the Contractor nor personnel employed by the Contractor shall 
acquire any rights or status in City employment, nor shall they be deemed employees or agents of the 
City for any purpose. The Contractor is required to employ a qualified supervisor who is acceptable to 
the City. The Contractor shall be deemed an independent contractor and responsible in full for 
payment of its employees, including prevailing wages, worker’s compensation, insurance, payroll 
deductions, and all related costs. 
 

23. TAXES. The Contractor shall comply with federal, state, and local tax laws, Social Security Acts, 
Unemployment Compensation Acts, and Workers Compensation Acts in so far as they apply to the 
performance of this Contract. 

24. TERMINATION. If the Contractor violates any of the covenants undertaken herein or any of the duties 
imposed upon it by this Contract, the City may immediately terminate this Contract with cause. 
Alternatively, either Party may terminate this Contract without cause upon thirty (30) days' written 
notice served to the other Party by certified mail. The Contractor shall be compensated for all work 
performed to the date of termination. 
 

25. VENUE STIPULATION. This Contract shall be considered to have been made and delivered within the 
State of Washington, both as to interpretation and performance. Any action in law or equity or judicial 
proceeding for the enforcement of this Contract or any of the provisions contained therein shall be 
instituted and maintained only in Pierce County Superior Court, Tacoma, Washington. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have accepted and executed this Contract, as of the Effective 

Date stated above, which shall be the Effective Date for bonding purposes as applicable.  The undersigned 

Contractor representative, by signature below, represents and warrants they are duly authorized to 

execute this legally binding Agreement for and on behalf of the Contractor and further represents and 

warrants that the Contractor is not suspended, debarred, or otherwise disqualified under federal, state, 

or local law from participating in this Contract. 

 
 
 

 

154



CITY OF FIRCREST     PAPE & SONS CONSTRUCTION, INC. 

 

 

By: ________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

Dawn Masko, City Manager    

Printed Name: _______________________    

      

        Title: _______________________________  

 
 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    ATTEST: 

 

By: ________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney          Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

 

 

155



EXHIBIT A 

Scope of Services 

 

Pape & Sons Construction, Inc. will deploy a team of skilled workers to install additional water meters as 

part of the City of Fircrest Water Meter Exchange Project. The scope of this contract amendment 

encompasses the installation of 399 remaining AMI Kamstrup water meters.   The City will provide all AMI 

Kamstrup meters, gaskets, bolts, followers, and new meter boxes (if needed).   

 

Scope of Work: 

• Install 339 water meters. 

• Dig out existing meter boxes to access the old meters. 

o Note:  The City of Fircrest may provide assistance on digging out meters for apartment 

complexes using an eductor truck when accessible. 

• Install new AMI Kamstrup water meters. 

• Record old meter information and new meter installation details. 

• Backfill excavated areas and clean up the site. 

 

Cost Estimate: 

Meter Sizes and Quantities: 

Meter Sizes Quantity Unit Unit Price Amount 

5/8” x 3/4" meters 240 Each $97.00 $23,280.00 

1” meters 21 Each $97.00 2,037.00 

1.5” meters 38 Each $160.00 6,080.00 

2” meters 40 Each $200.00 8,000.00 

     

Subtotal    $39,397.00 

Sales Tax   10.1% 3,979.10 

Total Estimate 339   $43,376.10 

 

156



Net 30
12% Interest on Past Due Amounts

Phil Sagen

DATE Project Name

10/21/2024 City of Fircrest - Water Meter Exchanges

ITEMIZED COSTS QTY Unit UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

240
21
38
40

EA
EA
EA
EA

$97.00
$97.00
$160.00
$200.00

23,280.00
2,037.00
6,080.00
8,000.00

$  39,397.00
Tax Rate 10.1% 3,979.10

$  43,376.10

253 851 6040

Thank you for your business! TOTAL ESTIMATE

Subtotal

This estimate is not a contract or a bill. It is based on the information provided , based upon our initial inspection, but may be subject to change. If prices change or additional parts and labor 
are required, we will inform you prior to proceeding with the work.

Excludes: Engineering, Surveying, Permits, Dewatering, Compaction Testing, any import or export material or any other work not identified in the scope or itemized costs. Estimate excludes any night, overtime, or 
work outside regular business hours.

If you have any questions, please contact Phil Sagen

Estimate Prepared by

TO

SCOPE OF WORK

Jeff Davis 

City of Fircrest Public Works Department

120 Ramsdell St

Fircrest WA 98466

ESTIMATE
Payment Terms

Replace existing water meters with new city supplied AMI water meters. All materials to be supplied by the owner. 

Sales Tax

5/8" x  3/4" meters
1" meters

1.5" meters
2" meters

157



 FIRCREST CITY COUNCIL AGENDA SUMMARY 
 

NEW BUSINESS: Electron Way and Contra Costa Avenue Crosswalk Project Award 

ITEM: 13N 

DATE: November 12, 2024 

FROM: Tyler Bemis, Public Works Director 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution No. _____, authorizing the City 

Manager to execute a Public Works Contract with R.L. Alia Company for the Electron Way 

and Contra Costa Avenue Crosswalk Project.   

 

PROPOSAL: The City Council is being asked to authorize the City Manager to execute a Public 

Works Contract with R.L. Alia Company for the Electron Way and Contra Costa Avenue 

Crosswalk Project.  This project is intended to improve pedestrian safety at the intersection by 

installing American Disabilities Act (ADA) compliant curb ramps at all four corners, a 

Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon on both sides of the road to alert drivers of a crossing 

pedestrian, and bulb-outs on the northeast and southeast corners to narrow the traveled lanes, 

increase driver awareness, and slow down traffic. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: R.L. Alia Company was the lowest responsive bidder at $139,600, which was 

under the construction estimate of $183,865.  The construction and design of this project are 

funded by two sources:  a $148,410 legislative allocation via the Department of Commerce and a 

$65,847 grant from the Transportation Improvement Board (TIB).  The project bid tabs are 

attached for reference. 

 

ADVANTAGES: The construction of this crosswalk project will improve pedestrian safety at a 

key intersection connecting several Fircrest parks. 
 

DISADVANTAGES: None.   
 

ALTERNATIVES:  None.  

 

BACKGROUND: During preliminary design, it was determined that focusing on half of the 

Southwest and Northeast corners, along with the entire Southeast corner, would allow the project 

to be within budget limits.  Additional funding was secured from TIB to complete the ADA 

requirements for the entire intersection. 
 

Improving pedestrian safety is a top priority for the Council.  This project enhances pedestrian 

safety at a highly frequented intersection and ensures safe connectivity between the Community 

Center and the Tot Lot.  It also marks the City’s first use of external funding to improve safety at 

this location, demonstrating a proactive approach to utilizing available resources to enhance public 

safety. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 

   Public Works Contract 

   Exhibit A – Plans  

   Project Bids Tabulation 

158



 

Page 1 of 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

CITY OF FIRCREST 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

MANAGER TO EXECUTE A PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACT WITH 

R. L. ALIA COMPANY FOR THE ELECTRON WAY AND 

CONTRA COSTA AVENUE CROSSWALK PROJECT. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest identified a need for improved pedestrian safety at 

the intersection of Electron Way and Contra Costa Avenue; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest was awarded funds from both a legislative 

appropriation administered by the Department of Commerce and a Transportation 

Improvement Board grant; and 

 

WHEREAS, the R. L. Alia Company was the lowest responsive bidder in the 

competitive Request for Proposals process; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fircrest desires to contract with R. L. Alia Company for the 

construction of the Electron Way and Contra Costa Avenue Crosswalk Project in the 

amount of $139,600. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FIRCREST: 

 

Section 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute a Public 

Works Contract with R. L. Alia Company for the construction of the Electron Way and 

Contra Costa Avenue Crosswalk Project.  

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

FIRCREST, WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of 

November 2024.   
 

APPROVED: 

 

_____________________________                 

                                                                     Shannon Reynolds, Mayor  
 

ATTEST: 
 

_____________________________  

Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

_____________________________  

Robert Zeinemann, City Attorney 

159



 

CITY OF FIRCREST  

PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACT 

THIS CONTRACT, hereinafter referred to as the “Contract,” is entered into this 12th day of November 2024 

by and between the City of Fircrest, a political subdivision of the State of Washington and hereinafter 

referred to as the “City,” and R.L. Alia Company, hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor,” collectively 

“Parties.” 
 

In consideration of the terms and conditions contained herein, and attached and made a part of this 

agreement, the Parties hereto covenant and agree as follows: 

1. PROJECT DESIGNATION/SCOPE OF SERVICES.  The Contractor shall do all work and furnish all tools, 
materials, and equipment for the Electron Way and Contra Costa Avenue Crosswalk Project 
(“Project”) in accordance with and as described in the attached plans and specifications in Exhibit A 
and the 2022 edition of the WSDOT Standard Specifications for Road, Bridge, and Municipal 
Construction (except where noted otherwise) which are by this reference incorporated herein and 
made a part hereof and shall perform any alterations in or additions to the work provided under this 
Contract and every part thereof. 

The Contractor shall provide and bear the expense of all equipment, work, materials, and labor of any 
sort whatsoever that may be required for the transfer of materials and for constructing and 
completing the work provided for in this contract and every part thereof, except such as are 
mentioned in the specifications to be furnished by the City. 

The City hereby promises and agrees with the Contractor to employ, and does employ the Contractor 
to provide the materials and to do and cause to be done the above-described work and to complete 
and finish the same according to the attached plans and specifications and the terms and conditions 
herein contained; and hereby contracts to pay for the same according to the attached specifications 
and the schedule of unit or itemized prices hereto attached, at the time and in the manner and upon 
the conditions provided for in this contract. 

2. TIME OF COMPLETION/RENEWAL.  The Parties agree that time is of the essence.  The Contractor 
agrees that the Work described in this Contract shall be completed within 20 working days from 
issuance of Notice to Proceed. 

If the Work specified herein is not completed within the time specified, the Contractor agrees to pay 
the City, as liquidated damages, Five Hundred dollars ($500) per day.  Changes in the scope of work 
ordered by the City, labor disputes, major natural disasters, unusual delays in transportation, 
unavoidable casualties, City permitting delays, or any cause beyond the Contractor’s control that the 
City may determine justifies the delay may be reasonable cause for the extension of the contract time 
by Change Order. 

This Contract will not automatically renew.  If a Party wishes to extend the time of completion, the 
Party must notify the other Party in writing at least 30 calendar days prior to the expiration of this 
Contract.  All extensions must be mutually agreed to in writing. 

3. PAYMENT.  Upon receipt of an invoice from the Contractor, the City may make monthly progress 
payments for work completed. Each invoice shall itemize by site and date the work performed and 
include the “Affidavit of Wages Paid” that was filed with the State of Washington Department of Labor 
and Industries. The total cost for the Electron Way and Contra Costa Avenue Crosswalk Project shall 
not exceed $139,600.00. Labor and services on public street projects are exempt from sales tax. 

160

https://wsdot.wa.gov/publications/manuals/fulltext/M41-10/SS2022.pdf
https://wsdot.wa.gov/publications/manuals/fulltext/M41-10/SS2022.pdf


 

4. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not sublet or assign any of the work covered by this Contract 
without the express written consent of the City. 

5. COMPLIANCE WITH CITY POLICY. The Contractor shall comply with approved City policies concerning 
the administration of City-owned property, and the provisions of the policy shall have the same force 
and effect as the provisions of this Contract to the extent not inconsistent herewith. 

6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. The Contractor agrees that all persons employed in it and by any of its 
subcontractors in work done pursuant to this Contract shall be in accordance with all Federal, State, 
and local laws. Per Fircrest Municipal Code 5.04.020, the Contractor must possess a City of Fircrest 
business license prior to performing any work pursuant to this Contract.  

7. CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 
The Contractor hereby represents that it has all necessary licenses and certifications to perform the 
services provided for herein and is qualified to perform such services. 

8. DEBARMENT. The Contractor must certify that it and its subcontractors have not been and are not 
currently on the Federal or Washington State Debarment List.  If the Contractor or its subcontractors 
become listed on the Federal or State Debarment List, the City must be notified immediately. 

9. EXTRA WORK AND CHANGE ORDERS.  Work in addition to, or different from, that provided for in the 
Scope of Work shall only be allowed by prior authorization in writing and signed by the City Manager 
as a modification to this Contract. Such change order or modification shall be attached hereto and 
made a part hereof. 

10. HAZARDOUS CONDITIONS. The Contractor shall maintain all work sites free of hazards to persons 
and/or property resulting from its operation. 

11. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS.  To the fullest extent allowed by law, the Contractor must 
defend, indemnify, and hold the City, its employees, officials, directors, officers, agents, and 
volunteers harmless from and against any and all claims, injuries, damages, liabilities, liens, losses or 
lawsuits, including all legal costs and attorney fees, for any or all injuries to persons or damage to 
property arising out of or resulting from the acts, errors, or omissions of the Contractor, its officers, 
employees, agents or subcontractors, in connection with Contractor’s performance of this Contract, 
except for injuries and damages caused by the sole negligence of the City. 

The City’s inspection or acceptance of any of the Contractor’s work when completed is not grounds 
to avoid any of these covenants of indemnification. 

The Contractor and City agree that for any concurrent negligence between the Contractor and City, 
as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, the Contractor is only liable to the extent of the 
Contractor's negligence. If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the Contractor’s work is 
covered under RCW 4.24.115, the Contractor’s obligation to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless is 
only to the extent of the Contractor's negligence. 

The Contractor specifically assumes potential liability for actions brought by the Contractor’s own 
employees against the City and, solely for the purpose of this indemnification and defense, waives 
any immunity under the state industrial insurance law, Title 51 RCW.  The Contractor recognizes that 
this waiver was the subject of mutual negotiation.   

This indemnification and provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 

161

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Fircrest/#!/Fircrest05/Fircrest0504.html
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ofccp/debarred-list
https://secure.lni.wa.gov/debarandstrike/ContractorDebarList.aspx
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=4.24.115
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/dispo.aspx?cite=51


 

12. INSURANCE.  The Contractor will obtain and maintain, for the duration of this Contract, insurance 
against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property that may arise from or in connection with 
the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, or employees.  
The Contractor’s maintenance of insurance as required by this Contract shall not be construed to limit 
the Contractor’s liability to the coverage provided by such insurance or otherwise limit the City’s 
recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity.  The Contractor shall maintain at least the 
following minimum insurance coverage covering all activity under this Contract, and as to which the 
City shall be named as primary non-contributory additional insured on the liability insurance: 

a. Workers’ Compensation Coverage  Statutory 

b. Commercial General Liability   $1,000,000/$2,000,000 aggregate 

c. Comprehensive Automobile Liability  $1,000,000 per accident 

d. $100,000 Employee Fidelity coverage that extends to the City and City employee property. 
 

A Certificate of Insurance showing the foregoing must be submitted to the City for approval before 
work commences. 

The Contractor must include all subcontractors as insured under its policies or furnish separate 
certifications and endorsements for each subcontractor.  All coverage for subcontractors is subject to 
the same insurance requirements as the Contractor. 

The minimum limits above do not limit the Contractor’s liability to the City or the public. 

13. INTEGRATED AGREEMENT. This Contract, together with attachments or addenda, represents the 
entire and integrated Contract between the parties. This Contract may be amended only by written 
instrument signed by both the City and the Contractor. 

14. NON-DISCRIMINATION.  The Contractor shall not discriminate against any person, customer, 
employee, applicant for employment, subcontractor, supplier, materialman, firm, partnership, or 
organization because of race, religion, creed, color, national origin or ancestry, sex, gender identity, 
sexual orientation, age, marital status, familial status, veteran or military status, or the presence of 
any sensory, mental, or physical disability, except for a bona fide occupational qualification. Any 
person, firm, partnership, or organization contracting with, or doing business with, the City shall be in 
conformity with the City’s policy on non-discrimination.  The Contractor understands that if it violates 
this provision, this Contract may be terminated by the City and that the Contractor may be barred 
from performing any service for the City now or in the future. 

15. NON-WAIVER.  A waiver by the City of any provision of this Contract or any time limitation provided 
for in this Contract shall not constitute a waiver of any other provisions. 

 
16. PERFORMANCE.  The Contractor for itself, and for its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and 

assigns, does hereby agree to the full performance of all the covenants herein upon the part of the 
Contractor. The City reserves the right to withhold a part or all the monthly payments if, in the 
judgment of the City, the Contractor has not performed or has unsatisfactorily performed any of the 
work set forth in this Contract, provided that the City shall promptly notify the Contractor in writing 
of the specific items of non-performance or unsatisfactory performance. Any such payments withheld 
shall reasonably relate to the estimated value of the work not performed. 

17. PREVAILING WAGES. The Contractor agrees that all laborers, workers, or mechanics employed by it 
or by any subcontractor in the work of this Contract will be paid not less than the prevailing rate of 
wage for an hour’s work in accordance with the provisions of the Revised Code of Washington, 
Chapter 39.12, and all rules and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.  Prior to making any 
payment under this Contract, the Contractor must submit to the City an approved copy of the 

162

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/dispo.aspx?Cite=39.12


 

“Statement of Intent to Pay Prevailing Wages” from the Department of Labor and Industries.  It is the 
Contractor's responsibility to obtain and file the Statement and pay all filing fees. 

Current prevailing wage rates may be obtained from the Washington State Department of Labor and 
Industries website:  https://fortress.wa.gov/lni/wagelookup/prvWagelookup.aspx.   Based on the bid 
submittal deadline for this project, the applicable effective date for prevailing wages for this project 
located in Pierce County is November 12, 2024. 

Notice from the Contractor and all subcontractors of intent to pay prevailing wages and prevailing 
wage rates for the Project must be posted for the benefit of the workers.  Each invoice must include 
a signed statement that prevailing wages have been paid by the Contractor and all subcontractors.  
Following the final acceptance of services rendered, the Contractor must submit a “Minimum Wage 
Affidavit” for themselves and any subcontractors.  Final payment on the Contract will be withheld 
until the City receives certification from the Department of Labor and Industries that prevailing wage 
requirements have been satisfied. 

If any dispute arises as to what the prevailing rates of wages for work of similar nature are and such 
dispute cannot be adjusted by the parties involved, the matter shall be referred to the Director of the 
Washington State Department of Labor and Industries for arbitration, and the Director's decision 
therein shall be final and conclusive and binding on all parties involved in the dispute. 

18. RECORDS. The Contractor acknowledges that all records created or used by the Contractor in the 
performance of this Contract may be subject to the Public Records Act, RCW 42.46; therefore, the 
Contractor should not destroy any record without first notifying the City’s Records Officer (City Clerk).  
“Record” includes but is not limited to all written and electronic documents, photographs, drawings, 
and maps.  

19. SAFETY REQUIREMENT. All work performed under the terms of this Contract shall be performed in a 
manner that provides maximum safety to the public and city employees. 

20. SEVERABILITY. Each provision of this Contract is intended to be severable.  If any provision hereof is 
illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the validity of 
the remainder of this Contract, which remains in full force and effect. 

21. STATUS OF CONTRACTOR. Neither the Contractor nor personnel employed by the Contractor shall 
acquire any rights or status in City employment, nor shall they be deemed employees or agents of the 
City for any purpose. The Contractor is required to employ a qualified supervisor who is acceptable to 
the City. The Contractor shall be deemed an independent contractor and responsible in full for 
payment of its employees, including prevailing wages, worker’s compensation, insurance, payroll 
deductions, and all related costs. 
 

22. TAXES. The Contractor shall comply with federal, state, and local tax laws, Social Security Acts, 
Unemployment Compensation Acts, and Workers Compensation Acts in so far as they apply to the 
performance of this Contract. 

23. TERMINATION. If the Contractor violates any of the covenants undertaken herein or any of the duties 
imposed upon it by this Contract, the City may immediately terminate this Contract with cause. 
Alternatively, either Party may terminate this Contract without cause upon thirty (30) days written 
notice served to the other Party by certified mail. The Contractor shall be compensated for all work 
performed to the date of termination. 
 
 

163

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=42.56


 

24. VENUE STIPULATION. This Contract shall be considered to have been made and delivered within the 
State of Washington, both as to interpretation and performance. Any action in law or equity or judicial 
proceeding for the enforcement of this Contract or any of the provisions contained therein shall be 
instituted and maintained only in Pierce County Superior Court, Tacoma, Washington. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have accepted and executed this Contract, as of the Effective 

Date stated above, which shall be the Effective Date for bonding purposes as applicable.  The undersigned 

Contractor representative, by signature below, represents and warrants they are duly authorized to 

execute this legally binding Agreement for and on behalf of the Contractor and further represents and 

warrants that the Contractor is not suspended, debarred, or otherwise disqualified under federal, state, 

or local law from participating in this Contract. 

 
 
CITY OF FIRCREST     R.L. Alia Company 

 

 

By: ________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

Dawn Masko, City Manager    

Printed Name: _______________________    

      

        Title: _______________________________  

 
 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    ATTEST: 

 

By: ________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

       City Attorney            Arlette Burkhart, City Clerk 

 

 

164



OLYMPIA

THURSTON CO

LEWIS CO

PIERCE CO

SEATTLE

BELLEVUE KING CO

SNOHOMISH CO

JEFFERSON CO

KITSAP CO

MASON
CO

CO

SOUTH
PRAIRIE

TACOMA

LAKEWOOD

PROJECT
LOCATION

PROJECT
SITE

LOCATION MAP   VICINITY MAP   
BEFORE YOU DIG

811

CALL 2 DAYS

DRAWING INDEX
SHEETTITLE DESCRIPTION

CITY OFFICIALS

THE CITY OF FIRCREST

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200COVER.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

RBD

HH

09/2024

09/2024

TEW 09/2024
19FIR010200 10

COVER SHEET

EXHIBIT A

165



CONTRA
COSTA AVE

EL
EC

TR
ON

 W
AY

NOTES

HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL DATUM

LEGEND                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

ELECTRON WAY - ALIGNMENT DATA

PROPOSED LEGEND                                                     
SHEET INDEX

RBD

HH

09/2024

09/2024

TEW 09/2024

LEGEND, ABBREVIATIONS,
ALIGNMENT & SURVEY CONTROL

29FIR010200 10

ABBREVIATIONS                                                                                                 

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200INDX01.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

166



RESTORATION TABLE

RRFB BOLT CIRCLE
TEMPLATE DETAIL

ASIDEWALK & PAVEMENT PATCH SECTION   

1CURB AND SIDEWALK TRANSITION DETAIL   

2SOLAR POWERED RRFB DETAIL   

MATERIAL CODE

WITH CONCRETE PLANTER

3VARIED WIDTH DEPRESSED CURB DETAIL

RBD

HH

09/2024

09/2024

TEW 09/2024

TYPICAL SECTIONS AND DETAILS

39FIR010200 10

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200SEC-DET.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

167



 GENERAL NOTES

 CONSTRUCTION NOTES

 CHANNELIZATION NOTES

LEGEND                                        

ELECTRON W
AY

CONTRA COSTA AVE

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200SP.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

RBD

HH

09/2024

09/2024

TEW 09/2024

SITE PREPARATION PLAN

49FIR010200 10168



EL
EC

TR
ON

 W
AY

CONTRA COSTA AVE
CONTRA COSTA AVE

CURVE TABLECURVE TABLE

 GENERAL NOTES

 CONSTRUCTION NOTES

 CHANNELIZATION NOTES

LEGEND                                                                           

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200CURBRAMP PLAN.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

RBD

HH

09/2024

09/2024

TEW 09/2024

CURB RAMP PLAN
WEST CURB RAMPS

59FIR010200 10169



CONTRA COSTA AVE

EL
EC

TR
ON

 W
AY

CONTRA COSTA AVE

 GENERAL NOTES

 CONSTRUCTION NOTES

 CHANNELIZATION NOTES

LEGEND                                                                           

CURVE TABLE
CURVE TABLE

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200CURBRAMP PLAN.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

RBD

HH

09/2024

09/2024

TEW 09/2024

CURB RAMP PLAN
EAST CURB RAMPS

69FIR010200 10

POLE SCHEDULE

170



 GENERAL NOTES

EL
EC

TR
ON

 W
AY

CONTRA COSTA AVE

FLOWLINE POINTSNW CR FLOWLINE POINTS

SIDEWALK POINTSNW CR SIDEWALK POINTS
SIDEWALK POINTSSW CR SIDEWALK POINTS

FLOWLINE POINTSSW CR FLOWLINE POINTS

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200CURBRAMP_GRADING.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

RBD

HH

09/2024

09/2024

TEW 09/2024

CURB RAMP PLAN
WEST CURB RAMPS GRADING

79FIR010200 10

LEGEND                                                             

NW CR FLOWLINE PROFILE

SW CR FLOWLINE PROFILE

MAXIMUM EXTENTS FEASIBLE NOTES

171



EL
EC

TR
ON

 W
AY

CONTRA COSTA AVE  GENERAL NOTES

SIDEWALK POINTSNE CR SIDEWALK POINTSSIDEWALK POINTSSE CR SIDEWALK POINTS

FLOWLINE POINTSNE CR FLOWLINE POINTS

FLOWLINE POINTSSE CR FLOWLINE POINTS

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200CURBRAMP_GRADING.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

RBD

HH

09/2024

09/2024

TEW 09/2024

CURB RAMP PLAN
EAST CURB RAMPS GRADING

89FIR010200 10

LEGEND                                                             

NE CR FLOWLINE PROFILE

SE CR FLOWLINE PROFILE

172



TEW 09/2024

WSDOT
STANDARD PLANS

99FIR010200 10

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200WSDOT-DET.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

173



TEW 09/2024

WSDOT
STANDARD PLANS

109FIR010200 10

DATENO. BY APPR.

DESIGNED BY             

CHECKED BY

ENGINEERING MANAGER

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT ENGINEER

REVISIONS

DRAWN BY

DATE

FILENAME 
9FIR010200WSDOT-DET.dwg

SHT                   OFKPG PROJ. No. 

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

DATE

Approved By

BID
DOCUMENT

KPG.comSeattle Wenatchee

Tacoma
2502 Jefferson Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98402   253.627.0720 THE CITY OF FIRCREST

CITY OF FIRCREST
ELECTRON WAY AND CONTRA COSTRA AVE

INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS

9-
30
-2
02
4

REGIST ERED

N
OT

GNIHSAWFO

ET
AT

S

ER

NE

PR
FO

ENNALIO
E

S IGS

RA
ND

ALL   BRIAN    DEJARLAIS

24009364

174



Bidder Name Bid Amount
Calli Denney Construction 170,400$    
CCT Construction Inc 186,160             
FTS Excavation 170,400             
Miles Resources, LLC 191,239             
NPM Construction 170,400             
NW Cascade Inc 201,341             
Puget Paving & Construction 170,400             
R L Alia Company 139,600             Low Bidder
Sound Pacific Construction Inc 233,700             
Transportation Systems 201,230             

Engineer's Estimate 183,865$          
Average Bid Amount 184,981$    

CITY OF FIRCREST
Electron Way and Contra Costa Ave Intersection Improvement 

Construction Cost Estimate with Bidder's Tabulations 
Bidder's Tabulations

October 15, 2024

175


	1. 111224 Agenda
	4A. Proclamation - Arbor Day 2024
	10A. 10-28-24 PR Report
	10A. 11-12-24 AP Report
	10B. 101424 Sp M
	10B. 102124 Sp M
	11A. AS - Public Hearing - 2025 Expenditures
	11A1. 2025 Preliminary Budget Summary
	11A2. Budget Hearing Slides
	13A, AS - Sewer Emergency Repair
	13A1. Budget Sewer Purchase Order
	13A2. Budget Sewer Invoice
	13B. AS - 2025 Salary Ordinance - Judge & CD Examiner
	13B1. Salary Ordinance - 2025 - Judge & CS Examiner
	13C. AS - 2025 Property Tax Levy
	13C1. ORD - 2025 Ad Valorem Tax
	13C2. Levy Certification
	13C3. Property Tax Slides
	13D. AS - Whittier Park Master Plan Adoption
	13D1. RES - Whittier Park Master Plan
	13D2. Final Master Plan
	13D3 Final Master Plan Presentation
	13E. AS - Insurance Broker Contract
	13E1. RES - Insurance Broker Contract
	13E2. Leavitt Group - Broker Services Agreement
	13F. AS - Olbrechts Contract Amendment
	13F1. RES - Olbrechts Contract Amendment
	13F2. Olbrechts - Amendment No. 5
	13G. AS - Summit Law Group Contract Amendment
	13G1. RES Summit Law Contract Amendment
	13G2. Summit Law Amendment #18
	13G3. 2025 Rates - Labor (Public)
	13H. AS - Pierce County Sheriff Dept - ILA - amended
	13H1. RES - PCSD ILA
	13H2. FIRCREST - Specialized Law Enforcement Services
	13I. AS - Bulletproof Vest Partnership Grant
	13I2. RES - Bulletproof Vest Grant Award
	13I3. BVP Award Announcement
	13J. AS - Tacoma Radio System Agreement
	13J1. RES - Tacoma Radio System User Agreement
	13J2. Tacoma Public Safety Radio System User Agreement
	13J3. Attachment 2 - Radio Inventory 11-6-2024
	13J4. Attachment 3 – P25 TDMA coverage area
	13J5. CCN Notice 12-27-2023
	13J6. CCN Letter 6-25-2024
	13K. AS - KPG Contract Amendment
	13K1. RES - KPG Contract Amendment
	13K2. 2025 KPG Psomas Amendment #10
	13K3. NEG 2025 on-call Rates Fircrest  174 Updated
	13L. AS - NW GIS Consulting Contract Amendment
	13L1. RES - NW GIS Consulting Contract Amendment
	13L2. 2025 NW GIS Consulting  Amendment #9
	13M. AS - Water Meter Exchange Contract #2
	13M1. RES - Water Meter Exchange Contract #2
	13M2. Pape & Sons Water Meter Contract #2
	13M3. Pape AMI Meter Cost Estimate
	13N. AS - Electron-Contra Costa Contract Award
	13N1. RES - Electron-Contra Costa Contract
	13N2. Electron and Contra Costa Crosswalk Public Works Contract
	13N3. Exhibit A - Bid_Plans__Electron_way_and_Contra_Costa_Ave_Intersection
	13N4. Bidder's Tabulation Summary

	Agenda Home: 


